INSTITUT FÜR NUTZPFLANZENWISSENSCHAFTEN UND RESSOURCENSCHUTZ

Soil Erosion under Spatially Heterogeneous Field Conditions Experimental Analysis and Dynamic Modeling

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Grades

Doktor der Agrarwissenschaften

(Dr. agr.)

der

Landwirtschaftlichen Fakultät

der

Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

von

Ahsan Raza

aus

Faisalabad - Pakistan Bonn, 2023

Referent: Dr. Thomas Gaiser Korreferent: Prof. Dr. Wulf Amelung Fachnahes Mitglied: Prof. Dr. Thomas Döring Vorsitzende: Prof. Dr. Claudia Knief Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 01.06.2023

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Landwirtschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Bonn

Abstract

Soil erosion is a significant problem for most of the agroecosystems worldwide, as it is one of the primary causes of soil degradation caused by a loss of the topsoil layer and soil organic matter, which are essential for plant development. Soil erosion models, typically developed for large-scale, are used to estimate soil loss and its impact on crop production. Numerous experimental and modeling techniques have been developed using approaches ranging from analytical to empirical techniques to gain a better understanding of runoff and soil erosion processes and their potential outcomes (organic carbon and nitrogen losses, soil depth reduction, etc.). While the processes driving soil erosion are well understood, the distributed and small-scale nature of erosion processes makes it difficult to quantify the severity of the erosion problem at the field scale under spatially heterogeneous soil and terrain conditions. A thorough analysis of identifying and categorizing the main causes of soil erosion at the field scale based on observations with a high spatial resolution for quantitatively assessing the spatial and temporal variability of soil erosion patterns is of great importance. This thesis presents a systematic analysis of (i) the limitations and applicability of existing modeling approaches (ii) within-field variability of the effects of the interaction between soil characteristics, topography, rainfall intensity, and soil cover on soil erosion and surface runoff, carbon and nitrogen losses (iii) insights into the uncertainties involved in the simulation of subfield scale runoff and soil erosion processes due to the model structure and parameter estimation. Three specific studies were designed to increase understanding of these issues:

(1) Soil erosion models based on their representation of the soil erosion process were investigated. In total 51 different models were evaluated based on their representation of the processes of soil erosion by water. Secondly, their suitability for assessing soil erosion for more complex field designs, such as patch cropping, strip cropping and agroforestry (alley-cropping systems), and other land management practices were considered. The results showed that a particular shortcoming of most of the existing field scale models is their one-dimensional nature. Moreover, only a few models are suitable for dynamic soil erosion assessments at the field-scale. To date, there are no field-scale dynamic models available considering complex agricultural systems for the simulation of soil erosion.

(2) A field-scale study in Großmutz (Brandenburg), where an individual field with about 6 ha covers several landscape elements and is therefore characterized by a strong soil heterogeneity, was conducted to systematically analyze the influence of heterogeneous field conditions and

rainfall intensities along with their complex interactions on sediment losses and surface runoff. The interactive effects of these factors and their combinations were visualized from the analysis of signal-to-noise (S/N) responses. Results indicated that interactions between the selected factors and soil erosion processes exist and multiple linear regression models were developed to predict sediment yields, runoff, carbon, and nitrogen losses at the sub-field scale. Results revealed that (i) Rainfall intensity with 40.6% showed the highest contribution to sediment yield followed by Slope steepness (23.8%), Vegetation cover (17.74%), Silt and organic matter content (14.77%), and Depth to loamy layer (3.17%), indicating a strong rainfall intensity and erosion relationship; (ii) the combination of levels of factors generating highest sediment yield was determined; (iii) A simple multiple linear regression model developed for predicting local sediment yield showed the highest agreement with field observations (R2=82.5%).

(3) Finally, the accuracy of soil erosion models with different model structures in the same field with heterogeneous soil and terrain conditions was tested. For this purpose, two widely used methods (Freebairn and Rose) to represent soil erosion and coupled them with a process-based crop model within the SIMPLACE framework. Spatiotemporal measurements of the soil and crop dynamics were taken in a heterogeneous field to calibrate and evaluate a range of model solutions. The accuracy of these model solutions coupling different modeling approaches was compared to a statistical model developed for the same field. The results indicated that the simulations of water erosion with the dynamic Freebairn and Rose approaches were influenced by the performance of the runoff and crop growth sub-models. However, a pronounced difference was found between modeled and measured soil erosion when these predictions were made with an uncalibrated runoff model. Hence, our results highlighted that large uncertainties in soil erosion modeling were associated with improper performance of the runoff model.

After an analysis and synthesis of the results of all three studies in this thesis, it was concluded that an improved understanding of complex interactions among multiple factors influencing the soil erosion process is an important area of research for future soil erosion studies as well as new model developments since this understanding of the connection between small-scale field conditions in the agricultural landscape is as important as understanding absolute sediment yield. Since plotbased studies for data collection and for implementing modeling techniques in complex agricultural landscapes are difficult and labor intensive, it is important to adequately design further plot-scale studies to maximize the usefulness of the collected data for upscaling modeling approaches to larger scales.

Zusammenfassung

Bodenerosion stellt für die meisten Agrarökosysteme weltweit ein erhebliches Problem dar, da sie eine der Hauptursachen für die Verschlechterung der Bodenqualität ist: Bodenerosion kann dazu führen, dass die oberste Bodenschicht und die organische Bodensubstanz, die für die Entwicklung der Pflanzen unerlässlich sind, abgetragen werden und verloren gehen. Bodenerosionsmodelle, die in der Regel für den großflächigen Einsatz entwickelt werden, dienen der Abschätzung des Bodenverlusts und seiner Auswirkungen auf die pflanzliche Erzeugung. Es wurden zahlreiche Versuchs- und Modellierungsmethoden entwickelt, die von analytischen bis hin zu empirischen Verfahren reichen, um ein besseres Verständnis der Abfluss- und Bodenerosionsprozesse und ihrer potenziellen Folgen (Verluste an organischem Kohlenstoff und Stickstoff, Verringerung der Bodentiefe usw.) zu erlangen. Die Prozesse, die zur Bodenerosion führen, sind zwar gut erforscht, jedoch können kleinräumige heterogene Boden- und Geländebedingungen die Quantifizierung des Ausmaßes des Erosionsproblems auf der Feldskala erschweren. Eine gründliche Analyse zur Identifizierung und Kategorisierung der Hauptursachen von Bodenerosion auf Feldskala, basierend auf der Grundlage von Beobachtungen mit hoher räumlichen Auflösung, ist, zur quantitativen Bewertung der räumlichen und zeitlichen Variabilität von Bodenerosionsmuster, von großer Bedeutung. Die vorliegende Arbeit enthält eine systematische Analyse (i) der Grenzen und der Anwendbarkeit bestehender Modellierungsansätze, (ii) der Variabilität von Auswirkungen und Wechselwirkung zwischen Bodeneigenschaften, Topographie, Niederschlagsintensität und Bodenbedeckung auf Bodenerosion und Oberflächenabfluss sowie Kohlenstoffund Stickstoffverluste innerhalb eines Feldes und (iii) der Unsicherheiten bei der Simulation von Abfluss- und Bodenerosionsprozessen auf Teilschlägen, die auf die Modellstruktur und die Parameterschätzung zurückzuführen sind. Drei spezifische Studien wurden durchgeführt, um das Verständnis für diese Fragen zu verbessern:

(1) Es wurden Bodenerosionsmodelle auf der Grundlage ihrer Darstellung des Bodenerosionsprozesses untersucht. Insgesamt wurden 51 verschiedene Modelle auf der Grundlage ihrer Darstellung der Prozesse der Bodenerosion durch Wasser bewertet. Zweitens wurde ihre Eignung für die Bewertung der Bodenerosion bei komplexeren Feldgestaltungen wie Patch-Cropping, Strip-Cropping und Agroforstwirtschaft (Alley-Cropping-Systeme) sowie bei anderen Landbewirtschaftungspraktiken untersucht. Die Ergebnisse zeigten, dass ein besonderes Manko der meisten bestehenden Modelle im Feldmaßstab ihre Eindimensionalität ist. Außerdem eignen sich nur wenige Modelle für die dynamische Bewertung der Bodenerosion auf der Feldskala. Bislang gibt es keine dynamischen Modelle im Feldmaßstab, die in der Lage wären Bodenerosion in komplexen Anbausystemen zu simulieren.

(2)Um den Einfluss heterogener Feldbedingungen und Niederschlagsintensitäten sowie deren komplexe Wechselwirkungen auf Sedimentverluste und Oberflächenabfluss systematisch zu analysieren, wurde eine Feldstudie in Großmutz (Brandenburg) durchgeführt. Dabei wurde ein einzelnes Feld mit etwa 6 ha ausgewählt, das mehrere Landschaftselemente umfasst und daher durch eine starke Bodenheterogenität gekennzeichnet ist. Die interaktiven Auswirkungen dieser Faktoren und ihrer Kombinationen wurden anhand einer signal-to-noise (S/N) Analyse ausgewertet. Die Ergebnisse zeigten, dass es Wechselwirkungen zwischen den ausgewählten Faktoren und den Bodenerosionsprozessen gibt. Auf dieser Basis wurden multiple lineare Regressionsmodelle entwickelt, um Sedimenterträge, Abfluss, Kohlenstoff- und Stickstoffverluste auf vorherzusagen. Die Ergebnisse der Teilschlagebene zeigten, dass (i) die Niederschlagsintensität mit 40,6 % den höchsten Beitrag zum Sedimentertrag leistete, gefolgt von der Hangneigung (23,8 %), der Vegetationsbedeckung (17,74 %), dem Gehalt an Schluff und organischer Substanz (14,77 %) und der Tiefe der lehmigen Schicht (3. 17%), was auf eine starke Beziehung zwischen Niederschlagsintensität und Erosion hinweist; (ii) die Kombination von Faktoren, die den höchsten Sedimentertrag erzeugen, wurde bestimmt; (iii) ein einfaches multiples lineares Regressionsmodell, das zur Vorhersage des lokalen Sedimentertrags entwickelt wurde, zeigte die höchste Übereinstimmung mit den Feldbeobachtungen (R2=82,5%).

(3) Schließlich wurde die Genauigkeit von Bodenerosionsmodellen mit unterschiedlichen Modellstrukturen auf dem oben beschriebenen Feld mit heterogenen Boden- und Geländebedingungen getestet. Zu diesem Zweck wurden zwei weit verbreitete Ansätze (Freebairn und Rose) zur Simulation der Bodenerosion verwendet und mit einem prozessbasierten Nutzpflanzenmodell im Rahmen von SIMPLACE gekoppelt. Räumliche und zeitliche Boden- und Pflanzendynamik wurden in einem heterogenen Feld gemessen, um eine Reihe von Modelllösungen zu kalibrieren und zu bewerten. Die Genauigkeit dieser Modelllösungen, die verschiedene Modellierungsansätze verbinden, wurde mit einem statistischen Modell verglichen, das für dasselbe Feld entwickelt wurde. Die Ergebnisse zeigten, dass die Simulationen der Wassererosion mit den dynamischen Ansätzen von Freebairn und Rose am stärksten von der Güte der Teilmodelle für Abfluss und Pflanzenwachstum beeinflusst wurden. Es wurde ein deutlicher Unterschied zwischen der modellierten und der gemessenen Bodenerosion festgestellt, wenn die Simulationen mit einem nicht kalibrierten Abflussmodell gemacht wurden. Unsere Ergebnisse machen deutlich, dass große Unsicherheiten bei der Modellierung der Bodenerosion mit einer unzureichenden Leistung des Abflussmodells verbunden sind.

Nach einer Analyse und Synthese der Ergebnisse aller drei Studien in dieser Arbeit kamen wir zu dem Schluss, dass ein verbessertes Verständnis der komplexen Wechselwirkungen zwischen mehreren Faktoren, die den Bodenerosionsprozess beeinflussen, ein wichtiger Forschungsbereich für künftige Bodenerosionsstudien sowie für die Entwicklung neuer Modelle ist, da dieses Verständnis der Zusammenhänge zwischen kleinräumigen Feldbedingungen in der Agrarlandschaft ebenso wichtig ist wie das Verständnis des absoluten Sedimentertrags. Da parzellenbasierte Studien zur Datenerhebung und zur Umsetzung von Modellierungstechniken in komplexen Agrarlandschaften schwierig und arbeitsintensiv sind, ist es wichtig, weitere parzellenbasierte Studien angemessen zu konzipieren, um den Nutzen der gesammelten Daten für das Upscaling von Modellierungsansätzen auf größere Maßstäbe zu maximieren.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	11				
1. Ger	neral introduction				
1.1.	State of the art in modeling soil erosion processes				
1.2.	General objective and research questions				
1.3.	Study setting				
1.4.	Structure of the thesis7				
1.5.	Dissemination				
Chapter	29				
1. Intr	oduction10				
2. Mat	erials and Methods				
3. Result	ts14				
3.1.	Principles of Erosion Modeling14				
3.2.	Soil Detachment and Sedimentation Assessment Model Approaches				
3.2.	1. Empirical Models				
3.2.	2. Conceptual Models				
3.2.	3. Physically based Models				
3.2.	4. Remote Sensing (RS) and GIS-based soil erosion modeling				
3.3.	Description of Selected Models with respect to Plot Scale Simulations				
3.3.	1. Erosion Potential Method, EPM				
3.3.	2. Tillage-Controlled Runoff Pattern model, TCRP				
3.3.	3. Soil Loss Estimation Model for Southern Africa, SLEMSA				
3.3.	4. Agricultural Production Simulation, APSIM				
3.3.	5. RillGrow				
3.3.	6. Erosion-Productivity Impact Calculator, EPIC				
3.3.	7. Chemicals, Runoff, and Erosion from Agricultural Management System, CREAMS				
3.3.	8. The Griffith University Erosion System Template, GUEST				
3.3. Tec	9. The Productivity, Erosion and Runoff, Functions to Evaluate Conservation hniques, PERFECT				
4. Discu	ssion				
4.1.	Selection criteria for soil erosion models				
4.2.	Capabilities and limitations of field scale models				

4.3.	Model comparison with respect to simulating soil erosion in complex cropping systems .
4.4.	Summary and Conclusions
5. A	A way forward
Chapter	3
1. Int	roduction
2. Met	hodology
2.1.	Study area
2.2.	Soil sampling
2.3.	Experimental design
2.4.	Plot selection
2.5.	Rainfall simulator
2.6.	Sample preparation
2.7.	Statistical analysis
3. Res	sults and discussion
3.1.	Sediment yield
3.2.	Surface runoff
3.3.	Carbon and Nitrogen concentration in sediment yield
3.4.	Optimal conditions for maximum sediment yield, surface runoff, Nitrogen, and Carbon
conte	nt
3.5.	Percentage contribution of the experimental factors to sediment yield, runoff, C and N
losses	
3.6.	Linear regression models
4. Co	nclusion71
Chapter	473
1. Int	roduction74
2. Ma	terial and methods
2.1.	Experimental site description
2.2.	General overview of the modeling structure
2.2	1. Description of the SIMPLACE model solution
2.2	2. Runoff
2.2	.3. Crop growth and LAI dynamics (Lintul5)
2.2	.4. Soil erosion model approaches
2.3. I	ocal statistical model

2.4. Sensitivity analysis
2.5. Model calibration and validation
2.5.1. Calibration procedure and setup
2.5.1.1. Runoff and erosion
2.5.1.2. Lintul5
2.5.2. Validation
3. Results and discussion
3.1. Sensitive parameters and input information for the erosion models
3.2. Calibration results
3.2.1. Runoff
3.2.2. Performance of the Erosion models
3.3. Validation
4. Conclusion
Chapter 5
1. General Discussion and Conclusions
1.1. Challenges in field scale erosion process modeling under heterogeneous field conditions
1.2. Challenges in field scale erosion process modeling under complex cropping systems 110
1.3. Challenges in measuring soil erosion considering the multiple drivers involved: Understanding the fine-scale spatio-temporal dynamics of soil erosion processes
1.4. An overview of the workflow of soil erosion modeling
1.5. Conclusion
Bibliography117
Appendix155
Acknowledgments

List of Figures

Fig. 2	2. 1: The literature study flow diagram
Fig. 3 C	8. 1: Location of the study area (left) and an aerial image of the research field (May 8th, 2020, Google Earth)
Fig. 3 e	3. 2: Study site with soil augering points (A) and the locations of the rainfall simulation experimental plots (B, Numbers 1 to 16)
Fig. 7 P fo so	3. 3: Schematic diagram of the workflow for the rainfall simulation experiment: (a) Preprocessing of soil samples and remote sensing data (b) Preparing within-field factor levels for the Taguchi design (c) Selecting the locations of experimental plots (d) collecting rediments and runoff (e) Filtering and weighing sediment samples, runoff and CN concentration in sediments
Fig. 3 n	8. 4: Mean temporal variations and standard error (SE) in sediment yield, runoff, carbon, and hitrogen in relation to heterogeneous field conditions
Fig. 3 (§	B. 5: Analysis of means (ANOM)) for A: Sediment yield (g m ⁻²), B: Runoff (mm), C: Carbon g m ⁻²), D: Nitrogen content (g m ⁻²). Mean values for each level of each factor (blue dots) and he overall mean of each factor (dashed green line) are shown
Fig. 3 n	8. 6: Distribution of residuals of the regression models for sediment yield, runoff, carbon, and hitrogen
Fig. 3	3. 7: Predicted versus observed sediment yield, runoff depth, carbon, and nitrogen losses70
Fig. 3	3. 8: Identification of potential soil erosion risk areas
Fig. 4 E (l	4. 1: Experimental site in Löwenberger Land, Brandenburg, Germany, (May 8th, 2020, Google Earth). The site topography was derived from the 2008 LiDAR imagery https://geobroker.geobasis-bb.de)
Fig. 4 (1 P C	4. 2: Weather in research site; (a) cumulative daily precipitation; (b) mean daily maximum red) and minimum (blue) temperature; (c) mean daily irradiation over the experimental period. This weather data was collected from the weather station network maintained by the Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD)
Fig. 4 (4 b th	A. 3: Simplified illustration of the model solutions developed for sediment yield in SIMPLACE A) Freebairn model (B) Rose model. Green circles represent model input data and parameters, plue boxes are the modules within the SIMPLACE modeling platform, and orange boxes are he state variables
Fig. 4 p	4. 4: Evolution of the Sobol sensitivity indices of the (a) Rose and (b) Freebairn model parameters from cover = 0% to cover = 100% . The upper subplot shows the extreme (colored

- Fig. 4. 10: 1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed sediment yield for Rose model; (a) calibration with calibrated Lintul5 & runoff models, (b) Calibrated with observed LAI and calibrated runoff, (c) Calibrated with calibrated runoff model only, (d) Calibrated with calibrated Lintul5 only, (e) Calibrated with uncalibrated Lintul5 and runoff models 100

- Fig. 4. 13: Freebairn model simulation for sediment prediction; (A) validation of sediment yield during the cropping season 2021-2022 of Rapeseed crop (B) 1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed sediment yield for the validation of the Freebairn erosion model combined with the outputs of calibrated or uncalibrated vegetation and runoff models; (a) Freebairn model combined with calibrated Lintul5 & runoff models, (b) Freebairn model combined with calibrated Lintul5 model only, (c) Freebairn model combined with calibrated

Fig.	4. 14: Rose model simulation for sediment prediction; (A) validation of sediment yield during
	the cropping season 2021-2022 of Rapeseed crop (Black points represent observations) (B)
	1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed sediment yield for the validation of the
	Rose erosion model combined with the outputs of calibrated or uncalibrated vegetation and
	runoff models; (a) Rose model combined with calibrated Lintul5 & runoff models, (b) Rose
	model combined with calibrated Lintul5 model only, (c) Rose model combined with calibrated
	runoff model only, (d) Rose model combined with uncalibrated Lintul5 and runoff models
Fig.	4. 15: Validation of local model for sediment prediction

Fig. 5. 1: Agroforestry system at research site	110
---	-----

List of Tables

Table 1. 1. List of scientific publications in journals that are under MDPI /SCI Web of Science List
Table 2. 1. Principles driving process representation in soil erosion models (modified after (Favis-Mortlock et al., 2001)
Table 2. 2. Spatial scale sizes for soil erosion modeling 15
Table 2. 3. Empirical soil erosion models 18
Table 2. 4. Conceptual soil erosion models 22
Table 2. 5. Physically based soil erosion models 26
Table 2. 6. Examples of applications of some selected field scale soil erosion models
Table 3. 1. Experimental factors and their levels 51
Table 3. 2. Taguchi fractional factorial design L16 (45) used in this study
Table 3. 3. Mean sediment yield observed under changing soil surface conditions (vegetation cover factor levels)
Table 3. 4. The S/N ratio of each experiment resulting from a different combination of factors and levels.
Table 3. 5. Mean S/N ratio response table for the investigated experimental factors
Table 3. 6. Percentage contribution of each factor (ρF %) for the different output parameters as estimated by ANOVA
Table 4. 1. Tests plots with factorial combinations for measuring soil erosion using a rainfall simulator 77
Table 4. 2. List of data collection activities for calibration and validation
Table 4. 3. Ranking of parameters 89
Table 4. 4. The ranges of values of the parameters used for calibration
Table 4. 5. Simulated sediment yield and runoff resulting from event rainfall simulations in 2020-2021 on 16 experimental rainfall simulator plots
Table 4. 6. Pearson's correlation coefficients (R) between soil properties variables for all rainfall simulation samples

Table 4. 7. Pearson's correlation coefficients (R) between soil properties as	nd cover for all rainfall
simulation samples	

Table 4. 8. Pearson's correlation coefficients (R) between output variables produced by different
erosion, runoff, and vegetation models for all rainfall simulation tests98

Chapter 1

General Introduction

1. General introduction

Sustainable agriculture production depends on the conventional and potential use of available soil and water resources (Lichtfouse et al., 2009). Soil erosion is one of the main causes where the soil is subjected to degradation as a result of detachment and displacement of topsoil particles. Soil erosion is a complex phenomenon as it is governed by various natural processes resulting in a decrease in soil fertility, reduction in rooting depth, and consequently reduced crop yield (Pimentel, 2006). Each year, soil erosion causes 75 billion tons of soil loss annually largely from agricultural land, and about 20 million hectares of land is already lost in this process (Pimentel et al., 1995). Agricultural practices account for 75% of global soil erosion, affecting 80% of the world's cultivated soils (Pimentel, 2006). Water erosion is responsible for the biggest share of soil loss in Central European agricultural ecosystems (Panagos et al., 2015). Studies in Lower Saxony, Germany show the highest annual loss on a single field was 53.07 t ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Steinhoff-Knopp and Burkhard, 2018).

Effective modeling of water erosion can provide important information about soil erosion patterns and trends and additionally allows scenario analysis concerning different climate conditions and field characteristics (Krysanova et al., 2007). However, estimating soil erosion is challenging as it involves many processes that vary within space and time (Driessen, 1986). These challenges in soil erosion modeling are due to the variability and complexity of natural and human intervention in the soil erosion process. Soil erosion in agriculture systems is a function of soil characteristics (soil texture, soil moisture, and infiltration), land use (crop type), topography (slope steepness), and climate (rainfall intensity). Adding to this the variant nature of these functions; within single field agriculture systems can have a vastly variant rate of soil erosion models should be able to involve multiple natural and field conditions with their complex interactions and integrated with dynamic crop growth and soil-water balance. Moreover, plot-based observations need to be combined with erosion models to ensure acceptable model performance and for validating model outcomes.

1.1. State of the art in modeling soil erosion processes

In an effort to simulate the impacts of soil erosion on agricultural land, soil erosion models have been developed to improve our understanding of how different natural processes and field management practices can influence the soil erosion process. Many different algorithms and relations have been proposed to define and predict soil erosion by water and associated sediment yield, but varying significantly in their objectives, time scale, and in their conceptual basis as well. These models are generally used to study soil loss in different environmental conditions (Alewell et al., 2019; Parsons et al., 2004; Renard et al., 1991) and have typically been developed for larger-scale applications, such as basin or watershed scales under specific field characteristics and climatic conditions (Li et al., 2020). At field or plot scale, some soil erosion models by water were also developed (Ahmadi et al., 2020; Dilla et al., 2020; Eisazadeh et al., 2018, 2012), but the use of such models in conditions of high in-field heterogeneity is challenging. These uncertainties mainly arise from complex processes that can strongly vary within single fields, particularly in undulated areas (Cerdan et al., 2010).

The ability of soil erosion models to consider dynamic interactions among vegetation cover, soil moisture conditions, field topography, and spatial heterogeneity of soil physical and hydrological properties makes them a strong tool to simulate dynamic soil erosion predictions and also to assess the impact of different field and environmental conditions on soil loss. The application of soil erosion models is very promising in understanding and quantitatively assessing the spatial and temporal variability of soil erosion patterns at a small scale when integrated with other dynamic agroecosystem models. There are especially two areas that require critical reflection in this respect.

Firstly, individual hydro-geomorphological processes and vegetation dynamics affect the soil erosion process differently depending on the scale (Aga et al., 2020; M. A. Nearing et al., 2011; Panagos et al., 2015) under specific field conditions. Thus, when applying soil erosion models under highly spatial heterogeneous field conditions, uncertainties about parameters values selection have to be handled properly in the calibration and validation of models to produce reliable dynamic results for small scale assessments of soil loss and runoff.

Secondly, the application of small-scale soil erosion models requires detailed information about soil, weather, crop, and field management data. Due to the high spatial and temporal variation of aforementioned parameters within the field, challenges arise in adequate input data of observing multiple factors and their complex interactions to apply the model at a small scale need to be addressed. It is difficult to describe soil erosion over spatial and temporal scales due to limitations in the field measurements for each part of the study area. In this regard, it is essential to develop experiment strategies under prevailing field and natural environmental conditions to consider the multiple factors and their complex interactions that can drive fine-scale spatial soil erosion processes.

Statistical models have been employed to investigate soil erosion by water at different temporal and spatial scales (Borrelli et al., 2021). Although easy to implement, these models generally present high predictive skills only for the boundary conditions for what these models were developed, being difficult to generalize or understand sub-processes of the system. On the other hand, the mechanistic models are aimed to provide process-based explanations of the soil erosion process caused by multiple factors and their interactions.

Over the last three decades, different empirical, physical, and conceptual models have been developed representing the soil erosion process by water and sediment transportation in overland flow. Their differences in the outputs and the uncertainties in model predictions have been the subject of several reviews. In the following years, an increasing number of research groups began to utilize different soil erosion models as dynamic assessment tools (Cabelguenne et al., 1995; Masere and Worth, 2015), especially (but not only) in the context of dynamic field conditions (White et al., 2011). Temporally dynamic erosion estimations have been conducted with some landscape models such as SWIM (Krysanova et al., 2005), IQQM (Simons et al., 1996), TOPMODEL (Beven et al., 1984), and LASCAM (Zammit et al., 2003). Such dynamic models tend to predict accurately sediment transport and deposition but their application is normally limited due to a lack of input information, a poor representation of vegetation dynamics as well as uncertainties related to the parameters involved. Most often, these models require detailed input data for calibration and outstanding computing systems, when applied at larger scales. Consequently, it's necessary to establish simulation protocols and to suggest techniques to consider temporally and spatially varying field conditions such as soil heterogeneity, crop cover dynamics, and rainfall event characteristics within a single field.

Despite the ability to investigate, and predict the dynamic nature of soil erosion processes, most of these models do not provide reliable erosion prediction over spatially and temporally highly

heterogeneous soil cover and soil physical properties at the field scale. Nevertheless, a few studies found in the literature where attempts were made to investigate the impact of multiple environmental and in-field factors to predict sediment yield and runoff, are investigated, including, in some cases, carbon and nitrogen losses under natural conditions (Cakula et al., 2012; Meena et al., 2020; Wei et al., 2007). Most of these studies consider only a few factors (i.e., rainfall, soil cover, or slope) (Guidry et al., 2006; Sepaskhah and Bazrafshan-Jahromi, 2006)to explain the erosion process. Studies investigating the uncertainties in field scale erosion model applications introduced by parameters (Brazier et al., 2020; Masere and Worth, 2015) have proven the effectiveness of dynamic soil erosion models when integrated into agroecosystem models (i.e., simulating soil-water dynamics and crop growth at high temporal and spatial resolution). The integrated model tends to simulate the dynamics of vegetation cover under specified field management schemes, runoff, and erosion processes such as APSIM or EPIC modeling frameworks.

In the present study, the terms spatial scale, resolution, and sediment yield will be consistently used. Accordingly, scale is used as a synonym for spatial extent and refers to the spatial dimension of the area where a phenomenon or a process occurs. The term resolution refers to the ratio between the area covered by observations and the total area considered by a study (extent). Finally, the sediment yield, during a specified period of time, represents the amount of sediment per unit area removed by flowing water.

1.2. General objective and research questions

The overarching goal of the current Ph.D. thesis is to methodically identify and address the uncertainties arising from the field scale application of soil erosion models under spatially heterogeneous field conditions. In response to the need for further understanding of the key components and uncertainties inherent to the dynamic modeling of soil erosion, this thesis aims to answer the following three questions.

Question 1 (Q1): What are the existing modeling approaches to assess soil erosion by water at the field scale with special emphasis on the heterogeneity of soils and crops?

Question 2 (Q2): What are the effects of field and environmental factors influencing water erosion at the plot scale?

Question 3 (Q3): What uncertainties are involved in the dynamic simulation of sub-field scale runoff and soil erosion processes due to the model structure?

Q1 mainly focuses on examining the different soil erosion modeling approaches for predicting soil losses. This includes reviewing their underlying concepts, data requirements, and sources of uncertainties involved. Q2 deals with identifying and categorizing the main causes of soil erosion at the field scale based on observations with a strategically designed experiment scheme, especially for quantitatively assessing the spatial and temporal variability of soil erosion patterns. Q3 provides insight into the capabilities of the integrated soil erosion model solution to simulate soil erosion under highly heterogeneous field conditions and to compare its performance with statistical models based on in-field observations.

1.3. Study setting

In order to answer Q1, a comprehensive review of soil erosion models was conducted. In this study, 51 models were selected based on their development criteria, model structure, model components, their application, simplicity of model calibration, and parameter specifications. Models were then categorized according to their capacity to explain the processes of soil erosion, data requirement, governing equations, spatial and temporal resolution, and application capabilities and limitations within heterogeneous field conditions.

The investigation of the impact of field and environment conditions on sediment yield and runoff dealing with Q2 was carried out on a spatially heterogeneous agricultural field site located in the Löwenberger (52° 56' 25.548" N, 13°7'57.648" E), Germany. The field which has been selected has a size of ~6.25ha and depicts a typical condition in the landscape of North East Germany. This region is intensively used as cropland and is characterized by soils formed from the glacial till of the last glacial period and later modified by fluvial and erosive processes, which created an enormous small-scale heterogeneity in the landscape. As the average field size is about 20 ha, the individual fields regularly cover several landscape elements, and, as a result, they are characterized by considerable soil heterogeneity. Thus, the advantage of the field is that it is representative of a large area and the results obtained can potentially be applied to the entire region. Based on the

results, the influence of field characteristics on sediment yield was used to develop a local statistical model to estimate runoff volume, sediment yield, and carbon and nitrogen losses in various locations in the field.

Finally, an attempt was made to integrate selected conceptual erosion models and a process-based crop growth model to be applied to a large number of locations on the same field in order to answer Q3. This was performed using the Scientific Impact assessment and modeling platform (SIMPLACE). SIMPLACE is a platform for advanced crop and ecosystem management using modular software architecture to simulate complex environmental processes. The integrated model simulates the dynamics of vegetation cover under specified field management schemes, runoff, and erosion processes.

1.4. Structure of the thesis

The thesis comprises 5 chapters. Chapter 1 is the general introduction, while chapters 2 to 4 deal with the three research questions in the order mentioned above. Chapter 2 comprises a review of soil erosion modeling techniques. In this chapter, based on their representation of the soil erosion process, 51 models were screened and classified according to their application challenges for simulating field-scale erosion processes and their consideration of more complex cropping systems like alley cropping, patch cropping, and strip cropping. The findings provided the path to select adequate models for dynamic simulation of sediment yield at the field scale for an area with high spatial in-field variability. In Chapter 3 the effects of the interaction between soil characteristics (soil organic matter (SOM), soil texture), topography (slope), rainfall intensity, and soil cover (field conditions) on soil erosion, surface runoff, carbon and nitrogen losses were investigated in the same field taking advantage of it high in-field variability. Different scenarios of rainfall events under different rainfall intensities were generated with a mobile rainfall simulator and combined with different levels of vegetation cover, slope inclination, and soil physical conditions. Based on the experimental results linear regression models were developed to predict sediment yield, runoff, carbon, and nitrogen losses. Additionally, in order to determine the regions of the field that are more susceptible to soil erosion, the regression equation for sediment yield was used to predict sediment yields within the field. Chapter 4 provides the workflow for integrating the selected soil erosion models into the SIMPLACE framework to estimate sediment yield under heterogeneous field conditions considering dynamic soil-water fluxes with run-off and crop growth models as

well as two different approaches to simulate sediment yield. Dynamic coupling of two soil erosion models was tested and simulated runoff and sediment yield were evaluated by comparing the estimations with observations at different temporal and spatial scales to assess the uncertainties due to model structure and data limitations. Moreover, the sensitivity of model calibration with respect to the soil physical and hydrological parameters has been analyzed to gain an insight into uncertainties resources due to model parameters. Finally, **Chapter 5** summarizes and discusses the main conclusions of this Ph.D. thesis. Research implications for future research and development attention are proposed and a set of recommendations are given related to the uncertainties in the application of soil erosion models at a small scale under heterogeneous field conditions.

1.5. Dissemination

Since this is a cumulative doctoral thesis, the central parts of the study (Chapters 2, 3, and 4) were submitted as scientific publications in peer-reviewed journals (MDPI/Science Citation Index (SCI) Web of Science List). Therefore, the international communities can have access to our research methods and results and apply the procedures developed in this thesis to future studies in similar regions. Details are listed in Table 1.1.

Table 1. 1. List of scientific publications in journals that are under MDPI/SCI Web of Science List

Chapter	SCI-Journal	Impact factor	Title
2	LAND	3.90	Modeling Approaches to Assess Soil Erosion by Water at the Field Scale with Special Emphasis on Heterogeneity of Soils and Crops
3	Science of the Total Environment	10.75	Using the Taguchi experimental design for assessing within-field variability of surface run- off and soil erosion risk
4	Environmental Modelling & Software	5.47	Comparison of predictive modeling approaches to estimate soil erosion under spatially heterogeneous field conditions (To be submitted)



Modeling approaches to assess soil erosion by water at the field scale with special emphasis on heterogeneity of soils and crops

This chapter has been published as:

Raza, A., Ahrends, H., Habib-Ur-Rahman, M., Gaiser, T., 2021. Modeling approaches to assess soil erosion by water at the field scale with special emphasis on heterogeneity of soils and crops. Land. https://doi.org/10.3390/land10040422

1. Introduction

Soil erosion is a significant problem worldwide for most of the agro-ecosystems (Boardman and Poesen, 2006) because it is one of the primary causes of soil degradation as a result of detachment and loss of topsoil layer and soil organic matter, which are essential for plant development. Quantification of soil loss related to soil and crop management, climate, and soil conditions has, therefore, become a serious concern for water and soil conservation practitioners, as well as decision-makers concerned with food security and agricultural policies (Phuong et al., 2017). Soil erosion is the process of detachment and transportation of soil particles involving various erosive agents from the earth's surface. Categorized into wind and water erosion, water erosion is a much more complex process and leads to substantial loss of soil and sedimentation (Liu et al., 2018). Water erosion is mainly affected by rainfall/runoff intensity, vegetation cover, soil erodibility, topography, and land use management practices (Ahamefule et al., 2018).

Due to the rapid advancement in data computing techniques in the last three decades, there is a substantial enhancement in the analysis of soil erosion through the development of computer models (Merritt et al., 2003). However, these models strongly differ in terms of data requirement, application scales, and complexity, along with uncertainties in the individual factors of the respective models (Swarnkar et al., 2018). Water erosion modeling is about 60 years old, but has become a key factor in our understanding of the complexity of erosion processes and for predicting future scenarios. Yet, most of the models are still inadequate due to multiple sources of uncertainty (Favis-Mortlock and Mullan, 2011; Parsons et al., 2004).

Many different algorithms and relations have been proposed to define and predict soil erosion by water and associated sediment yield, varying noticeably in their objectives, time scale at the plot level, and in their conceptual basis as well. The choice of the most suitable model is a logical process affected by many factors including land use, the characteristics of the catchment being considered, and the data available (Ranzi et al., 2002). Physically based models, for example, mainly depend on the principal approach of mass and energy conservation to simulate runoff and sedimentation. In addition, physically based models are based on the concept of physics using transfer of momentum as a governing equation (Doe et al., 1999).

Remote Sensing and GIS have huge potential for analysis and mapping of parameters influencing soil erosion and degraded lands in quantitative and qualitative manners. However, the use of GIS

for soil erosion modeling requires facilitations such as multiple data resources, data scaling, and increased complexity in data integration and algorithms. Climate, land use/land cover, topography, and slope data can be assessed using LIDAR or Satellite imageries and can be integrated with GIS for soil erosion, transport, and sedimentation modeling (El Jazouli et al., 2017; Haregeweyn and Yohannes, 2003; Patil et al., 2015; Renschler and Harbor, 2002).

There is an increasing interest in more complex field designs and crop diversification on the same field, e.g. alley cropping systems, as one of the most popular type of agroforestry, patch cropping, strip cropping, and uncultivated drylands, wherein rotational grazing livestock are moved to a part of the pasture, while the other portions rest, which can impact modeling outcomes. Consequently, a need for suitable soil erosion models that can handle and consider more complex field designs is raised.

The key objective of this study is, therefore, to categorize an extensive amount of available soil erosion models, review the underlying concepts, data requirements, and sources of uncertainty. We especially consider their suitability to simulate soil erosion at the sub-field scale and their application for more complex field designs. More specifically, we aim to

- Provide a review of a large number of existing soil erosion models with respect to (a) the challenges for simulating field-scale erosion processes and (b) consideration of more complex cropping systems like alley cropping, patch cropping, and strip cropping, and based on these findings,
- ii. Provide suggestions on a way forward for corresponding model improvements.

2. Materials and Methods

We performed a systematic model review with the reviewed soil erosion models being based on the outcome of a thorough literature screening, identification of suitable models, and model classification (Fig. 2.1). This review paper is structured in the following way. A brief explanation of soil erosion, transportation, and sedimentation principles is made in section 3.1. In this review, more than 60 models were reviewed and 51 models were retained in section 3.2. The shortlisted models are reviewed in terms of their objective, model structure, model components, as well as their application, ease of model calibration, and parameter requirements. Models are categorized in terms of their ability to explain the soil erosion processes, governing equations, their spatial and temporal resolution, their capabilities, and their limitations. These models have a wide range of applications from point scale to catchment scale. The focus of this review primarily considers models having abilities to simulate soil erosion process at the field scale and in complex cropping systems. The selected models are described in section 3.3. in which it is noted that many field scale models are implemented for catchment-scale soil erosion simulations. From a wider point of view, some of these models are described under their respective categories. In section 4, a discussion summarizes descriptions of models to sort out which model fits which conditions and problems identified and leads to clear guide-lines to select the appropriate model. This discussion is used to identify key points that would enhance the quality of the modeling output and the nature of additional components to enhance model capability in most environmental and management conditions. Section 5 provides a way forward on how to improve and extend existing models to simulate erosion processes at a small spatial scale in complex agriculture systems.



Fig. 2. 1: The literature study flow diagram

3. Results

3.1. Principles of Erosion Modeling

Sedimentological and hydrological processes involved in the modeling of soil erosion by water are explained mainly by two principles representing these processes (Table 2.1). Every erosion model can be considered as a unique permutation of these two principles (Favis-Mortlock et al., 2001).

Table 2. 1. Principle	es driving process	representation i	in soil erosion	models (m	odified after
(Favis-Mortlock et a	al., 2001)				

Principle	Summary
A model must represent all factors significantly	
contributing to the erosion process at the spatial,	What to represent
temporal, and locality levels for which the model is	
applied.	
A model may apply different weights to the	
individual processes or it may represent these	
processes directly, indirectly, or using a hybrid	How to represent
approach. (Favis-Mortlock et al., 2000).	

One of the critical aspects of the first principle (Table 2.1) is that every erosion model operates at different temporal and spatial scales (Kirkby et al., 1998a). Therefore, a plot-scale model must be able to represent a different combination of erosion processes as compared to those developed for the landscape (i.e., watershed or regional) scale (Table 2.2). Further, if simulating single events, the processes represented in the model may differ from those considered in models for long-term simulations or the weighting factors for each of the processes may be different. Similarly, erosion processes vary depending on the climatic conditions (i.e., humid, arid, etc.) and models developed for these specific regions must vary in terms of the number and type of erosion processes that are considered (Favis-Mortlock et al., 2000).

Category	Spatial Scale	Size
	Basin	>500 km ²
Large scale	Catchment	$50 - 500 \text{ km}^2$
	Watershed	1-50 km ²
<u> </u>	Field/hillslope	< 1km ²
Small scale	Plot	$0.6-23 \text{ m}^2$

Table 2. 2. Spatial scale sizes for soil erosion modeling

3.2. Soil Detachment and Sedimentation Assessment Model Approaches

A wide range of modeling approaches has been developed for simulating soil erosion and sedimentation over the last decades, differing in their representation of processes involved in soil erosion, the complexity of these processes, data requirements and output uncertainties, model calibration and use, and their temporal and spatial scale limitations. In general, the model selection depends on the intended application and characteristics of the landscape. Therefore, several factors must be considered before the model selection i.e., objective, data requirements, data availability, accuracy, validity, etc.

Each model has been designed for a specific spatial scale and purpose and thus is not appropriate and suitable for every application. Based on the complexity and the level of dynamic physical processes that are implemented, models can be categorized into three different groups, namely empirical, conceptual, and physically based models. Due to the increasing application of geospatial data, we further distinguish a fourth category: Remote Sensing and GIS-based modeling approaches. However, most of the models might be composed of different model categories. For example, the runoff-rainfall component of the USLE model (Monjezi et al., 2017) may be physically based but an empirical relationship has been developed for the estimation of soil erosion and sediment yield with little computational efforts. An example of so-called "hybrid models" is the Unit Stream Power-based Erosion Deposition and Automated Geospatial Watershed Assessment. The model structure is conceptual in nature considering the number of storages, while the configuration of these storages is determined through a statistical identification process for each catchment. The accuracy of these models is mainly dependent on the parameters selected and their primary implications. (Alewell et al., 2019) noted the primarily different nature of gross (modeled) vs net (measured) soil erosion.

3.2.1. Empirical Models

Empirical models are primarily based on observation data and the relationships be-tween different factors and soil erosion levels that were derived from these data sets. The computational and input data requirements for empirical models are lower than those required for conceptual or physically based models. Hence, empirical models are comparatively flexible, have a simple structure, are easily implemented, and useful in identifying the source of sedimentation generation as a first step. The most critical limitation of empirical models for soil erosion is their inadequate level of accuracy in analyzing large data sets which would require processing and analysis using special complex mathematical approaches (Eisazadeh et al., 2012).

Empirical models have proven to be robust since they are mathematically simple, but their application is limited to the extent of area for which they have been developed and calibrated for the fact that users will not get benefit from complex models if incomplete input data is available. They are often based on standard runoff plot schemes for uniform slopes (Parsons et al., 2004). At regional scales, with the identification of sediment settlement and delivery patterns, empirical models can be applied to predict average sedimentation, soil erosion rates, and surface runoff using the SCS curve number. If soil characteristics spatially do not vary and if spatially explicit meteorological data is not available, the application of robust empirical models can provide more reliable results as compared with more complex and dynamic models. However, empirical models work on the concept of stationarity, which makes them less powerful for predicting soil erosion for complex terrains characterized by heterogeneous soil characteristics and climatic conditions. Hence, empirical models do not provide information regarding sediment deposition and stream sedimentation generation, which restricts their application for simulating mass balances.

There are a few field-scale models such as EPM, TCRP, and SLEMSA which simulate soil detachment, transportation, and sedimentation using predominantly empirical approaches at field-scale (Table 2.3). The PSIAC model has the ability to estimate soil erosion and sedimentation at both field and catchment scales. These models are continuous simulation models that are useful for predicting the effects of field management practices and the effects of hydrological variations at daily time steps (Table 2.3). There are a few empirical models available to study the soil erosion processes under agroforestry systems such as WaNuLCAS, SCUAF, and HyPAR. Most of the

models contain process-based sub-models to simulate the crop growth based on their vegetative and generative stages under specific field conditions (Probert et al., 1998) including all soil processes that may affect agricultural systems, such as C, P, N dynamics, and soil erosion (Probert et al., 1998). Models such as USLE, MUSLE, RUSLE, and MOSES have long-term simulation capabilities at both hillslope and catchment scale. Models are distinguished on the basis of spatial and temporal scale as de-tailed in Table 2.3.

Table 2. 3. Empirical soil erosion models

Sr. No	Model	Description	Developer	Scale		Input		Governing	Model	Model	:	Overla Sediment	nd ation	Channel Sedimentation	Source
<u>.</u> 1	USLE	Universal Soil Loss Equation	(H.Wischmeier and Smith, 1949)	Temporal Annual	Spatial Catchment/ Hillslope	Demand High	Variables Climate data, topography, Land use/Land cover, field management practices, crop	Universal Soil Loss Equation	Erosion	Does not quantify the events that are likely to result in large-scale erosion	G* No	T* Yes	D*	Generation No	(Albaladej o Montoro and Stocking,
2	MUSLE	Modified Universal Soil Loss Equation	(J. R. Williams and H. D. Berndt, 1977)	Annual	Catchment/ Hillslope	High	Volume flow rate, peak flow rate, erosion control practices, crop management factor, Climate data, topography, Land use/Land cover, field management practices,	w Modified Universal Soil Loss Equation	Erosion, predictior of sediment yield, simulation of individual storm events	Calibration is complex, shows significant difference with measured sediment yield in many watersheds	No	Yes	No	No	(Chandra mohan et al., 2015)
3	RUSLE	Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation	(Renard et al., 1991)	Annual	Catchment/ Hillslope	High	Climate data, topography, Land use/Land cover, field management practices, crop management factor	d Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation	Erosion, process- based auxiliary components (e.g., time-variable soil erodibility, plant growth, residue management)	Slope length factor may not be suitable for more than 25°, does not estimate gully- or stream-channel erosion caused by raindrops	No	Yes	No	No	(Le Roux et al., 2008)
4	MOSES	Modular Soil Erosion System project	(Charles R. Meyer et al., 2001)	Annual	Catchment/ Hillslope	High	Climate data, topography, Land use/Land cover, field management practices crop management factor	d Enhanced Revised Univers Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE2), Wind Erosion Prediction System (WEPS) model	al Wind erosion, water erosion sediment yield, runoff	Does not consider gully erosion	No	Yes	No	No	(Charles R. Meyer et al., 2001)
5	SEDD	Sediment Delivery Distributed	(Ferro and Porto, 2000)	Annual	Basin, large catchment	High	DEM, a land use Map, climate, human influence	Universal Soil Loss Equation	Basin sediment yields	Model reliability decreases from the annual scale to the event scale	No	Yes	No	No	(Ferro and Porto, 2000)
6	EPM	Erosion Potential Method	(Dragičević et al., 2017)	Annual	Field	High	Climate data, topography, area of catchment, stream network soil erodibility coefficient	Analytical equation for spatial and temporal variation measurement	Retention coefficient Erosion intensity, sediment productio sediment transport	Performance subjected to the specific characteristics and orsedimentary regime of the study area	No	Yes	No	No	(Ahmadi et al., 2020)
7	TCRP	Tillage-Controlled Runoff Pattern model	(Takken et al., 2001)	Event/ Annual	Field	Low	DEM, a land use map, and the major tillage direction on each field	Incorporated with LISEM model, Generalized erosion-deposition mass balance, Dynamic Erosion concept eqn.	Runoff pattern, erosion patterns, runoff network	Local depressions that may exist in a DEM need to be removed making runoff pattern more complicated	No	No	No	No	(Takken et al., 2001)
8	TMDL	Total Maximum Daily Load	USA EPA (1991)	Annual	Catchment	High	Channel network, Groundwater exchange,	Modified Kilinc-Richardso equation for soil erosion, advection-	Multi- ^{on} dimensional, Provides amount of	Transport capacity must be converted into erosion	No	No	No	No	(Thaxton et al., 2004)

							Topography, unit discharg rate, soil cropping factor, conservation factor	ge dispersion equation for in- channel sediment transportation, general transport equation for overland sediment transport	sediment and nutrients rt	coefficient. , determining the interdependent factors is difficult.					
9	SLEMSA	Soil Loss Estimation Model for Southern Africa	(Elwell, 1978)	Annual	Field	High	Climate data, topography, vegetation, human influen	ELWELL equation Z = K *X* C Where K (Mean annual soil loss index, sce X (Topographic Factor), C (Crop cover/management factor)	Soil erosion, decision on land management techniques	High sensitivity to the input factors	No	Yes	No	No	(Albaladej o Montoro and Stocking, 1989)
10	PSIAC	Pacific Southwest Inter-agency Committee Method	(PSIAC, 1968)	Annual	Catchment/Field	High	Surface geology, soil types, Climate, slope, stream network, land cover/land use	Gravelius Equation, Hortor Equation, Kiripich Equation Drainage Density Equation upland erosion= 0.25SSF (SSF: soil surface factor), Channel erosion =1.67SSFg (SSFg: Gully erosion factor)	n, Upland n, Upland , erosion, Channel erosion, sediment deposition	Model sensitivity to changes of different factors under different conditions	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(De Vente et al., 2013)
11	E30	Soil Erosion at 30° slope	(Kiyoshi, 1993)	Annual	Watershed	Low	Land use/Land cover maps, topography	$E = E_{30} * (S/S_{30})^{0.9}$ E: rate of soil erosion; E30: rate of soil erosion at 30 ⁰ slope; S30: 30 slope	Soil Erosion 0	Model applies only to hilly regions having undulant topography and steep slopes. Does not take into account soil factors (crirtical for erosion processes)	No	Yes	No	No	(Kiyoshi, 1993)
12	WaNuLCAS	water, nutrient and light capture in agroforestry system	(Van Noordwijk and Lusiana, 1998)	Annual	Watershed /field	High	Land use/Land cover, Climate data	USLE	Soil erosion, crop yield	The erosion component is not well developed and integrated with crop yield	Yes	No	No	No	(Onsamrar n et al., 2020)
13	SCUAF	Soil Changes Under Agroforestry	(Magcale- macandog, 2002)	Annual/ Seasonal	Watershed /field	High	Crop, soil physical and chemical properties	USLE	Predict soil change under different agroforestry systems	Erosion component is not well tested	No	No	No	No	(Magcale- macandog, 2002)

G: Generation; T: Transportation; D: Deposition; Developer/year: references for model manuals and first research articles describing the respective model

3.2.2. Conceptual Models

Conceptual models are based on the sediment and runoff continuity equations, and basically take a position between physically based and empirical models (Beck, 1987). Unlike empirical models, conceptual models reflect the process governing the system behavior. The primary focus of conceptual models has been to estimate sediment yield based on the concept of unit hydrograph (Chmelová and Šarapatka, 2002). Therefore, they typically consider the most critical catchment characteristics and corresponding soil erosion processes, however, without describing the details of these processes and interactions that would require data on temporal and spatially distributed catchment details (Sorooshian, 1991). As a result, conceptual models can be used to simulate quantitative and qualitative impacts of land use changes on soil erosion and sediment yields without having to be parametrized with detailed catchment in-formation.

Jakeman et al. (Jakeman and Hornberger, 1993) noted that conceptual models tend to have issues related to the identifiability of their parameter values since those values were generally obtained during model calibration with observed values (Abbott et al., 1986). (Sorooshian, 1991) identified the direct relationship between conceptual model complexity and model identification. The calibration procedure for medium complex models can find only the local best fit although there may be many other local conditions with optimum parameter sets. This problem can be resolved by reducing the number of parameters that have to be estimated through calibration and increasing the number of parameters that can be estimated based on prior knowledge of the system (Kleissen, 1990). Such an approach will reduce the goodness of fit to the calibration data. The lack of parameter values for conceptual models means limiting the physical interpretability of parameters (Pechlivanidis et al., 2011). Though more complex models tend to offer a better fit to calibration data they also carry the risk of over-fitting when calibration data are limited (Onof and Wheater, 1993).

Most of the conceptual models use equations from empirical approaches (Table 2.4). The empirical models USLE and MUSLE, for example, are implemented in conceptual models such as APSIM (modeling framework), SWIM, RillGrow, SWRRB, and LASCAM for estimating soil erosion. These conceptual models can predict the temporal and spatial distribution of soil detachment and sedimentation at a field scale depending on crop and soil management at daily time steps. Among these models, APSIM and IQQM are continuous simulation models predicting both overland and
channel sediment generation, transportation and deposition, as well as rainfall-runoff associated nutrient loss and soil changes. A few models such as APSIM, AGNPS, and AGNPS-UM are event-based models to predict soil erosion under complex agriculture systems from smaller scales (hill-slopes) to large (catchment) scales (Table 2.4).

Table 2. 4. Conceptual soil erosion models

Sr. No.	Model	Description	Developer /year*	S	cale		Input	Governing Equations	Model Capabilities	Model Limitations	S	Overland edimentati	ion	Channel Sedimentation	Source
				Temporal	Spatial	Demand	Variables	-			G*	T *	D*	Generation	
1	APSIM	Agricultural Production Simulator	(McCown et al., 1996)	Daily	Field	High	Climate, topography, land use, crop, field management practices	Modified USLE, soil water balance equation	Erosion, *	Intensive calibration and validation required	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Basche et al., 2016)
2	RillGrow	RillGrow	(Favis- Mortlock, 1996)	Abstract	Plot	High	Meteorology, Digital Terrain Model	S-Curve stream power based equations	Formation and simulation of rill network	Depends on single storm events; Low potential for integration with GIS	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Favis- Mortlock, 1996)
3	SWAT	Soil and Water Assessment Tool	(Arnold et al., 1998)	Daily	Regional to watershed	Medium	Climate, soil characteristics, topography, land use / Land cover	MUSLE, Manning's equation, SCS Curve Number, Bagnold's stream power Concept, Continuity equation	Hydrological assessments, pollutant loss studies, water erosion, sediment yield	Weak in stream channel degradation and sediment deposition analysis, inadequate data availability for calibration and validation	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Aga et al., 2020)
4	SWIM	Soil and Water Integrated Model	(Krysanova et al., 1998)	Daily	Watershed	Medium	Climate, soil characteristics, land cover, crop types	water balance equation, MUSLE, SCS Curve Number,	Simulation of runoff, soil erosion, sedimentation *	relatively complex, no simulation of gully erosion	Yes	No	No	No	(Krysano va et al., 2007)
5	IQQM	Integrated Water Quality and Quantity Model	(Simons et al., 1996)	Daily	Watershed	Medium	Topography, river system configuration, evapotranspiration	conceptual Sacramento model, QUAL2E model	Rainfall-runoff generation, *	No erosion or sediment generation simulation	Yes	No	No	Yes	(Simons et al., 1996)
6	CAESAR	Cellular Automaton Evolutionary Slope and River model	(Murray and Paola, 1994)	Annual	Catchment	High	DEM, Rainfall, flow parameters, slope processes, bedrock depth, value of Manning coefficient	Einstein equation, Wilcock & Crowe equations	Erosion,sediment transport & deposition	No rainfall- runoff interactoin	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Coulthar d et al., 2000)
7	TOPMO DEL	Topography based hydrological MODEL)	(Kirkby, 1997, 1975)	Daily	Hillslope	Medium	DEM, landform features, soil characteristics, geology, vegetation, and hydrological characteristics	Sediment transport capacity, continuity equation	Soil moisture deficit, rainfall-runoff, Simulation of surface/subsurface hydrology; sediment yield and transport	Suitable only for shallow homogenous soil watersheds	Yes	No	No	No	(Beven et al., 1984)
8	WILSIM	Web-based Interactive Landform Simulation Model	(Luo et al., 2004)	Abstract	Watershed	High	DEM, Topography, Rainfall, flow parameters, slope	Cellular automata (CA) algorithm	simulation offers an ideal tool for understanding the complex effects of a variety of physical and geological processes and erosion	Many details of the physical process are not included in the model.	Yes	No	No	Yes	(Luo et al., 2006)

9	SWRRB	Simulator for Water Resources in Rural Basins	(Williams et al., 1985)	Daily	Catchment	High	Rainfall data, soil characteristics, Land use	MUSLE, Sediment balance equation	Simulation of Stream flow, Rainfall-runoff, Sedimentation and plant growth on daily time steps	Uncertainties in model parameter estimations, based on many assumptions leading to uncertainties	Yes	No	No	Yes	(Williams et al., 1985)
10	LASCA M	Large Scale Catchment Model	(Sivapalan et al., 1996)	Daily	Catchment	High	Sediment load, runoff, salt fluxes	USLE, Stream sediment capacity	Simulation of hydrology, erosion,	During calibration low quality of sediment and nutrient predictions	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Sivapala n et al., 2002)
11	AGNPS	Agricultural Non-Point Source pollution model	(Young et al., 1989)	Daily	Small- to medium-sized watersheds	High	Climate, topography, soil characteristics, Land use	SCS Curve Number, USLE, Foster equation	Soil erosion, sediment transport and depositing,	Does not simulate sub- surface flow, only suitable to small-medium catchments	Yes	No	No	Yes	(De Vente et al., 2013)
12	ACRU	Agricultural Catchment Research Unit	(Schulze, 1995)	Daily	Small catchments (<10 km ²)	Low	Climate, soil, land use crop	SCS equation, catchment curve number,	Simulate runoff, erosion and sediment yield, land use and climate impacts, seasonal crop yield	Require extensive GIS pre-processing	Yes	No	No	Yes	(Aduah et al., 2017)
13	STREAM	Sealing, Transfer, Runoff, Erosion, Agricultural Modification model	(King et al., 2005a)	Event	Catchment to watershed	High	rainfall, temperature, topography, soil (water holding capacity), land cover	USLE	Simulates land use impacts, erosion, sedimentation	applicable to single rainfall events	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(King et al., 2005b)
14	AGNPS- UM	Agricultural Non-Point Source pollution model,	(Grunwald et al., 1997)	Daily	Catchment to watershed	High	Climate, topography, soil characteristics, Land use	USLE-M	Management decisions on water and sediment yields	Rely on single storm event; data intensive	Yes	No	No	Yes	(Grunwal d et al., 1997)

*additional model capabilities besides soil erosion; G: Generation; T: Transportation; D: Deposition; Developer/year: references for model manuals and first research articles describing respective model

3.2.3. Physically based Models

In general, physically based soil erosion models are based on the fundamental concepts of physics using conservation of momentum, energy, and mass as governing equations (Kandel et al., 2004a; Mohamadi and Kavian, 2015) that are solved by various numerical techniques. Thus, these models consist of multiple equations and algorithms and a large number of parameters to simulate and predict the dynamics of soil erosion and sedimentation rates. They explicitly simulate the water fluxes, e.g., overland flow based on the kinematic wave theory (Lighthill and Whitham, 1955), and apply the kinematic wave theory based on continuity and momentum equations. The continuity equation refers to the balance between inflow into the system and change in system storage and the momentum equation represents the pressure gradient between energy gradient and surface slope. Other most famous approaches for simulating the water fluxes include the Manning's and Chézy's equations in large watersheds (Table 2.5).

In general, the equations of individual model components in physically based models are based on a large number of assumptions that may not be relevant in the real world. These governing equations were often developed under controlled conditions using continuous data observed at single observation points or small spatial scales (Beven and Kirkby, 1979). In practice, these equations are applied for grid cells representing much larger areas of water-sheds with varying physical conditions. Corresponding assumptions required for up-scaling point-based observations may compromise the physical significance of models (Seyfried and Wilcox, 1995). (Merritt et al., 2003) pointed out that there is not enough evidence on the suitability of these equations for modeling water erosion beyond a small field scale. (Pechlivanidis et al., 2011), therefore, suggested applying simplified computation techniques to represent individual processes which avoid unwanted deflection from real field scenarios and additional uncertainties. In practice, parameters used in physically based models should be calibrated with observed data that, on the other hand, creates a lack of identifiability analysis of optimum parameters and distinctiveness of best fit to the veracity of modeling outputs (Blöschl and Sivapalan, 1995). Model comparisons illustrate that the application of physically based models (e.g., AGNPS or PESERA) does not necessarily result in lower uncertainties compared to more simple structured empirical models such as USLE-type algorithms.

Physically based field-scale models such as EPIC, EGEM, CREAMS, EROSION 2D/3D, GUEST, GLEAMS, MEFDIS, MEDALUS, PERFECT, PEPP-HILLFLOW, etc., are more capable of responding to event-based or continuous storms to simulate surface run-off, soil detachment, transportation, and sediment yield (Table 2.5). The EPIC model con-siders the effect of several best management practices (BMPs) related to crop, soil, and nutrient management on soil erosion and soil productivity. CREAMS is another model that is used for describing the hydrology, erosion, and sediment size distribution as well as changes in soil depth, chemical, nutrient, and sediment yield for field-scale croplands. Productivity, Erosion and Runoff, Functions to Evaluate Conservation Techniques (PER-FECT) is a dynamic model suitable for event-based analysis of soil erosion and surface runoff over a small scale. This model can also be integrated with a GIS tool for visualization of results. The main disadvantage of this model is that it overestimates the outputs of surface runoff and surface water retention capacity as influenced by complex tillage patterns and tillage directions.

Table 2. 5. Physically based soil erosion models

Sr.	Model	Description	Developer	Sc	cale		Input	Governing Equations	ng Model ns Capabilities	Model	Se	Overland edimentati	on	Channel Sedimentation	Source
No.			/year*	Temporal	Spatial	Demand	Variables	Equations	Capabilities	Limitations	G*	T *	D*	Generation	
1	ANSWERS	Areal Nonpoint Source Watershed Environment Response Simulation	(Beasley et al., 1980)	Event	Regional to small catchment	High	Climate, soil characteristics, topography, land use, drainage network, field management practices	USLE, steady-state sediment continuity equation, Modified Yalin equation, Foster equation	Erosion, sediment yield, runoff, peak flow rate, nutrients,*	Relies on single storm Event, consider erodibility as time constant parameter	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Bouraoui and Dillaha, 1996)
2	EPIC	Erosion-Productivity Impact Calculator	(J. R. Williams et al., 1989)	Daily	Plots to field- sized areas	High	Hydrology, meteorology, erosion, nutrients, plant growth, soil temperature, and tillage.	curve number equation, Onstad- Foster equation, USLE, MULSE	Surface runoff, sediment yield, soil erosion *	Applicable to only field scale, less incorporation with GIS tools	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Pumijum nong and Arunrat, 2012)
3	ANSWERS- continuous	Areal Nonpoint Source watershed Environment Response Simulation- Continuous	(Bouraoui and Dillaha, 1996)	Event	Regional to small catchment	High	Climate, soil characteristics, topography, land use, drainage network, field management practices	USLE, Modified Yalin equation, Foster equation, Manning's equation	Erosion, sediment yield, *	No simulation of channel sediment	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Bouraoui and Dillaha, 1996)
4	EGEM	(Ephemeral Gully Erosion Model	(Watson et al., 1986)	Event	Field to small catchment	Medium	Rainfall, soil characteristics, Topography	Physical-process equations CREAMS empirical relationship	Annual estimation of Transient gully erosion	Requires intensive watershed information	Yes	No	No	Yes	(Woodwar d, 1999)
5	DWSM	Dynamic Watershed Simulation Model	(D. K. Borah, 1989)	Event	Catchment	High	Stream network, watershed hydrology, water quality, land use	continuity equation	Simulation of erosion, runoff, erosion, sediment yield *	Slow computing speed, uncertainties in input parameter data	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(D. K. Borah, 1989)
6	CREAMS	Chemicals, Runoff and Erosion from Agricultural Management Systems	(Knisel, 1982)	Monthly	Plot to Field	High	Climate, vegetation, cultural practices	Foster equation, MUSLE, SCS Curve Number, Yalin's equation	Erosion, sedimentation, runoff, from agricultural area	suitable only for field scale, low potential for GIS integration	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Williams et al., 1985)
7	EROSION- 2D/3D	EROSION	(Schmidt, 1991)	Event	Field / small catchment	High	Climate, soil characteristics, topography	Mass balance equation	Simulation of erosion	Requires extensive computational efforts	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	((Schmidt et al., 1999)
8	EUROSEM	European Soil Erosion Model	(R P C Morgan et al., 1998)	Event	Catchment	High	Climate, soil characteristics, land use, topography	Dynamic mass balance equation	Simulation of erosion, sediment yield, deposition and runoff	Lower accuracy for large catchments	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Khaleghp anah et al., 2016)
9	GUEST	Griffith University Erosion System Template	(Hairsine and Rose, 1991)	Steady State	Plot	High	Climate, watershed soil characteristics, runoff, topography	Mass balance equation, Deposition Equation, Rose equation	Simulation of runoff, sedimentation	Low potential for GIS integration, high data requirement	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(R.K. Misra and Rose, 1996)

10	IDEAL	Integrated Design and Evaluation of loading Models	(Singh and Frevert, 2006)	Event	Catchment	High	Climate, soil characteristics, land Use and land cover	MUSLE	Sedimentation yield, erosion, *	Rely on single storm events	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Singh and Frevert, 2006)
11	GLEAMS	Groundwater Loading Effects of Agricultural Management Systems modelling system	(Leonard et al., 1987)	Daily	Field scale and small catchment	High	Climate, land use, field management and cultural practices	MUSLE, Foster equation	Simulation of erosion, sediment yield, *	Uncertainties in parameter estimations and model validation	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Garnier et al., 1998)
12	KINEROS	KINematic runoff and EROSion model	(Woolhiser et al., 1990)	Event	Small Catchment, hillslope areas	High	Rainfall, soil, topography, land cover, drainage network and channel geometry	Bennett Mass balance equation, sediment transport approach, Kinematic wave equations	Erosion, sediment yield, peak runoff rate, runoff	Runoff estimations are based on single storm events without considering sub- surface flows	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Tajbakhsh et al., 2018)
13	LASCAM	Large Scale Catchment Model	(Viney and Sivapalan, 1999)	Daily	Catchment	High	Climate, Surface topography, DEM, streamflow and sediment data	USLE	Erosion, sediment yield, nutrients	Uncertainties in the model outputs	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Sivapalan et al., 2002)
14	MEFIDIS	Modelo de ErosaoFIsico e DIStribuido	(Seixas et al., 2005)	Event	Field scale and small catchment	High	Climate, topography, Surface topography, DEM, catchment characteristics, streamflow and sediment data	Diffusive wave equation, Foster equation Kinetic rainfall energy equation, sediment transport capacity approach	Erosion, runoff	Soil erosion based on extreme rainfall events, low potential for GIS integration	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Seixas et al., 2005)
15	MEDALUS	Mediterranean Desertification and Land Use research programme Model	(Kirkby, 1998; Kirkby et al., 1998b)	Event	Field scale and small catchment	High	Climate, soil, Land cover/ land use, Topography	Mass momentum approach	Erosion, impact of land use changes	Rely only on recent data for inputs	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Lamqade m et al., 2018)
16	PERFECT	Productivity, Erosion and Runoff, Functions to Evaluate Conservation Techniques	(Littleboy et al., 1989)	Daily	Field	High	Climate, soil, crop, tillage	MUSLE	Erosion, runoff, crop yield	Detailed information on crop management and tillage practices	No	No	No	No	(Littleboy et al., 1992b)
17	PEPP- HILLFLOW	Process orientated Erosion Prediction Program	(Schramm, 1994)	Event	Field scale and small catchment	High	Climate, soil characteristics, Land cover/land use, Topography, nutrients	Sediment continuity equation, Foster equation, Yang's unit stream power method	Runoff, Erosion	Rely on single storm Event, intensive data requirement	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Schramm, 1994)
18	RUNOFF	RUNOFF	(D. K. Borah, 1989)	Event	Small Catchment	Low	Rainfall, soil characteristics, topography, land cover,	Splash erosion, flow rate equations	Erosion, runoff, sediment yield	Uncertainties in input parameter estimations and model validation	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(D. K. Borah, 1989)

							drainage network and channel								
19	PESERA	Pan-European Soil Erosion Risk Assessment	(Kirkby et al., 2004)	Annual	Regional	Medium	Climate, soil characteristics, land cover, topography	Mass and momentum balance equations,	Runoff, erosion, sediment yield, crop yield	Flow routing is not well developed	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Alewell et al., 2019)
20	SHE/ SHESED	Systeme Hydrologique Europian/- Systeme Hydrologique Europian Sediment	(Abbott et al., 1986)	Event	Hillslope to Catchment	High	Rainfall, soil characteristics, topography, land cover	Mass and momentum balance equations, Yalin's equation	Erosion, sediment transport, sediment yield	No simulation of gully erosion	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Abbott et al., 1986)
21	WEPP	Water Erosion Prediction Project	(Laflen et al., 1991)	Daily	Hillslope to Catchment	High	Climate, soil, topography, land use, field management and cultural practices, channel network	Steady-state sediment continuity equation, Foster equation	Runoff, erosion, sediment yield	Large number of input parameters, neglect the simulation in permanent channels	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Brooks et al., 2016)
22	WESP	Watershed erosion simulation program	(Lopes, 1987)	Event	Small Catchment	Medium	Climate, soil, topography, channel network	Kinematic wave equations,	Simulation of runoff and erosion *	Intensive computation of input parameters	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Lopes, 1987)
23	WATEM/ SEDEM	Water and Tillage Erosion Model/Sediment Delivery Model	(Oost et al., 2000)	Annual	Field	Low	Climate, soil characteristics, land cover, flow network	RUSLE	Erosion, tillage erosion, sedimentation	Require high quality detailed watershed information	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	(Panagos and Katsoyian nis, 2019)
24	SEMMED	Soil Erosion Model for Mediterranean Areas	(Panagos and Katsoyiannis, 2019)	Annual	Regional scale	Medium	DEM, climate, soil characteristics, channel network and geometry	Distributed transport capacity	Simulate the distributed character of the erosion process, predicts soil loss	Sensitive to storage capacity, soil moisture, soil detachability index	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(De Jong et al., 1999)
25	SIMWE	Simulation of Water Erosion	(Thaxton et al., 2004)	Event	Catchment	High	Rainfalls, surface roughness, DEM	Saint Venant equation for continuity of flow, Manning's n value.	Erosion, gully Formation, sediment transport and deposition *	Require high quality detailed watershed information	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Fernande s et al., 2017)
26	RHEM	Rangeland Hydrology and Erosion Model	(M. A. Nearing et al., 2011)	Event	Field scale and small catchment	High	Climate, soil characteristics, watershed characteristics	Sediment transport equation	uRnoff, erosion, sediment yield	less suitable for simulation of rangeland surfaces	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Hernande z et al., 2017)
27	TOPOG	TOPOG	(Vertessy and Wilson, 1990)	Daily	Hillslope to Catchment	High	Climate, soil, topography, Land cover	Equations for sediment transport in channels	Erosion	Extensive input data requirements and a high number of physical parameters (complex)	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	(Maftei et al., 2019)

*additional model capabilities besides soil erosion; G: Generation; T: Transportation; D: Deposition; Developer/year: references for model manuals and first research articles describing respective model

3.2.4. Remote Sensing (RS) and GIS-based soil erosion modeling

Remote Sensing data combined with GIS tools provide the powerful capabilities for mapping soil characteristics and soil resources over high spatial and temporal resolution in a timely and costeffective way (Lu et al., 2004). Soil erosion models can be incorporated into GIS tools and combined with RS data. RS derived climate data, land use/land cover information, and their integration with GIS can be used for soil erosion modeling (A. Pandey et al., 2007). Remote sensing based digital elevation/terrain model (DEM/DTM) is an important tool to provide inputs to the soil erosion models, catchment rainfall/runoff relationship development, and sedimentation processes (DeVantier and Feldman, 1993; Jenson and Domingue, 1998; Walker and Willgoose, 1999). Various GIS techniques (QGIS, ArcGIS) use Digital Elevation Models (DEM) and can derive multiple variables for topographical parameterization such as slope, aspect ratio, drainage, stream and catchment delineation, surface flow, and soil erodibility factor (Coveney and Fotheringham, 2011).

Many well-known soil erosion models i.e., USLE (Universal Soil Loss Equation, 1965) (Liu et al., 2018), RUSLE (Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation, 1997) (Karamage et al., 2017), SEMMED (Soil Erosion Model for Mediterranean Regions, 1999) (De Jong et al., 1999), PESERA (Pan-European Soil Erosion Risk Assessment, 2003) (De Vente et al., 2013), EUROSEM (European Soil Erosion Model, 1993) (R. P.C. Morgan et al., 1998), and EGEM (Ephemeral Gully Erosion Model, 1999) (Woodward, 1999), integrated with RS and GIS techniques, have been widely used.

The use of GIS and RS for soil erosion and sedimentation modeling may involve certain consequences including multiple data sources based on vast data requirements, computing expertise for model re-scaling and data reliability issues, and complex verification algorithms of model outputs (Karydas and Panagos, 2016).

3.3. Description of Selected Models with respect to Plot Scale Simulations

A list of different soil erosion models is presented in section 3.3. These models vary in their range of complexity, data requirements, the scale of application, and key limitations. This section aims to provide a brief introduction to models selected on their applicability to a plot/field scale. The shortlisted models are reviewed in terms of their objective, model structure, components, and their assimilation, and model calibration ease and parameter requirements are presented in this section.

The review of models is limited to those models with strict consideration of soil erosion generation at a plot or field scale. Therefore, many other commonly applied models, for example SWAT, EUROSEM, etc., are not discussed in this section (Table 2.6). In order to assess the model capabilities to simulate soil erosion, application examples of selected models in different climatic zones were reviewed and summarized in Table 2.6. The Nash–Sutcliffe efficiency method was the most commonly used method for evaluation of model performance. Further, Root mean square error, coefficient correlation, average absolute error, and coefficient of determination were commonly applied measures.

Most studies report a sensitivity of simulated sediment deposition to different environmental and management factors, such as rainfall, crop management factors, soil physical properties, and vegetation cover. Selected models were tested at field or plot scales under different cropping systems and field conditions. Calibration of field scale models based on data from fields that are characterized by a high spatial heterogeneity of topography and soil types is more accurate than using spatial averaged data from larger catchment areas. Most of the field scale models are based on one-dimensional equations (Saint Venant equation or Kinematic wave theory) for estimation of overland flows, there-by limiting their capabilities for spatially distributed modeling. Only a few models, such as WEPP, TCRP, and CREAMS, also represent the water movement through the unsaturated part of the soil profile which influences the runoff on hillslopes (Table 2.6).

Sr. No.	Model	Description	Spatial dimensi on	Model type	Study area	Objective	Input data used	Method used for evaluation	Conclusion	Remarks	Reference
	EPM	Erosion Potential Method	1D	Dynamic	Alfenas Municipality, (437ha)	Simulation of surface runoff, soil erosion, comparing results with RUSLE of SLT	DEM, climate data, soil characteristics	Sediment retention coefficient, RMSE, correlation- coefficient	Correlations of the potential values of soil erosion between EPM and RUSLE showed a similar pattern for the different land management types and land uses despite the different orders of magnitude	For calibration, EPM requires experimental validation, which would be subjected to heterogeneity of crop and soil in the field	(Tavares et al., 2019)
2	TCRP	Tillage-Controlled Runoff Pattern model	2D	Dynamic	Multiple sites	Sediment fluxes, deposition processes in a 2-D spatial context	sediment deposition equations	Correlation coefficient	Model is capable of simulating both spatial pattern and size selectivity of deposition pattern in tilled fields	Understanding and representation of sediment delivery and deposition need to be improved	(Van Oost et al., 2004)
3	WEPP	Watershed Erosion Prediction Project	2D	Dynamic	Demonstration farm, Ratchaburi province, Thailand	Performances of the WEPP under conservation cropping system	Monthly rainfall, Land use map, Soil map, DEM, Daily Sediment	NSE	WEPP model predicted lower values of runoff and sediment yield. WEPP coupled with MIKE SHE/MIKE 11 capable to simulate soil losses in different conservation practices	Satisfactory Performance for sediment yield estimation at small scale	(Heydarnej ad et al., 2020)
4	APSIM	Agricultural Production Simulation	1D	Dynamic	16 plots, 52 m^2 (4 m × 13 m) in area each plot	Modeling effects of tillage on soil water dynamics	Daily temperature, daily rainfall, Tree zoning	R ² , NSE, RSR	APSIM is adequate for agroforestry system	APSIM requires modification in soil erosion component	(Dilla et al., 2020)
5	EPIC	Erosion- Productivity Impact Calculator	1D	Dynamic	South-central Chile	Simulation of soil erosion	DEM, climate data, soil characteristics	correlation coefficient, RMSE	Calculated rates of soil erosion was overestimated as slope segment is relatively difficult to decide	EPIC predicts two times more soil erosion under wheat and conventional tillage comparing to WEPP and USLE	(Stolpe, 2005)
6	CREAMS	Chemicals, Runoff and Erosion from Agricultural	2D	Dynamic	Finland	Predicting field- scale runoff	Mean daily temperatures and rainfall, Evapotranspirati	AERR, RMSE, NSE	Snow accumulation and snowmelt description, adjustable albedo	SCS curve number can be introduced for more	(Rekolaine n and Posch, 1993)

Table 2. 6. Examples of applications of some selected field scale soil erosion models

		Management Systems				and erosion, modify the model for Finnish conditions	on, surface albedo, leaf area index,		introduction into CREAMS improved simulations of runoff volumes	physically based representation of runoff in alley cropping system	
7	GUEST	The Griffith University Erosion System Template	1D	Dynamic	Tilting flume (6 x 1) m.	Evaluation of GUEST and WEPP for determining sediment transport capacity	Soil samples, tilting flume	ME, R ² , RMSE	GUEST model predicted higher values of erosion than WEPP, this difference can be due to the particle size distribution and rill morphology	GUEST tends to overestimate sediment yield in heterogeneous soil condition	(Mahmood abadi et al., 2014)
8	PERFECT	The Productivity, Erosion and Runoff, Functions to Evaluate Conservation Techniques	ID	Dynamic	Plot scale, Queensland	Simulates interactions between soil type, climate, and fallow management strategy and crop sequence.	Initial soil moisture, soil characteristics, topography, Landuse	R ²	PERFECT does not consider rainfall intensity and represents less accurate soil erosion on daily time steps.	The validated model can be coupled with soil and long- term climate databases to simulate probabilities of production and erosion risks due to climatic variability.	(Palosuo et al., 2011)

R2: Coefficient of determination, NSE: Nash-Sutcliffe efficiency, RSR: RMSE-observations standard deviation ratio, RMSE: Root Mean Square Error, ME: Model efficiency, AERR: average absolute error

3.3.1. Erosion Potential Method, EPM

Erosion Potential Method (EPM) is an empirical model to simulate water erosion from fields to small catchments, using input data related to meteorology and the matrix of the catchment physical characteristics. The model has been widely applied worldwide. It contains an advanced classification procedure using four characteristics including erosion coefficient, land use coefficient, soil erodibility, and mean slope in different land units (Ahmadi et al., 2020). (Kouhpeima et al., 2011) state that EPM is a method for easy and rapid analysis of erosion risk and sedimentation. The accuracy of results depends on the values of erosion coefficients. Moreover, EPM considers only four factors for erosion assessment and can be applied to small areas where database layers are limited. EPM integration with GIS and remote sensing could be a useful technique in the identification of soil loss and sedimentation in areas with insufficient sediment gauging stations (Ali et al., 2016). The over-/under-prediction limits of EPM simulations are within 13 percent from the measured values and are considered to have acceptable accuracy for soil loss simulations at the catchment scale (da Silva et al., 2007; S. Pandey et al., 2007).

3.3.2. Tillage-Controlled Runoff Pattern model, TCRP

The TCRP model has been evaluated in different environments globally, mainly for the prediction of runoff patterns with the flow along the direction of plow lines in tilled fields within a catchment. This model requires a digital elevation model, land use maps, and tillage orientation as inputs. The model creates a tillage-controlled runoff pattern along with a topographic controlled runoff pattern. The use of the first one in event-based deterministic models results in a much better level of accuracy for runoff and erosion pat-terns with field observations. Model simulations show that tillage information should be included when estimating runoff directions if erosion pattern accuracy is under question. (Souchere et al., 1998) proposed that to analyze the tillage impact on runoff in a spatially distributed water model, each cell must be assigned to a tillage direction. This results in complexities as flow lines may cross each other and ditches may exist on the field. (Souchere, 1995) solved these problems by changing the runoff direction manually and assuming the runoff is always in the direction of tillage. However, it would be laborious for large catchments to be modeled.

The TCRP model was developed using raster language to specifically integrate with the GIS tool (Wesseling et al., 1996). The model requires surface physical characteristics, DEM, land use maps,

and tillage direction information as inputs. The maps should have an area larger than that of the catchment to be modeled because catchment boundaries can be defined after only the assessment of runoff patterns.

3.3.3. Soil Loss Estimation Model for Southern Africa, SLEMSA

SLEMSA was developed by (Elwell, 1978) in Zimbabwe as a framework for estimating local soil losses by using details of local environmental conditions driving soil erosion process i.e., climate, soil types, topography, soil cover, and field management practices (Elwell and Stocking, 1982; Kinama et al., 2008). The SLEMSA modeling approach consists of four major steps: (1) identify major control variables (rainfall energy, interception, etc.), for which the values are easily measured and have a rational physical explanation, (2) develop a relationship, called submodels, be-tween selected variables and soil losses, (3) formulate the model to relate these submodels, (4) test the model (Elwell and Stocking, 1982). (Heydarnejad et al., 2020) examined SLEMSA in series of tests, with careful monitoring of controlled variables on selected plots; errors of 9 to 18 percent were noted. SLEMSA claims to be simpler relatively to the USLE as it is less data demanding with high extrapolation capabilities (Albaladejo Montoro and Stocking, 1989). GIS can be used to calculate SLEMSA control variables that upon formulation provide potential soil losses within the catchment (Breetzke et al., 2013). A study of SLEMSA in mountainous terrain by (Hudson, 1987) indicates the sensitivity of potential soil loss to both slope steepness and rainfall erosivity resulting in an overestimation of soil loss with steep slopes and high rainfall intensities (Le Roux et al., 2008).

3.3.4. Agricultural Production Simulation, APSIM

APSIM, a dynamic conceptual modeling platform, was developed by the Agricultural Production Systems Research System Unit (APSRU) in Queensland. APSIM modeling platform has been evaluated worldwide in different environmental conditions ranging from interpretation of on-farm experiments to risk assessment of a range of alternative management options (Masere and Worth, 2015) mainly to simulate the crop production in relation to climate, soil erosion, and field management practices while identifying long-term solutions for natural resource management issues at field scale using input data provided at daily time steps (McCown et al., 1996; Teixeira et al., 2018). Since APSIM offers many modules (generally categorized as biological and environmental modules), the erosion model is capable to simulate the impact of erosion on the soil profile as soil loss occurs. The erosion module remains unaware of the impact of other modules on the profile. The estimation of daily soil loss is performed by either of two submodels (1) Freebairn and (2) Rose (McCown et al., 1996). The lateral one uses the USLE equation (Freebairn and Wockner, 1986; Littleboy et al., 1989). The module was revised to consider runoff and land cover, which can be affected by management within the APSIM model. The soil erosion measurements required for calibration are based on the runoff volume, soil cover, soil erodibility, and slope-length factor along with management practices. A different module within APSIM provides the values of these factors i.e., the surface cover is provided by the soil organic matter module, and the SWIM module provides surface runoff. (Basche et al., 2016) have successfully calibrated and validated the APSIM model to predict runoff and sediment yield. Further, the tested APSIM model was implemented for soil loss based risk management and supporting practices. However, the use of this model is only recommended when sufficient data is available. Notably, APSIM has high input demand; most uses require extensive field investigations.

3.3.5. RillGrow

The RillGrow model is capable to predict a realistic spatial pattern of the rill network in response to a given rainfall event (Favis-Mortlock, 1996). The erosion model series of RillGrow mainly expresses the eroding hillslopes on a small scale as a self-organized dynamical system producing a rill network (Horton, 1945). Digital elevation models of the hillslopes used as an input to the RillGrow simulates the rill network as a whole system which later on is compared with the field and laboratory experiments for validation (Favis-Mortlock et al., 1998). A logistic S-Curve, the relationship between flow energy and sediment load, is considered to estimate erosion resulting from the surface flow. Hillslope micro-topography could be responsible for the observed vitality of rill competition and spatial pattern of overland flow initiating lowering of the surface. Such modifications change the path of the soil erosion process as it creates its own surface (Zobeck and Onstad, 1987). This simple relationship develops a complex rill network. However, this simplicity results in limited model computational abilities as the flow process and erosion have to be predicted on a microscale. Also, model data requirement creates issues. These limitations make this model impractical for real-world erosion simulations. Simulations have an immense demand of computation time if the area is larger than the hillslope plot or laboratory experiment (Meyer and Wischmeier, 1969). There are a few articles on GIS integration with the RillGrow model in the

latest versions. That needs to be worked out to improve the workability of the RillGrow model in the future.

3.3.6. Erosion-Productivity Impact Calculator, EPIC

EPIC is a detailed model developed to simulate, simultaneously and realistically, the physical processes involved by developing the relationship between soil losses and soil productivity. EPIC mainly uses climate, land cover, tillage, and soil characteristics as in-put variables. Many applications of EPIC have been studied in the United States and worldwide under varying environmental conditions, for example, climate change effects on crop yield and soil erosion (Parsons et al., 1995; Parton et al., 2015), wind erosion (Potter and Williams, 1994), irrigation impacts on crop yields (Cabelguenne et al., 1997, 1995), assessment of soil temperature (Roloff et al., 1998), and soil carbon sequestration as a function of management and cropping systems (Apezteguía et al., 2009; Lee et al., 1993). The model has been extensively tested in many ways. The EPIC model has nine major components, namely, weather, nutrients, plant growth, soil temperature, hydrology, environment, and economics. Each component was tested (J. R. Williams et al., 1984; Knisel, 1982; Nicks and Harp, 1980; Smith et al., 1985; Williams et al., 1985, 1983) and the results were found to be acceptable and reliable. (Williams, 1990) proposes that the EPIC model works more efficiently over small areal extent (generally ~ 1 ha) because management practices and soils are considered homogenous. However, the model can consider all kinds of soil properties. Traditionally, EPIC is site-specific, but when integrated with GIS tools, regional crop growth and yield can be simulated (e.g. the G-EPIC version (Williams, 1990). GIS is used to produce model inputs for DEM, land use/land cover, and soil maps. Due to EPIC's extensive testing and high integration with GIS, its application has been increased and has become famous among scientists.

3.3.7. Chemicals, Runoff, and Erosion from Agricultural Management System, CREAMS

The Chemicals, Runoff, and Erosion from Agricultural Management System model was developed in the United States (Knisel and Nicks, 1981). CREAMS is a physical, daily-based dynamic model that simulates runoff, erosion, and sediment yield, having a capacity for assessment of nutrient loss and chemicals from agricultural lands suitable at field scale (Williams et al., 1985). Hydrology is one of the components of CREAMS that is the principal element to simulate soil erosion neglecting the deep percolation. With the daily rainfall data, the SCS curve number is used to estimate surface runoff (Mockus, 1972). These component results provide the in-put to other components of CREAMS to estimate nutrient and chemical losses. The erosion component in CREAMS uses USLE along with sediment transport for overland flows. Studies show that the CREAMS model performs better for field-scale but it can be applied to larger-scales (~400ha) (Merritt et al., 2003). This may be due to the fact that the model assumes uniform topography and land use and it does not consider temporal variations in soil erodibility which is highly unrealistic in the real world. Moreover, (Govers and Loch, 1993) observed that dynamic simulation of water erosion may limit the accuracy of estimations because of their extensive dependents on the validated input data. However, such limits can be reduced using physically based models rather than empirical models such as CREAMS.

3.3.8. The Griffith University Erosion System Template, GUEST

The Griffith University Erosion System Template (Hairsine and Rose, 1991) is a physically based steady-state sediment flux model developed to simulate single events of erosion resulting in temporal variations in sediment yields at a plot scale. The model uses hydrological and surface characteristics of uniform slope and relates rainfall-runoff rates to predict the yield of eroded sediments (R. K. Misra and Rose, 1996). The model algorithms explaining erosion, transport, and sediment yield are based on single rainfall events at the plot scale. GUEST considers the erosion process to mainly be due to rainfall impact and the effect of overland flow generated shear stresses exerted on soil, making GUEST a comparatively complex process-based model which requires a large number of input data. (Huang et al., 2007) noted the low ac-curacy in predicted soil erosion by surface runoff when applied to the catchment scale and that it was limited by the extent of data required at the plot scale.

3.3.9. The Productivity, Erosion and Runoff, Functions to Evaluate Conservation Techniques, PERFECT

The PERFECT model (Littleboy et al., 1992c) was developed by the Queensland Department of Primary Industries and the QDPI/CSIRO Agricultural Production System Research Unit in Australia. This model was developed to integrate with other physically based models such as CREAMS for studying the impact of soil management factors i.e., field preparation practices and soil conservation techniques. CREAMS excludes the land cover variations caused by tillage practices to estimate surface runoff. PERFECT model considers management strategies to predict surface runoff, erosion (MUSLE), and crop production on daily time steps at the field scale. As

other models can be incorporated into the PERFECT model, it is a mix of conceptual, empirical, and physically based models.

(Littleboy et al., 1992a) suggested that the PERFECT model is more accurate than CREAMS for estimating runoff, accounting for 77-89 % of the variation in measured (Gaiser et al., 2013a) daily runoff volume. However, this model does not consider the impact of rainfall intensity thus resulting into over/underestimation of soil erosion based on a single rainfall event. Sediment and nutrient components may be added for water quality modeling that may provide an advantage with crop cover data and management components where it is needed.

4. Discussion

4.1. Selection criteria for soil erosion models

Each soil erosion model has its predictive capabilities and modeling processes and its applicability depends on its intended use, available input and calibration data, temporal and spatial scale, and required accuracies. Based on the review work, the selection of a suitable model for a distinct purpose at the field-scale should be guided by the following criteria. 1) Problem recognition: Define the problem statement in a clear way to achieve a maximum match between the problem to be solved and the model objectives. 2) Spatial scale: the next criteria is to decide whether the model is compatible with the plot or field scale. 3) Data availability: make a list of required input data (topography, climate, field investigations) and their availability. 4) Temporal scales to be considered (event-based or continuous) 5) Elements to be assessed; decide which elements of the catchment are to be modeled i.e., overland erosion and sedimentation, hillslope erosion, or channel/stream erosion and sedimentation. 6) Model sensitivity; the uncertainties within input data should be identified that may impact the reliability of the simulated results before the model evaluation. 7) Model validation; simulation results must be compared with field observations that may also use for model calibration before the simulation process.

4.2. Capabilities and limitations of field scale models

Soil erosion models are bound to have certain strengths and limitations depending on their different development objectives and often specific environmental processes and conditions. Most of the available soil erosion models have been developed mainly for larger scales (basin or watershed) where spatial variations in soil conditions (soil erodibility, soil cover, slope, and tillage practices)

and hydrological conditions (surface runoff, in-filtration rate, and rainfall intensity) are significant compared to those at small scales (field or plot). Individual hydro-geomorphological processes and vegetation impact differently on soil erosion process across various scales. Slope arguably is one of the major factors in the erosion process. For models such as EPIC, WEPP, CREAMS, and GLEAMS that use USLE to reflect the effect of slope length on soil erosion, the major problem (Table 2.6) is the suitable selection of slope segments in fields with complex topography where slope characteristics may vary drastically. EUROSEM is a model that uses a dynamic mass balance equation to simulate the erosion process at a field scale for agricultural lands. EPIC predicts soil losses from rill and inter-rill areas all together whereas EU-ROSEM, WEPP, and GLEAMS estimate each separately.

The assumptions regarding the soil erodibility and tillage formation have a great influence on predicting the volume and direction of surface runoff and subsequently soil losses. TCRP is a 2-D empirical model, which simulates runoff patterns with the flow along the direction of plow lines in tilled fields assuming runoff direction always in direction of tillage (Table 2.6). TCRP can consider both tillage-controlled runoff patterns and topography-controlled runoff patterns. EPIC runoff factor considers ridge heights between furrows to estimate total runoff. EUROSEM and WEPP coupled with MIKE SHE/MIKE 11 can simulate daily soil losses considering different conservation practices at the field scale.

Although the above mentioned problems are significant, calibration of field scale models in fields characterized by spatial heterogeneity of topography and soil is more ac-curate than for larger catchment areas. Furthermore, the accuracy of the simulation of erosion rates depends on the spatial dimension taken into account, i.e. whether processes are simulated at the soil profile scale (1D, point based assuming a field with homogeneous soil and terrain conditions) and/or spatially distributed method (2D/3D) (Table 2.6). The quality and accuracy of the calibration of the erosion processes in heterogeneous fields should increase with the dimension that is considered. However, a major bottleneck for the multi-dimensional models is the availability and accuracy of soil information. On the other hand, the accuracy and availability of topographic information has considerably improved in the last decade (e.g. radar and laser based sensors carried by UAV or airplanes).

4.3. Model comparison with respect to simulating soil erosion in complex cropping systems

Conservation practices like strip and patch cropping or agroforestry systems are important management options to improve floristic and faunistic diversity in intensively used agricultural landscapes. Tools are required to predict the impacts of such diverse cropping systems on soil erosion processes. The Water Erosion Prediction Project (WEPP) for the intercropping system, Water Nutrient and Light Capture in Agroforestry Systems (WaNuLCAS), and Agricultural Production Simulation (APSIM) models are capable of simulating soil erosion in conventional and complex cropping systems at the field scale. WaNuLCAS represents dynamic processes in the spatial domain. It was designed to simulate Tree-Soil-Crop interactions under a wide range of agroforestry systems. It uses the Rose equation to simulate the erosion process in a simplified 2D approach. However, this component of WaNuLCAS has not been tested extensively and requires further investigation. APSIM offers many modules (generally categorized as biological and environ-mental modules). The erosion model is capable of simulating the impact of erosion on the soil profile as soil loss occurs under different management practice options such as strip cropping and alley cropping systems, but it considers only one dimension in the field. Notably, APSIM has high input demand, most of which requires extensive field investigations.

Another important aspect is the translation of rainfall to runoff under varying canopy interception in complex cropping systems. A realistic representation of the role of canopy cover in rainfallrunoff modeling is essential when predicting sediment transport in heterogeneous fields along hillslopes. A few models such as EPIC, WEPP, EUROSEM, CREAMS, SCUAF, and WaNuLCAS account for the intercepted rainfall to estimate total runoff (Table 2.6). However, to this date, there is no cropping model available at the field scale that considers the impact of cropping systems like strip cropping and patch crop-ping and their complex canopy arrangements affecting runoff induced soil erosion processes. EPIC, WEPP, EUROSEM, and CREAMS models may have the capabilities to model complex variations in cropping systems when integrated with GIS (Knisel, 1982; Pumijumnong and Arunrat, 2012; Renschler and Harbor, 2002).

The review suggests that further studies have to be conducted to develop tools that facilitate the integration of modeling components to lower the complexities of source codes and to further improve existing models or develop new models that represent soil erosion processes under complex cultivation patterns on the same field. Modeling capabilities should be improved and

tested with respect to the soil erosion process in strip and patch cropping systems as well as agroforestry systems. Existing agroforestry models must be improved to incorporate erosion processes in fields with high spatial heterogeneity with respect to soil properties, slope inclination, and length, preferably considering three dimensions. Such new developments might also support upscaling of soil erosion processes to larger spatial scales (watershed to basin scale).

4.4. Summary and Conclusions

Soil erosion processes strongly differ with spatial and temporal scales and environ-mental conditions. Thus, a large number of models have been developed that differ in terms of the processes considered, temporal and spatial application scale, capabilities, and limitations. Based on their processing concepts, these models were classified into three categories 1) Empirical models, 2) Conceptual models, 3) Physically based models.

Most of the empirical models use the universal soil loss equation (USLE) and its derivates RUSLE and MUSLE. Though these equations have been developed using data obtained in the United States, these equations are applied worldwide for soil loss estimations. Under variable conditions of spatial soil characteristics and insufficient meteorological networks, empirical models are less complex to operate which makes them a potential choice for predicting soil erosion. Hence, the empirical models are more likely to be used with limited availability of input data. Contrary to that, physically based models provide a physical description of the erosion process. These models are comparatively complex and less user-friendly because of their detailed depictions of processes and large data requirements. However, physically based models are more capable when performing event-based simulations. Conceptual models typically have been developed for catchment and larger scales, requiring a general description of the catchment and involved soil erosion processes, without describing the details of their interactions that would require big data sets of temporal and spatially distributed catchment details. However, there is currently no model available to represent soil erosion processes in more complex cropping at the field scale like strip and patch cropping or alley cropping systems. There are some crop models available to simulate alley cropping systems such as APSIM or WaNuLCAS, with soil erosion components. However, these models have not been tested and validated for erosion estimation and its impacts on subsequent crop yield.

The literature review indicated that most of the models developed for large agriculture catchments using equations developed under specific conditions require site-specific calibration before

simulation. Models designed for small time steps perform better than continuous scale modeling. Similarly, calibration at a field or smaller scale, where spatial topographic and soil variations on erosion process greatly affect the simulation, is more accurate than that of larger catchment areas. It is worth indicating that some models such as EPIC, PERFECT, GUEST, EPM, TCRP, APSIM, and CREAMS were developed for soil erosion assessment at plot/field scale at daily time steps. Limited workability of these models was found for sediment transport, sediment deposit, and sediment yield. Models such as EPIC, WEPP, EUROSEM, CREAMS, SCUAF, and WaNuLCAS have the capability to account for rainfall interception but further improvements are required to deal with complex cropping systems.

5. A way forward

Soil erosion modeling at a field scale is now facilitated by very high spatial and temporal resolution remote sensing (RS) data, which allow for frequent estimation of characteristics of crop cover and topsoil characteristics at the field scale. RS data can be used as both model input (e.g., micro topography, within-field variability of oil and plant characteristics) and validation data (e.g. based on LiDAR data (Sankey et al., 2021)). In order to benefit from RS data flexible data assimilation methods have to be developed for physically based models whereas their integration into empirical and conceptual models is relatively straight-forward. At larger scales, EU wide surveys of topsoil (LUCAS) and Land Use/Cover Area (CORINE) are carried out every three years. Such harmonized open-access data are currently not fully exploited by soil erosion models and might be used as input data for urgently needed model inter comparisons in order to increase our confidence in predicted erosion rates. Further, with increased concerns on future soil erosion rates under climate change (Eekhout et al., 2021) the systematic evaluation of soil erosion models and ensemble soil erosion models (Borrelli et al., 2020) using harmonized data sets might be used to support land use policies.

Models such as EPIC, WEPP, EUROSEM, and CREAMS may have the capabilities to model complex cropping systems such as strip cropping and patch cropping, their spatial arrangements, and their impact on soil erosion when integrated with GIS or into flexible modeling frameworks. Integration or coupling of soil erosion components in a modeling framework for dynamic simulation can provide an alternative to conventional erosion modeling at a field scale and may facilitate upscaling to larger scales.

In the context of sustainable agriculture, there has been an increasing interest in the application of novel crop arrangements within a field (OECD, 2003) in recent years. Since these novel field designs, e.g. alley cropping or strip cropping, are assumed to support the delivery of ecosystem services, such as a reduction of soil erosion, there is a need to quantify such effects. A larger number of case studies, based on the combined use of high-resolution RS data with soil erosion models, are required in order to highlight the potential of novel field designs to reduce the risk of soil erosion and to support corresponding changes in agricultural policy. An important conclusion of this review is, there-fore, the need for future research and development with respect to modeling soil erosion under complex spatial cultivation patterns.

The present study provides a clear description of individual models to sort out which model fits which conditions and problems identified and leads to clear guidelines to select the appropriate model. Future studies need to integrate modeling working components to enhance the strength of models. There should be models developed for soil erosion process in agroforestry systems and existing agroforestry models must be improved to incorporate erosion process and yields. This review emphasizes enhancing the quality of the modeling output and should have additional components to enhance their applicability in most environmental and management conditions.



Using the Taguchi experimental design for assessing within-field variability of surface run-off and soil erosion risk

This chapter has been published as:

Raza, A., Ahrends, H., Habib-ur-Rahman, M., Hüging, H., Gaiser, T., 2022. Using the Taguchi experimental design for assessing within-field variability of surface run-off and soil erosion risk. Sci. Total Environ. 828, 154567. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.154567

1. Introduction

Soil erosion by water has become a great concern all over the world (Keating et al., 2003; Krysanova et al., 2007). Soil erosion has significant impacts on environmental sustainability by adversely influencing agricultural production, water quality, and natural resources conservation (Issaka and Ashraf, 2017). It reduces the fertile soil depth and crop available soil moisture by the removal of essential nutrients and soil organic matter (SOM) and hence reducing the productivity of the soil (Jahun et al., 2015). Soil erosion by water is a form of land degradation resulting from multiple factors with complex interactions. Among others, these factors are rainfall intensity, runoff, small-scale soil heterogeneity in the vertical and horizontal direction, topography, and temporal variability of crop conditions (Václavík et al., 2013). Affected by heterogeneous environmental and field conditions, soil erosion involves complex processes that can strongly vary within single fields, in particular in undulated areas. (Cerdan et al., 2010). Therefore, identifying and categorizing the main causes of soil erosion at the field scale based on observations with a high spatial resolution for quantitatively assessing the spatial and temporal variability of soil erosion patterns are of great importance. Such information can provide support for decision-making for improved sub-field management and for farmers to avoid the degradation of fertile soils and for maintaining or enhancing crop productivity.

Numerous experimental and modeling studies have been conducted using approaches ranging from analytical to empirical techniques to gain a better understanding of runoff and soil erosion processes (Raza et al., 2021) and their potential outcomes (organic carbon and nitrogen losses, soil depth reduction, etc.,) under heterogeneous field conditions (Aga et al., 2020; Eslamian, 2014; J. R. Williams et al., 1984; Knisel and Nicks, 1981; Syvitski and Kettner, 2008; Viney and Sivapalan, 1999). Individual hydro-geomorphological processes and vegetation dynamics affect the soil erosion process differently depending on the scale (Aga et al., 2020; Nearing et al., 1999; Panagos and Katsoyiannis, 2019). In particular, soil physical properties such as soil structure, texture, bulk density, compaction, and soil thickness influence the erosion pattern and thus rate and magnitude of erosion (Ouyang et al., 2018; Ramezanpour et al., 2010). Other driving factors are the topography (i.e., slope gradient, slope length) and ground cover, which modify the physical forces and greatly impact hydrological processes (Liu and Singh, 2004). The amount, intensity, and frequency of precipitation are critical meteorological factors for surface runoff generation and soil erosion.

A few authors investigated the interactive impact of environmental and soil conditions on soil erosion. (Guidry et al., 2006; Sepaskhah and Bazrafshan-Jahromi, 2006) investigated the runoff and soil erosion under rainfall, varying slope, and soil factors, and found that the potentialities of both surface runoff and sediment yield varied with the level of rainfall erosivity but the impact differed among soil textures and slopes, indicating diverse nonlinearities of rainfall-runoff-soil factors-erosion relationships and their complex interaction. (Zambon et al., 2021) studied the dependency of soil erosion on soil surface conditions (seal formation) and soil types under controlled rainfall intensities. Under the same initial surface conditions, the erosion development for increasing rainfall intensity was almost consistent. (Warrington et al., 1989) noticed that increasing slope inclination tends to increase erosion, whereas removing surface crusts and increasing permeability rate led to decreasing surface runoff. (Gross et al., 1991) concluded that even low density vegetation coverage noticeably decreases the sediment yield with increasing rainfall intensities. However, different studies yield a different representation of erosion processes Differences in the results of the studies are mainly caused by the particular experimental conditions (selection of factors) and set-ups which affected the output. To date, there are a few attempts made to study the impact of multiple environmental and in-field factors to predict sediment yield and runoff, including, in some cases, carbon, and nitrogen losses under natural conditions (Anh et al., 2014; Li et al., 2017; J. H. Zhang et al., 2015). Most of these studies consider only one (Cerdà et al., 2021; Dunjó et al., 2004) or two (Ouyang et al., 2018; Ramos et al., 2019) factors to explain the erosion process and ignore the complex interaction of potential factors and specifically their infield variability that may strongly affect the sediment yield and surface runoff. Most of these studies used defined rainfall intensities at plot scales to investigate soil erosion using a rainfall simulator.

Rainfall simulators and soil erosion plots are two widely used research facilities to assess and quantify the processes of soil erosion and sediment transport in overland flow (Sharpley and Kleinman, 2003). Different types of rainfall simulators with their specifications and sizes being optimized for specific pedo-climatic zones, topographies and land uses have been successfully applied in several field experiments (Barthès and Roose, 2002; Duiker et al., 2001; Fernández-Gálvez et al., 2008; Guidry et al., 2006; Lasanta et al., 2000; M. Sheklabadi et al., 2012; Sepaskhah and Bazrafshan-Jahromi, 2006; Srinivasan et al., 2007). However, many of these studies used standard plot sizes under controlled conditions (Albaladejo Montoro and Stocking, 1989; Raza et al., 2021; Renard et al., 1991) and with rainfall intensities far higher than the threshold for soil

detachment thus neglecting the interactions of modulated intensities and soil characteristics that can drive fine-scale spatial soil erosion processes (Kusumandari et al., 2021; Poulenard et al., 2001). In summary, there is still a lack of knowledge on the interactive effects of multiple factors and their potential levels on soil erosion processes under natural conditions that explicitly consider sub-field scale spatio-temporal dynamics. The quantitative knowledge is however of great importance for agricultural fields where management activities can lead to changes in the vulnerability of soils to erosion. Spatially explicit knowledge will help to understand within-field dynamics of erosion and sedimentation and greatly support precision agriculture by developing physical-based on empirical-based models. . Further, it provides quantitative validation data for high-resolution remote sensing data (such as unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV)-based Lidar measurements).

Most of the previous studies were conducted under controlled conditions with a limited number of factors, factor levels, and their interactions (Liu et al., 2019; Rieke-Zapp and Nearing, 2005; Sadeghi et al., 2017; Yusuf et al., 2016). Observing multiple factors and their complex interactions requires establishing several field experiments to disentangle their effects on spatial variation in soil erosion. Therefore, these studies used full factorial experimental designs to investigate the magnitude of the effects of factors on soil erosion that require a large sample size because it increases exponentially when all combinations of factors, factor levels, and interactions are considered (L. D. Meyer, 1981; Li et al., 2019; Meyer and Harmon, 1989). These designs are not applicable when the number of experimental runs is limited due to their cost- and labor intensity. To handle this challenge, the Taguchi method can be applied to any experimental study where the effect of up to ~30 factors on processes is studied while labor and cost intensity are minimized without lowering the quality of outputs (Taguchi, 1986). The Taguchi method is a type of general fractional factorial design, based on a selected number of factors and factor levels to identify the least number of experiments to be performed without compromising the overall output (Taguchi, 1987, 1986). So far, in an agricultural context, the Taguchi design mainly has been used for investigating the impact of fertilizer rates and plant density on cotton yields (Awty-Carroll et al., 2020; Chou et al., 2010; Ruchika Deo et al., 2007; Sivaiah & Chakradhar, 2019b). Further, it has been successfully applied to study soil erosion processes (Sadeghi et al. 2012, Mhaske et al. 2019) and results indicate similar performance compared with full factorial designs (Zhang et al. 2015, Zhang et al. 2021) and response surface methods (Moosavi & Sadeghi. 2021(F. Zhang et al.,

2015)). While providing evidence for the suitability of the design to study the effect of multiple factors on soil erosion, these studies only used a limited number of factors and their interactions. Further, runoff volume and resulting nutrient losses such as organic carbon and nitrogen from the field, which are critical variables for sustainable agriculture, were not investigated.

Encouraged by the successful application of this design in the studies mentioned above, we here use the Taguchi design to study fine-scale spatio-temporal dynamics of soil erosion processes (surface runoff, sediment yield, carbon and nitrogen losses) as affected by multiple factors at an agricultural field located in Western Europe under temperate climate conditions. More specifically, the objectives of this study are to

- i. Investigate the within-field variability of the effects of the interaction between soil characteristics (soil organic matter (SOM), soil texture), topography (slope), rainfall intensity, and soil cover (field conditions) on soil erosion, surface runoff, carbon and nitrogen losses
- ii. Quantify the percentage contribution of each of these five factors to soil erosion, surface runoff, carbon and nitrogen losses
- iii. Develop empirical models to predict local runoff, sediment yield, carbon and nitrogen losses
- iv. Identify erosion risk and sediment yield zones within the field

2. Methodology

2.1. Study area

The study was conducted on an agricultural field site located in the Löwenberger Land municipality, in the north of the federal state of Brandenburg, Germany (33U 374170E 5866893N) (Fig. 3.1). Brandenburg lies in the temperate, continental climate zone with mean annual temperatures between 7.8 °C and 9.5 °C and mean annual precipitation of ~ 600 mm (German Weather Service 2020, Ihinegbu & Ogunwumi, 2021). The research field comprises ~ 6.25 ha (Fig. 3.1). Terrain height averages around 51.5 to 57.5 m a.s.l. with north east facing gentle slope (Fig. 3.2). The soil was classified as Ferric Luvisol at up slopes (WRB, 2007) and in the marginal areas of the depression as Gley-Kolluvisol (Gleyic Anthrosol).



Fig. 3. 1: Location of the study area (left) and an aerial image of the research field (May 8th, 2020, Google Earth)

2.2. Soil sampling

To characterize the spatial heterogeneity of soil characteristics soil augers (100 cm depth) were obtained from 87 different locations within the field (Fig. 3.2) in December 2019. At selected points, soil samples were analyzed for soil texture (proportion of silt, sand, and clay fractions) and SOM content, and the depth from the soil surface to a loamy layer. In soils derived from glacial deposits, the thickness of the sandy topsoil layers that are followed by a loamy layer, restricting vertical water movement compared to the sandy topsoil, is considered to increase the risk of water ponding at the soil surface and hence the risk of surface runoff and erosion. Samples were air-dried and sieved through a 2 mm mesh. Particle size distribution was determined with the Pipett method after SOM and carbonate destruction. Soil texture varied from silty loam to silt and medium sand according to the German soil taxonomy. According to Hofmann et al. (2016) and the soil taxation values in the German field cadastre of the state of Brandenburg (BB ATKIS), however, the topsoil is dominated by loamy sand.



Fig. 3. 2: Study site with soil augering points (A) and the locations of the rainfall simulation experimental plots (B, Numbers 1 to 16)

2.3. Experimental design

In contrast to classical statistical designs the "Taguchi design" is a type of general fractional factorial design, based on a selected number of factors and factor levels to identify the least number of experiments to be performed (Taguchi, 1987, 1986). The main factors and interactions that are most likely to be significant and the levels at which they are varied have to be defined in advance. Based on this knowledge Taguchi orthogonal arrays are selected with the choice depending on the tradeoff between time, resources, and quality of outputs (Medan et al., 2017; Rafidah et al., 2014; Woll & Burkhard, 2005). Subsequently to the experimental runs, the effect of each variable can be studied based on the signal-to-noise ratio (SN) (i.e., maximizing or minimizing SN ratios).

The Taguchi method systematically yields the best possible combination of factors and their levels to produce quality output at lower experimental cost and time. Based on the literature review (Chmelová and Šarapatka, 2002; P.U. et al., 2017; A. Pandey et al., 2007; Raza et al., 2021), For this study, five factors were selected: Sum of the percentage of silt and soil organic matter (SiltOM), vegetation cover (VC), slope steepness (SS), rainfall intensity (RI), and depth to loamy layer (DLL). For each factor, four levels are considered (Table 3.1). The ranges of these levels are based on soil surveys, site-specific scheduling of crop residue management (affecting vegetation cover), and the field topography derived from 2008 Lidar data with 1m spatial resolution (https://geobroker.geobasis-bb.de). The selection of rainfall intensity levels is based on an analysis

of 10-minute precipitation data provided by the German Weather Service for a nearby meteorological station (Brandenburg weather station (ID # 3552)) and adjusted to the capability and sensitivity of the mobile rainfall simulator (described below).

	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I					
Factor	Description	Unit	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4
1	(SiltOM)*	%	> 20	18 - 20	16 - 18	< 16
2	vegetation cover	%	1 - 5 (C)	0 (B)	10 - 15 (E)	> 15 (L)
3	Slope steepness	%	< 1	1-3	3-5	> 5
4	Rainfall intensity	mm min ⁻¹	< 2.5	2.7 - 3.3	3.4 - 4	> 4
5	Depth to loamy layer	cm	< 40	40 - 55	55 - 70	> 70

Table 3. 1. Experimental factors and their levels

*the % of SiltOM decreases from level 1 to level 4, decided based on laboratory soil texture analysis. C, B, E, and L represent field conditions as cultivation, seedbed preparation, plant emergence, and Leaf development stage (3 Leaves unfold) respectively.

Due to the number of factors (5) and levels (4) as defined in Table 3.1, the orthogonal array L_{16} (4⁵) for the Taguchi DOE was selected consisting of 16 experiments (factor combinations) (Table 3.2).

Factors	Combination			ors Combinat			n	SiltOM	Vegetation	Slope	Rainfall	Depth to
١	of	lev	els			(%)	cover	steepness	intensity	loamy		
Plot ID							(%)	(%)	(mm min ⁻¹)	layer (cm)		
	1	2	3	4	5							
1	1	1	1	1	1	>20	1-5	<1	<2.5	<40		
2	1	2	2	2	2	>20	0	1-3	2.7-3.3	40-55		
3	1	3	3	3	3	>20	10-15	3-5	3.4-4	55-70		
4	1	4	4	4	4	>20	>15	>5	>4	>70		
5	2	1	2	3	4	18-20	1-5	1-3	3.4-4	>70		
6	2	2	1	4	3	18-20	0	<1	>4	55-70		
7	2	3	4	1	2	18-20	10-15	>5	<2.5	40-55		
8	2	4	3	2	1	18-20	>15	3-5	2.7-3.3	<40		
9	3	1	3	4	2	16-18	1-5	3-5	>4	40-55		
10	3	2	4	3	1	16-18	0	>5	3.4-4	<40		
11	3	3	1	2	4	16-18	10-15	<1	2.7-3.3	>70		
12	3	4	2	1	3	16-18	>15	1-3	<2.5	55-70		
13	4	1	4	2	3	<16	1-5	>5	2.7-3.3	55-70		
14	4	2	3	1	4	<16	0	3-5	<2.5	>70		
15	4	3	2	4	1	<16	10-15	1-3	>4	<40		
16	4	4	1	3	2	<16	>15	<1	3.4-4	40-55		

Table 3. 2. Taguchi fractional factorial design L16 (45) used in this study

2.4. Plot selection

To select plot locations for experimental runs covering each of the 16 factorial combinations (Table 3.2), field maps on the depth to a loamy layer, slope inclination, and the sum of silt and OM were prepared, using SAGA within QGIS 3.16 (Fig. 3.3). Data on the depth to a loamy layer was derived from field surveys. Point data were spatially interpolated using ordinary kriging in SAGA. The topography was derived from 2008 LiDAR imagery (https://geobroker.geobasis-bb.de). Subsequently, map overlays were used to identify 16 plot locations. The 16 locations were considered to be well distributed in the research site (Fig. 3.2). At each location, rainfall simulator experiments were carried out at the respective intensity levels with 4 repetitions. To integrate the factors "vegetation cover", simulations were performed on multiple dates with vegetation cover ranging from 0% (seedbed preparation), over 5% (cultivation) and 10% (crop emergence, DAS: 20) to >15% (leaf development stage 3, DAS: 204) (Table 3.3).



Fig. 3. 3: Schematic diagram of the workflow for the rainfall simulation experiment: (a) Preprocessing of soil samples and remote sensing data (b) Preparing within-field factor levels for the Taguchi design (c) Selecting the locations of experimental plots (d) collecting sediments and runoff (e) Filtering and weighing sediment samples, runoff and CN concentration in sediments

2.5. Rainfall simulator

In this study, in order to generate targeted levels of rainfall intensity (Table 3.2), the portable nonpressurized rainfall simulator (Kamphorst, 1987) was used (Fig. 3.3d). The simulator was produced by Eijkelkamp (Eijkelkamp Agrisearch Equipment, Netherlands) and the design is owned by Wageningen University Research Centre. The ground coverage area is 0.0625 m² enclosed from three sides with stainless steel frame. The basic unit of the simulator consists of two Plexiglas containers connected with the frame. The upper container has a calibrated cylindrical reservoir having a capacity of 2300 ml. The lower container has 49 capillaries with a diameter of 0.6 mm. The basic unit is supported with four adjustable legs, 0.4 m average in height, on various slopes. Rainfall intensity is controlled by varying the atmospheric pressure inside the basic unit through an adjustable aeration pipe attached to the upper container. Fig. 3.3d illustrates the operation of the rainfall simulator in the field. Before the beginning of the experiments, the rainfall simulator was calibrated in order to generate the four different rainfall intensities (Table 3.2) (Kamphorst, 1987; "Rainfall simulator - Field measurement equipment | Eijkelkamp," 2018). Each experiment was carried out for the duration of 8 minutes keeping in view the storage capacity of the reservoir and rainfall intensity levels. However, for the rainfall simulator, it is recommended to use it at the wettest season i.e., soil moisture content near to field capacity, when the soil surface is most vulnerable to erosion. For that purpose, a pre-wetting of the plot was carried out in the dry season. The water for pre-wetting is carefully applied through a plastic container with a perforated lid on it to avoid splash and runoff.

2.6. Sample preparation

The runoff from each plot and repetition and the corresponding sediment yields were collected in a 2L plastic bucket installed at the downslope end of the stainless steel frame of the simulator. The samples were thoroughly mixed by stirring before transferring them into plastic bottles. The volume of samples (runoff + sediment) was determined using glass flasks in the laboratory followed by wet sieving through a sieve with a mesh size of 2 mm. The samples were then placed in the oven at 60 °C for drying the dried samples and were later weighted to determine the sediment yield. There were no stones > 2 mm collected in any of the samples. A pycnometer with distilled water was used to determine the volume of sediments collected from each experimental plot (Benjeddou et al., 2017; Heiskanen, 2008). Surface runoff volume was calculated by subtracting the sediment volume from the total sample volume collected in the field. The sediment samples

were then dried at 60 °C till samples were fully dried to prepare them for carbon and nitrogen (CN) analysis. The dried samples were transferred then into separate glass scintillation vials and analyzed for CN content by instantaneous oxidation of the sample via combustion with oxygen at an approximate temperature of 1020° C using an Elemental Analyzer Euro EA 3000 (EuroVector - RK Tech Ltd., Pavia)

2.7. Statistical analysis

In Minitab 17.0 software tool, signal-to-noise ratio analyses (SN) were used for the evaluation of experiment results (Chou et al., 2010; Sivaiah and Chakradhar, 2019). Three types of SN ratios are used (1) Nominal is better, (2) Higher is better, (3) Lower is better. Because the objective of this study is to identify the areas with the highest risk of erosion, "the higher the better (HB)" approach was used. The following equation was used to calculate the SN-ratio:

$$\frac{S}{N_s} = -10 * \log(\frac{1}{n} \sum \frac{1}{y^2})$$
(1)

where, *n* represents the number of repetitions at each rainfall simulation plot, and *y* represents the studied variable. Here, *y* is sediment yield, runoff, nitrogen, or carbon content in the sediments from each experimental plot.

The statistical approach of analysis of mean (ANOM) was used to derive optimal conditions (Parr and Taguchi, 1989). ANOM is a graphical method for multiple group comparisons with an overall mean ("grand mean"). The mean $\frac{S}{NS}$ ratio of each factor *I* at a specific level *i* (Eqn. 2) was determined using the following equation:

$$M_{Factor}^{Level} = \frac{1}{n_{Ii}} \sum_{j=1}^{n_{Ii}} \left[\left(\frac{s}{Ns} \right)_{Factor}^{level} = i \right]_{j}$$
(2)

In equation (2), n_{Ii} is the number of occurrences of factor *I* in level *i*. $\frac{S}{Ns}$ response figures and tables were obtained, and optimum conditions were established for each concerning output. J?

In addition, an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to investigate the influence of individual factors on sediment yield, runoff, and CN content (Cox et al., 2008). The percentage contribution of each experimental factor to the four output variables was estimated using the following equation:

$$\rho_{\rm F} = \frac{SS_F - (DOF_F V_{ER})}{SS_T} \times 100 \tag{3}$$

Where V_{ER} is the variance of error, SSF is the factorial sum of squares, and DOF_F represents a degree of freedom obtained by subtracting one from the number of levels of each factor (*L*). The total sum of squares, SS_T, was calculated using the following equation:

$$SS_{T} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{L} Y_{i}^{2} \right)_{j} - mn \left(\overline{Y_{t}} \right)^{2}$$
(4)

 Y_t is obtained as:

$$\overline{Y_t} = \sum_{j=1}^m \left(\sum_{i=1}^L Y_i \right)_j / mn$$
(5)

Where, *m* represents the number of experimental plots covered in this study, and *n* represents the number of repetitions under the same experimental plot. The factorial sum of squares, SS_F , is given by:

$$SS_F = \frac{mn}{L} \sum_{k=1}^{L} \quad (\overline{Y}_K^F - \overline{Y}_t)$$
(6)

 \overline{Y}_{K}^{F} is the average value of the measurement results of a certain factor in the *kth* level. Furthermore, the variance of error, V_{ER} was given by:

$$V_{\rm ER} = \frac{SS_T - (\sum_{F=A}^D SS_F)}{m(n-1)}$$
(7)

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Sediment yield

The variation of sediment yield depending on the five factors and their levels is shown in Fig 3.4A and 5A respectively. The average amount of sediment yield across replicates varies from 499.2 \pm 20.6 to 60.5 \pm 17.3 g m⁻². Plot-based rainfall simulation data show pronounced relative differences in sediment yield among different combinations of factors and their respective levels (Fig. 3.4A). Experimental plot B10 (0 % vegetation cover, a rainfall intensity of 3.4-4 mm min⁻¹, the slope of 4 %, SiltOM 16-18% of and DLL of < 40cm) shows the highest sediment mass with 499.2 g m⁻², indicating the highest erosion levels under these conditions. The lowest sediment mass (60.5 g m⁻²) was obtained at plot L12 (vegetation cover was >15 %, rainfall intensity < 2.5 mm min⁻¹, and slope between 1 and 3 %). Fig 3.5 shows the means of sediment yield for each factor and each level

and compares them to the overall factor mean (grand mean, dashed line) (ANOM). These graphs show that the amount of sediment increases with an increase in rainfall intensity (Fig. 3.5A). The minimum rainfall intensity needed to initiate soil erosion, in this study, was 2.5 mm min⁻¹. At lower rainfall intensities, the infiltration rate is higher in the beginning. The potential kinetic energy of raindrops is small and the splash effect is weak and so is the sediment yield. In addition, runoff volume is relatively small under lower rainfall intensities (Mohamadi and Kavian, 2015). The relationship between rainfall intensity and sediment yield varied across intensity levels in a systematic way (Fig. 3.5A). The sediment yield increased to 204.9 g m⁻² when the RI increased to level 2, which was 73.5 g m⁻² higher than at RI level 1. The increment was 253.3 g m⁻² and 310.7 g m⁻² with RI levels 3 and 4 respectively, where sediment yields were respectively 1.9 and 2.4 times higher than at RI level 1 (Fig. 3.5A). This result may indicate that at the plot scale, soil loss would linearly increase up to a threshold of rainfall intensity, beyond which soil loss would increase non-linearly. Similarly, (Kandel et al., 2004b) found a non-linear relationship between highintensity rainfall and soil erosion processes. Therefore, it can be suggested that high rainfall intensities resulted in greater soil losses. This is also confirmed by other studies where high intensity rainfall events increased sediment yield (Jebari et al., 2008; Sukartaatmadja et al., 2003; Ziadat and Taimeh, 2013a) and sediment transport.

Soil detachment and runoff significantly increased with rainfall intensity for both uncultivated and cultivated lands (Ziadat and Taimeh, 2013b) but the level of vegetation cover has a significant effect on the soil detachment. As for plot B10, the same rainfall intensity of 3.4-4 mm min⁻¹ was applied to plots E3, C5, and L16 producing 188.1 g m⁻², 207 g m⁻², and 199 g m⁻² average sediment yield respectively (Fig. 3.4). However, in plot B10 the sediment yield was 499.2 g m⁻². Among the rates of sediment yield for four vegetation covers analyzed in this study, vegetation cover level 4 was found most beneficial for preventing soil losses. The eroded sediment yield generally tended to decrease with an increase in vegetation cover (Table 3.3). The highest mean sediment yield (averaged across all other factors) was observed after seedbed preparation (vegetation cover 0 %) with 292.16 g m⁻² (Fig. 3.5A). In this study, increasing vegetation cover dramatically reduces sediment yield which is in accordance with the results of (Donjadee and Chinnarasri, 2012; Lin et al., 2018). (Zapata et al., 2021) mentioned that the vegetation cover interception reduces the diameter of the drops reaching the soil surface and hence reduces the kinetic energy of a raindrop.
(Huang et al., 2012) also described that vegetation cover increases soil surface roughness that acts as a barrier to impede surface runoff and increases infiltration time. Thus, vegetation cover reduces the sediment yield by reducing the kinetic energy of raindrops, intercepting rainfall, increasing surface roughness, and enhancing infiltration times.

A positive relationship was further detected between slope and sediment yield. The sediment yield increased from 162.24 g m⁻² at a slope of 1 % to 297.44 g m⁻² at a slope of 5 % Fig. 3.5A. Previous studies also show that the sediment yield increases with increasing slopes. This indicates a strong positive relationship between slope and sediment yield (Grismer, 2012). Under extreme rainfall intensities, it has been observed that surface runoff velocity and sediment yield are primarily driven by slope inclination (Yan et al., 2018). These observations are likely related to higher overland flow velocities at higher slope gradients (Defersha and Melesse, 2012) resulting in higher sediment yield. A gentle slope is less subject to activation and transportation of eroded sediments. Additionally, the splashing effect of raindrops generates surface sealing on gentle slopes producing more surface runoff carrying sediments. Soil particles are detached from the steep slopes where downward gravity is comparatively large. Therefore, there is a tradeoff between rainfall intensity and slope gradient. (Wu et al., 2018b) proved that rainfall intensity has more influence than slope gradient on sediment yield.

The surface soil texture also governs the sediment yield under varying rainfall intensity events. Water availability and water holding capacity are largely dependent on the texture of the soil profile, especially under rain-fed conditions (Libohova et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2020; Zhou et al. 2020). The decreasing concentration of SiltOM in the surface soil showed an increasing trend in sediment yield except for level 4 (2.5 %) which produced a mean sediment yield of 263.52 g m⁻² which was slightly lower than at level 3 (275.84 g m⁻²). The detachment of soil is mainly affected by the size and weight of soil particles, organic matter, and the kinetic energy of the raindrops (Sadeghi et al., 2017). The silt content varies from 10.2 to 19.5 % in the study area. The loose particles of silt showed a higher tendency to detachment and erosion process. Soil erodibility increases with increasing silt content (Baruah et al., 2019) but it reduces drastically once the crust is formed. However, SiltOM explicated the strong negative effects of mean weight diameter on splash erosion, and the indirect impact of high organic matter (> 2%) on splash erosion by improving the aggregate stability (Sun et al., 2021). Moreover, With high rainfall intensity and

longer test duration, detaching capacity was achieved faster and a surface seal appeared on the soil surface (Michel et al., 2014).

3.2. Surface runoff

At different growth stages of the crop, the runoff process at different rainfall intensities, slope gradients, and soil textures are shown in Fig. 3.4B. The observed mean runoff volume varies between 23.5+1.07 and 6.54+0.62 mm among the plots. The plots where rainfall intensity level 4 was applied showed 42.5 % more surface runoff compared to those plots with rainfall intensity level 1. The increase of runoff in the low rainfall intensities was gentle and later it tend to be large. In general, for the highest rainfall intensity, the recorded runoff depth varied from 23 mm to 17.2 mm. On the other hand, for the events with the lowest rainfall intensity, the recorded runoff depth varied from 10.4 to 6.8 mm. According to the comparison with local meteorological data from the closest weather station, these two classified intensities can be termed as moderate rainfall intensity events and high-intensity storm events respectively. Both of which can produce surface runoff on local slopes in the study area. In our simulation experiments, the rainfall intensity shows a positive relationship with the depth of surface runoff under all vegetation covers. The high rainfall intensity occurring in short duration results in a higher runoff depth (Krisnayanti et al., 2021). The diameter and threshold raindrop velocity tends to increase with higher intensity rainfall. This event is particularly noticeable when the rainfall intensity is at level 4. Heavy raindrops provide more kinetic energy which changes the surface roughness producing pores blockage and soil crusts, which yield higher surface runoff (Lu et al., 2016).

The increasing surface runoff depth is positively related to rainfall intensity at the same slope inclination level and displayed order of 2.5 mm min⁻¹ <2.7-3.3 mm min⁻¹ <3.4-4 mm min⁻¹ <4 mm min⁻¹ (Fig. 3.5B). However, the analyses of the relationship between slope gradient and runoff show increasing surface runoff were observed when the slope increased from 1–3 % (level 2) to >5% (level4) with runoff depth of 10.66 mm and 15.93 mm, respectively. However, it was decreased from 13.573 mm to 10.66 mm despite an increasing slope gradient from <1 % (level 1) to 3 % (level2) and also dropped to 15.08 mm when the slope was >5 % (level 4). The main reason is that observations at slope levels 1 and 2 are performed for soil class 1 and class 2, with high and moderate permeability, respectively (Fig. 3.2A). Previous studies also indicate that surface flow decreases with increasing slope gradient as the rain-bearing area becomes small as at smaller slope gradient the infiltration time is longer at the beginning with high permeable soil conditions (Deng

et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2018a). Also, other studies show that surface runoff increases and tend to stabilize with the further increase of the slope gradient (Zhong and Zhang, 2011) but some studies also show that runoff increases first and then start decreasing with increasing slope gradient (Jourgholami et al., 2021; Li et al., 2020; Li and Yu, 2012). The present study shows similar results. Guo et al., (2018) showed that runoff depth is directly related to rainfall intensity and in a negative relationship with slope gradient. Infiltration rates decrease as slope increases from 6° to 35° and, thus, runoff depth increases to a certain extent until a critical slope gradient of 11° is reached at which infiltration rate trend starts changing (Liu et al., 2015). With further increments in slope, the runoff depth gradually decreases (Jourgholami et al., 2021; Nassif and Wilson, 1975). The rainfall intensity has more impact on runoff than slope gradient in this study which is in line with the work by (Wu et al., 2018b). Since the slope gradients at our research site are well below 10 degrees the stronger impact of rainfall intensities agrees with other studies (Liu et al., 2015)

In this study, vegetation cover had a positive relationship with runoff depth. Fig. 3.5B shows that from level 1 (1-5 %) to level 2 (0 %) of vegetation cover there is an abrupt increase in surface runoff as on bare soil there are no interception losses. Then the runoff depth increases with increasing vegetation cover from level 3 (10-15 %) to level 4 (>15 %). The runoff depth was in the order of level 4 > level 2 > level 3 > level 1 of vegetation cover for both high and low rainfall intensity and all slope gradients. However, many studies show that runoff decreases with increasing vegetation cover due to higher canopy interception and rain redistribution reduces energy and runoff depth (He et al., 2020; Loch, 2000; Meng et al., 2007; Tong Li et al., 2020). The reason for high runoff depth at high vegetation cover can be hydrophobic repellency (De Jonge et al., 2007; Hermansen et al., 2019; Knadel et al., 2016) of the surface soil, as higher vegetation cover extracts more soil water. In fact, low soil moisture conditions under higher vegetation cover as noted during the field experiments. Many studies have reported that surface runoff depth increases under dry conditions such as drought periods (Burch et al., 1989; Buttle and Turcotte, 1999; Gomi et al., 2008; Sosa-Pérez and MacDonald, 2017). These studies suggested that the generation of hydrophobic soil surface conditions was one of the main reasons for this phenomenon under dry conditions. (Burch et al., 1989) for example, found that runoff depth increases from 5 % to 15 % due to the hydrophobic conditions after drought or dry summer. These previous studies suggest that because of drought development water repellent soil surface conditions produce more surface runoff regardless of high vegetation cover. The size of the plot can also have a significant impact on the runoff depth. Results obtained by Smets et al. (2008) indicate that there is significant variation in the effectiveness of vegetation cover on runoff if the plot is less than 11m long. Plot scale significantly affects the influence of surface roughness and vegetation cover on sediment yield and runoff depth (Jourgholami and Labelle, 2020).

The runoff depth changed with changing silt and organic matter content among plots and results suggest that effects are significant (p < 0.027). The results agree with Vaezi et al. (2010), who also observed that runoff significantly correlated with silt (p < 0.001) and organic matter (p < 0.05). Organic matter positively affects the soil permeability, hence reducing the surface runoff depth (Sepaskhah and Bazrafshan-Jahromi, 2006). A similar pattern was observed for levels 1, 2, and 4 of this factor with the runoff averaging 14.05 mm, 13.82 mm, and 12.50 mm, respectively. Slightly increasing runoff depth at level 3 was observed. Results agree with studies indicating that the primary factors affecting surface runoff during rainfall simulation experiments are current soil moisture levels, soil texture, slope, and rainfall intensity (Y. Wang et al., 2016; Ziadat and Taimeh, 2013b). The highest runoff was recorded with 23 mm at plot B10 where SiltOM was at level 3 (Fig. 3.4) (Table. 3.4) and depth to loamy layer < 40 cm (Fig. 3.2). Later the runoff depth tends to decrease to 12.4 mm as SiltOM percentage increases in the field to level 4. A general trend in this study depicts that with increasing SiltOM content there is a decrease in surface runoff depth with a slight difference at level 3. The depth to a loamy layer (DLL) may act contrary to the effect of the silt content on runoff depth. A thicker sandy topsoil (i.e. deeper depth to loamy layer) may positively affect the soil permeability increasing the infiltration and consequently reducing the surface runoff depth. Thus, spatial variation in these soil properties in the study area noticeably influences the runoff generation in the test plots. This has been also proved in previous studies (Brakensiek and Rawls, 1994; Hrabovský et al., 2020; Meena et al., 2020) mentioning that spatial variability of infiltration capacity is related to the spatial variability of topsoil characteristics that consequently affect the runoff generation.

3.3. Carbon and Nitrogen concentration in sediment yield

Soil carbon and nitrogen concentration redistribution is strongly governed by the amount of detached sediment within cultivated lands and it is generally accepted that C and N are preferentially transported during soil erosion (Holz and Augustin, 2021). The average values of carbon and nitrogen losses under each level of vegetation cover, slope, and rainfall intensities are presented in Fig. 3.4C & D respectively. Nitrogen and carbon contents of observed sediment yields

are highly correlated and vary among experimental plots (Fig 3.4. C & D). Total C and N losses ranged between 12 ± 1.02 to 3.29 ± 0.496 g m⁻² and 0.948 ± 0.073 to 0.106 ± 0.016 g m⁻² respectively with moderate to high standard deviation, depending on RI, vegetation cover percentage, and SiltOM content (Fig. 3.4. C & D). As reported for the soil loss, C and N losses on the plots were positively related to the rainfall intensity ranging between 2.8 to 7.7 g m⁻² and 0.2 to 0.4 g m⁻² (Fig. 3.4).

In Fig. 3.5C and 3.5D, it is obvious that the highest nutrient losses were found at vegetation cover more than 0 % despite other land covers percentages contributing less to the nutrient losses (Fig. 3.5 C & D). However, C and N losses were higher in at a vegetation cover of 15 % and in barren land when the soil was subjected to rainfall intensity level 4 (4 mm min⁻¹) (Fig. 3.4. C & D). This behavior is related to the absence of topsoil protective cover that reduces the impact of raindrops and detachment of soil particles (Nunes et al., 2011). The highest C loss was found under RI of > 4 mm min⁻¹ with values ranging between 12+1.02 g m⁻² and 7.68 +1.12 g m⁻² after 8 min rainfall, respectively for vegetation cover levels 4 and 3 (Fig. 3.5C). Regarding N losses, the highest losses were recorded in the plots with the highest C losses. The smallest C and N loss was observed as 2.8 and 0.2 g m⁻² respectively at low rainfall intensities when detachment forces were small (Fig. 3.5 C & D). The experiments carried out in this study confirm the soil susceptibility to loose nutrients under specific vegetation cover, even at a low rainfall intensity level (< 2.5 mm min⁻¹). All the study plots have varying silt and organic matter contents, which made soils to lose nutrients defining crusting indexes (Awadhwal and Thierstein, 1985). The different values of runoff induce differences in sediment yield and transport of nutrients. Higher rainfall intensities produce higher runoff depth. It could be confirmed that nutrient losses increase exponentially with higher rainfall intensities. The analysis of slope gradient effect on nutrient loss, where higher soil losses occur, shows that soil sealing can be the main factor that limits runoff as it does not increase significantly with increasing slope (Fig. 3.5B) (Ramos et al., 2019). However, as sediment yields are increasing with an increasing slope so do the C and N losses captured in the collected sediments except at slope level 3 where C and N losses are reduced as slope increases from level 2 to level 3. The reason is probably that the plots with slope level 3 lie in soil class 3 with throughout sandy texture and lower C and N concentrations in the topsoil (Yost and Hartemink, 2019). The results suggest that a permanent vegetation cover is essential to reduce C and N losses.



Fig. 3. 4: Mean temporal variations and standard error (SE) in sediment yield, runoff, carbon, and nitrogen in relation to heterogeneous field conditions

Field condition	Vegetation cover	Mean sediment yield	Standard error	
	%	g m ⁻²	g m ⁻²	
Cultivation	5	241	31.1	
Seedbed reparation	0	292	35.8	
Emergence stage	10	219	22.5	
Leaf development	15	140	177	
(3 Leaves unfold)	15	149	17.7	

 Table 3. 3. Mean sediment yield observed under changing soil surface conditions (vegetation cover factor levels)



Fig. 3. 5: Analysis of means (ANOM)) for A: Sediment yield (g m⁻²), B: Runoff (mm), C: Carbon (g m⁻²), D: Nitrogen content (g m⁻²). Mean values for each level of each factor (blue dots) and the overall mean of each factor (dashed green line) are shown.

3.4. Optimal conditions for maximum sediment yield, surface runoff, Nitrogen, and Carbon content

The obtained S/N ratio responses for sediment yield, surface runoff, carbon, and nitrogen content are shown in Table 3.4 and Table 3.5. A Higher S/N ratio implies low variations between the desired output and the measured output. The maximum S/N ratio values among the 16 experiments, indicated in table 3.4 were 53.97 for sediment yield and 26.21 for runoff, 21.59 and -0.81 for C and N losses respectively in the test plot 10 with factor combination of SiltOM₃-VC₂-SS₄-RI₃-DLL₁ (Table 3.4). Inserting these values from table 3.4 into Eqn. 2 resulted in mean values of S/N ratios for each factor level. The maximum values of means of the S/N ratio were then identified. The bold values in Table 3.5 show the factor level with the highest S/N ratio for each factor and output variable (sediment yield, runoff, C and N losses). The highest mean S/N ratio for sediment yield

was obtained at factor level 4 for SiltOM, SS, and RI, at level 2 for VC, and level 1 for DLL (Table 3.5). Thus, we can predict that the highest sediment yield should be obtained with the factor level combination SiltOM₄-VC₂-SS₄-RI₄-DLL₁ (Table 3.5). On the other hand, the lowest sediment yield should be obtained with the factor combination SiltOM₁-VC₄-SS₁-RI₁-DLL₂. The estimated optimum factor level combination for obtaining the highest surface runoff was found to be SiltOM₃-VC₄-SS₃-RI₄-DLL₁ (Table 3.5). The highest rainfall intensity (>4 mm min⁻¹) led to the highest volumes of runoff, followed by the factor vegetation cover (maximum values at Level 4) (Table 3.5). Earlier studies showed that surface runoff depth is sensitive to the plot size and type of vegetation (Herweg and Ludi, 1999; Kort et al., 1998; Zuazo and Pleguezuelo, 2008). The optimum condition for maximum C and N losses were found to be SiltOM₄-VC₂-SS₄-RI₄-DLL₁ respectively (Table 3.5). The results indicate that rainfall intensity was the main factor that most influenced the sediment yield, runoff, C and N losses in the study area followed by vegetation cover and then slope steepness.

Factors/ Plot	s/ Combination of levels		els	Silt OM	vegetation cover	Slope steep-	Rainfall intensity	Depth to loamy		S/N				
	Silt OM	VC	SS	RI	DLL	(%)	(%)	ness (%)	$(\%) \qquad \min^{-1})$	layer (cm)	Sediment yield	Runoff	С	N
1	1	1	1	1	1	>20	1-5	<1	<2.5	<40	36.08	16.53	1.65	-19.47
2	1	2	2	2	2	>20	0	1-3	2.7-3.3	40-55	41.98	19.05	10.35	-11.20
3	1	3	3	3	3	>20	10-15	3-5	3.4-4	55-70	45.47	24.62	13.96	-8.48
4	1	4	4	4	4	>20	>15	>5	>4	>70	46.70	27.42	17.71	-3.72
5	2	1	2	3	4	18-20	1-5	1-3	3.4-4	>70	46.31	17.70	11.96	-10.69
6	2	2	1	4	3	18-20	0	<1	>4	55-70	49.35	26.12	17.55	-4.56
7	2	3	4	1	2	18-20	10-15	>5	<2.5	40-55	43.60	19.87	9.65	-12.44
8	2	4	3	2	1	18-20	>15	3-5	2.7-3.3	<40	45.95	24.87	11.01	-10.35
9	3	1	3	4	2	16-18	1-5	3-5	>4	40-55	51.39	25.48	11.43	-10.58
10	3	2	4	3	1	16-18	0	>5	3.4-4	<40	53.97	26.21	21.59	-0.81
11	3	3	1	2	4	16-18	10-15	<1	2.7-3.3	>70	44.75	21.98	13.13	-9.09
12	3	4	2	1	3	16-18	>15	1-3	<2.5	55-70	35.63	18.42	6.02	-15.45
13	4	1	4	2	3	<16	1-5	>5	2.7-3.3	55-70	50.18	16.31	12.41	-8.20
14	4	2	3	1	4	<16	0	3-5	<2.5	>70	47.97	20.32	13.99	-8.54
15	4	3	2	4	1	<16	10-15	1-3	>4	<40	51.18	24.95	21.05	-0.46
16	4	4	1	3	2	<16	>15	<1	3.4-4	40-55	41.52	23.76	15.01	-7.19

Table 3. 4. The S/N ratio of each experiment resulting from a different combination of factors and levels.

Output	Experimental		Mean S	'N ratio		Delta	Rank
Parameter	factors	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	-	
Sediment	Silt+Organic	42.56	46.30	46.44	47.71	5.15	4
Yield	matter						
	Vegetation Cover	45.99	48.32	46.25	42.45	5.87	2
	Slope Steepness	42.92	43.78	47.69	48.61	5.69	3
	Rainfall Intensity	40.82	45.71	46.82	49.65	8.83	1
	Depth to Loamy	46.79	44.62	45.16	46.43	2.17	5
	Layer						
Runoff	Silt+ Organic	21.01	22.14	23.02	21.34	1 69	5
Nulloii	matter	21.71	22.17	23.02	21.34	1.07	5
	Vegetation Cover	19.01	22.93	22.86	23.62	4.61	2
	Slope Steepness	22.1	20.03	23.82	22.45	3.79	3
	Rainfall Intensity	18.79	20.56	23.07	25.99	7.21	1
	Depth to Loamy	23.14	22.04	21.37	21.86	1.78	4
	Layer						
Carbon	Silt+ Organic	10.92	12.54	12.91	15.75	4.83	3
	matter						
	Vegetation Cover	9.36	15.74	14.58	12.44	6.37	2
	Slope Steepness	11.83	12.48	12.60	15.21	3.37	4
	Rainfall Intensity	7.83	11.73	15.50	17.07	9.24	1
	Depth to Loamy	13.83	11.61	12.49	14.20	2.59	5
	Layer						
Nitrogen	Silt+ Organic m	-10.72	-9.51	-8.98	-6.10	4.61	3
-	Vegetation Cover	-12.24	-6.28	-7.62	-9.18	5.95	2
	Slope Steepness	-10.08	-9.45	-9.49	-6.29	3.78	4
	Rainfall Intensity	-13.97	-9.71	-6.79	-4.83	9.14	1
	Depth to Loamy	-7.77	-10.35	-9.17	-8.01	2.58	5
	Laver						

Table 3. 5. Mean S/N ratio response table for the investigated experimental factors

3.5. Percentage contribution of the experimental factors to sediment yield, runoff, C and N losses

ANOVA was used to estimate the contribution of the individual factors to sediment yield, runoff, C and N losses (Table 3.6). Rainfall intensity contributed most strongly to sediment yield (40.55 %) followed by slope steepness (23.76 %) and vegetation cover (17.73 %). (Peng and Wang, 2012) indicated that soil loss is positively related to rainfall events with high antecedent precipitations. The slope gradient can be more important than vegetation cover because of its relation with the

underlying geological formations resulting in varying soil characteristics. In consequence, slope gradients are related to soil moisture and hence the soil's susceptibility to soil detachment. Vegetation cover yields higher soil moisture at low to moderate slopes but it falls sharply at steeper slopes as soil permeability decreases that increases runoff till a threshold slope, moreover, the flow velocity becomes larger with increasing slope gradient due to increasing shear stress (Defersha and Melesse, 2012). The impact duration of runoff on steeper slopes becomes smaller and hence it weakens the protecting effect of surface seal, increasing the impact of rainfall splashing on the soil surface (Zhao et al., 2015). It produces more detachment of soil particles and transportation. However, the sum of silt content and organic matter only contributes 14.77 % to sediment yield. (Ziadat and Taimeh, 2013a) showed a significant correlation between the ultimate infiltration rate and soil properties such as organic matter (R = 0.48) and silt content (R = 0.72). The low contribution of silt and organic matter to our results is most likely related to their comparatively low variation among measurement plots and due to the high content of organic matter that is varying from 2.3 to 2.4 % among the test plots. The high organic matter improves the aggregate stability, reduces the bulk density, and increases moisture retention and soil shear strength that helps in soil stability and resistance against erosion (Ekwue, 1990). Previous studies also concluded that aggregate stability is closely and negatively related to the soil detachment from field experiments under rainfall simulators on micro plots (Roth et al., 1987; Van Dijk et al., 1996). The factor of least importance in our study was the depth to the loamy layer (DLL) (3.17 %). This can be explained by the fact that the loamy layer with low permeability generally starts at relatively deep depths (lowest depth approximately 38 cm) and at many locations sand-filled pre-glacial ice cracks with higher permeability were observed in the loamy layer (Kühn, 2003). Therefore, differences in permeability and water storage capacity (risk of waterlogged soils) between experimental plots were probably relatively low. ANOVA results for the nitrogen (N) and carbon (C) content of sediment yield were similar (Table 3.6). As for sediment yield, rainfall intensity contributed most to the overall variation of C and N contents. The respective percentage contribution of rainfall intensity, vegetation cover, SiltOM content, slope and depth to loamy layer was 51.70%, 21.50 %, 12.55 %, 9.63 % and 4.62 % respectively for Nitrogen content and 52.31 %, 24.07 %, 12.39 %, 6.81 % and 4.41 % respectively for Carbon content. Runoff was mostly influenced by rainfall intensity (55.45 %) followed by vegetation cover, slope, depth to loamy layer, and SiltOM content. The respective contribution was 55.45 %, 24.71 %, 3.18 %, and 2.78 % (Table 3.6), agreeing with the findings of (Kirkby et al., 2004). The stronger impact of vegetation cover compared with the slope can be explained by the stronger variability of vegetation cover at different soil management stages during the experimental period in the study area. In addition, at different slope levels varying soil compositions and moisture content affect the potential of surface runoff.

Output			$\rho_F \%$		
Parameters	SiltOM	Vegetation	Slope	Rainfall	Depth to Loamy
1 af afficiers	SILOW	cover	steepness	intensity	Layer
Sediment yield	14.77	17.74	23.77	40.56	3.17
Runoff	2.78	24.71	13.88	55.45	3.18
Nitrogen content	12.55	21.50	9.63	51.70	4.62
Carbon content	12.39	24.07	6.81	52.31	4.41

Table 3. 6. Percentage contribution of each factor (ρF %) for the different output parameters as estimated by ANOVA

3.6. Linear regression models

Linear regression models are used to predict sediment yield, runoff, as well as C and N losses as a function of Silt + OM, vegetation cover, slope, rainfall intensity, and depth to the loamy layer. No transformation has been performed on the response variables. The estimated regression models are shown in the Eqns. (8-11).

Sediment yield = -7.2 + 40.9 SiltOM - 35.1 VC + 46.9 Slope + 58.6 RI - 18.4 DLL

 $(R^2 = 82.53) \tag{8}$

Runoff = 0.10 - 0.341 SiltOM + 1.807 VC + 0.933 Slope + 3.743 RI - 0.641 DLL

 $(R^2 = 79.66) \tag{9}$

C = -2.08 + 0.810 SiltOM + 0.371 VC + 0.446 Slope + 1.736 RI - 0.440 DLL

 $(R^2 = 60.97) \tag{10}$

N = -0.172 + 0.0629 SiltOM + 0.0299 VC + 0.0445 Slope + 0.1373 RI - 0.0381 DLL $(R^2 = 62.13)$ (11)

Where sediment yield, runoff depth, C and N are g m⁻², SiltOM and VC reprsents levels.

The capability of these empirical regression models was checked by using the coefficient of determination R^2 . Regression models for sediment yield, runoff, carbon, and nitrogen yielded R^2

values of 82.53 %, 79.66 %, 60.97 %, and 62.13 % respectively. Residual plots (Fig. 3.6 A, B, C & D) indicate that residuals are independent and normally distributed. Sediment yield is positively related to SiltOM but runoff depth is negatively related. This indicates that a high amount of SiltOM would increase the erodibility of the soil but would reduce the runoff rate. This is also evident from Fig. 3.5A and B. The sediment yield is more sensitive to SiltOM compared to runoff. Coefficients of SiltOM for C and N losses show a positive relationship. C was more responsive to SiltOM as compared to N. It is suggested to have further research to find a threshold point for SiltOM in the soil to achieve the lowest sediment yield and runoff. Fig. 3.7 represents the scatter plot of predicted vs observed values with high R². The shaded band is a pointwise 95 % confidence interval on the fitted values. These results confirm the ability of the Taguchi method for the prediction of soil erosion in response to different combinations of factors/levels. The regression equation for sediment yield was further applied to predict sediment yields across the entire field for identifying areas within the field that have a higher susceptibility to soil erosion (Fig. 3.8).



Fig. 3. 6: Distribution of residuals of the regression models for sediment yield, runoff, carbon, and nitrogen



Fig. 3. 7: Predicted versus observed sediment yield, runoff depth, carbon, and nitrogen losses



Fig. 3. 8: Identification of potential soil erosion risk areas

4. Conclusion

Different scenarios were tested with 16 effective simulated rainfall events under different rainfall intensities, vegetation cover, heterogeneous in-field slope, and soil conditions. The results indicated that runoff, soil, and CN losses increase with increasing rainfall intensity. it was observed that sediment yield, overland flow, CN content were greatly affected by rainfall intensity having a contribution of 40.56 %, 55.45 %, 51.70 %, and 52.31 % respectively among the other factors. However, the least contributing factor was depth to loamy layer for all output variables except for surface runoff. The results show that the worst conditions among 16 plots were at SiltOM₃-VC₂-SS₄-RI₃-DLL₁ for sediment yield. However, predicted experimental factors for the highest sediment yield were found with the factor combination SiltOM₄-VC₂-SS₄-RI₄-DLL₁ and the lowest sediment yield was observed with the factor combination SiltOM₁-VC₄-SS₁-RI₁-DLL₂. The threshold rainfall intensity for soil erosion was 2.5 mm min⁻¹. VC and DLL are inversely correlated with sediment yield, while SiltOM, slope, and rainfall intensity are directly correlated.

The surface runoff was negatively related to SiltOM and DLL, but the vegetative cover, slope, and rainfall intensity positively affect the runoff. Regarding, C and N, except the DLL, other factors show a positive correlation. Based on the experimental results, statistical regression models were developed, which were applied for identifying the erosion risk areas at the field scale. The applied workflow allowed for efficiently predicting soil erosion and identifying areas susceptible to soil loss at a high spatial resolution. The study approved the capabilities of Taguchi's fractional factorial design to efficiently analyze the response of soil erosion to dominant driving factors and detect and quantify in-field heterogeneity of erosion risk areas. The statistical models generated in this study can be used by environmental agencies and farmers for spatially explicit application of erosion control measures within fields with high spatial heterogeneity. Further, it is suggested that combining GIS with such numerical models can give great benefits for water quality control and soil management on larger scales with intensive spatial heterogeneous field conditions.

Chapter 4

Comparison of predictive modeling approaches to estimate soil erosion under spatially heterogeneous field conditions

This chapter has been submitted in Journal "Environmental Modelling & Software"

1. Introduction

Soil systems are one of the key components affecting ecosystem services (Baer and Birgé, 2018; Baveye et al., 2016; Bouma et al., 2022) upon which many policies depend, including those crucial for water and nutrient cycling, agricultural sustainability, and climate change (Elbasiouny et al., 2022). However, soil systems are subjected to degradation processes such as soil loss through water and wind erosion, which can be caused by inappropriate land management and is expected to intensify with climate change (Chalise et al., 2019). Soil erosion causes loss of fertile topsoil, organic matter, and essential nutrients (Peri et al., 2022), as well as reduction of rootable soil depth leading to crop yield losses (Pimentel, 2006). Soil erosion by water accounts for the biggest share of soil loss in Central European agricultural ecosystems (Panagos et al., 2015). Studies in Lower Saxony, Germany show the highest annual loss on a single field was 53.07 t ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Steinhoff-Knopp and Burkhard, 2018). In addition, a significant increase is predicted in the frequency and magnitude of soil losses due to increasing rainfall intensities caused by changing climatic patterns (Fonseca et al., 2014).

In recent years, a large number of runoff and soil erosion models with different representations of erosion and sedimentation processes have been developed (Raza et al. 2021). Their output differences and the resulting influence on model predictions have been the subject of several reviews (Raza et al., 2022a, 2021). Laboratory studies, small-scale in-field experiments, and empirical and physically-based erosion models have proved to be good tools to investigate these processes (Pandey et al., 2016). Moreover, these tools can help to understand the impact of heterogeneous soil physical and hydrological characteristics, climate variability, and floods on soil erosion, and hence help to improve controlling measures.

Several large-scale soil erosion modeling approaches such as EUROSEM (Kinnell, 1999), MUSLE (Sadeghi et al., 2014), SEDD (Ferro and Porto, 2000), and PSIAC (Garg and Jothiprakash, 2012) have been studied and examined (Raza et al., 2021). Despite their ability to investigate, and predict soil erosion processes, most of these models do not provide reliable erosion prediction over spatially heterogeneous soil cover and soil physical properties at the field scale (Jetten et al., 1999). The main reasons for uncertainties in the erosion predictions are (1) Low spatial and temporal resolution of input data (de Vente and Poesen, 2005) (2) inefficient parameterization (Feng et al., 2010) (3) unfitting calibration (Mondal et al., 2017). For instance, quality erosion predictions with

a simple empirical RUSLE model using low detailed input data over a large catchment require intensive calibration. Another limitation comes from the assumption that the soil properties (e.g., particle composition, and soil moisture content) are spatially uniform, whereas the spatial variability of these properties can be very high, even at the scale of a single field. In particular, spatial variability is known to have significant impacts on crop growth and soil water relationship in dynamic erosion modeling. Moreover, a few dynamic models have been developed to simulate erosion processes over a certain period, but they do not necessarily consider dynamic variables such as soil-water balance and vegetation cover (Schymanski et al., 2009).

Temporally dynamic erosion estimations have been conducted with several landscape models such as SWIM (Krysanova et al., 2005), IQQM (Simons et al., 1996), TOPMODEL (Beven et al., 1984), and LASCAM (Zammit et al., 2003). Such models tend to predict accurately sediment transport and deposition but their application is normally limited due to a lack of input information, poor representation of vegetation dynamics as well as uncertainties related to the parameters involved. Most often, these models require detailed input data and outstanding computing systems.

To address some of these issues related to conventional soil erosion modeling, a few erosion models are integrated into agroecosystem models (i.e., simulating soil water and crop growth in high temporal resolution). In this study, an attempt was made to integrate dynamic erosion models and a crop growth model to be applied at the field scale using the Scientific Impact assessment and Modeling (SIMPLACE) platform. SIMPLACE is a flexible modeling platform for advanced agroecosystem analysis that allows the combination of multiple components in a model solution (Gaiser et al., 2013b). The integrated model simulates the dynamics of vegetation cover under specified field management schemes, runoff, and erosion processes.

Only a few studies have been conducted using dynamic models to simulate erosion under heterogeneous soil and crop growth conditions at the field scale. Therefore, this study was undertaken to test the capabilities of the integrated model solution to simulate soil erosion under highly heterogeneous field conditions and to compare its performance with a statistical model for the field conditions. Given the foregoing, the main objective of this research is to provide insights into the uncertainties involved in the simulation of sub-field scale runoff and soil erosion processes due to the model structure and parameter estimation.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Experimental site description

Measurements were conducted at a field site at Großmutz in Löwenberger Land municipality, in the north part of the federal state of Brandenburg, Germany (52° 56' 25.548" N, 13°7'57.648" E) (Fig. 4.1). Brandenburg has a temperate humid climate zone. The research area has 6.25 ha and is characterized by heterogonous soil conditions with undulated slopes ranging between 1% and 7%. Topsoil texture is classified as silty and medium to loamy sand. Soil physical and hydrological properties vary across the slopes in the research site. The field is undulating which has led to differences in edaphic and hydrological features, with terrain height averages from 51.5 to 57.5 m a.s.l. and pronounced slope gradients (Fig. 4.1). The climate of the region is temperate and humid with average rainfall of 554 mm year⁻¹ (Gutzler et al., 2015) and mean annual temperatures between 7.8 °C and 9.5 °C (Ihinegbu and Ogunwumi, 2021, German weather station 2020). The daily mean weather data from (January 2019–September 2022) are presented in Fig. 4.2.



Fig. 4. 1: Experimental site in Löwenberger Land, Brandenburg, Germany, (May 8th, 2020, Google Earth). The site topography was derived from the 2008 LiDAR imagery (https://geobroker.geobasis-bb.de).

Crop growth and development stages were regularly monitored with biomass sampling and leaf area index (LAI) measurements. Destructive samples were taken for monitoring cop phenological stages and fresh and dry biomass. Non-distractive samples were taken for crop height and LAI

measurements. Data on the soil physical and hydrological properties was derived from field surveys at 87 different soil augering locations and subsequent laboratory analyses (Table 4.1). Erosion measurements were taken from 16 plots with factorial combinations of the depth to a loamy layer, slope inclination, and soil organic matter (SOM). On-field erosion, runoff, and crop-related observations and measurements were conducted at different times (Table 4.2). The 16 locations were considered to be well distributed in the research site (Fig. 4.1, Table 4.1) (Raza et al., 2022b). Details of the scheme for the selection of these points have been mentioned in (Raza et al., 2022).

Plot	Slope	SOM	K	LAI	λ	Rainfall	Applied	Total soil
	%	70		III / III		mm/min	railliaii Mm	holding
								capacity
								mm
1	1.48	2.30	0.30	0.01	0.165	<2.5	16.24	103.42
2	2.9	2.48	0.33	0	0.200	2.7-3.3	18.72	84.78
3	3.1	2.27	0.34	0.15	0.115	3.4-4	29.88	95.05
4	4.8	1.88	0.37	0.2	0.083	>4	35.52	73.09
5	3.8	2.47	0.29	0.1	0.165	3.4-4	22.9	92.54
6	1.79	2.40	0.32	0	0.200	>4	32.4	92.45
7	4.78	1.85	0.33	0.15	0.115	<2.5	19.96	90.76
8	3.3	2.15	0.35	0.2	0.083	2.7-3.3	30.72	92.45
9	4.07	2.03	0.31	0	0.165	>4	30.72	87.21
10	5	2.20	0.29	0	0.200	3.4-4	32.56	76.62
11	2.47	2.63	0.25	0.15	0.115	2.7-3.3	23.44	69.63
12	2.23	2.12	0.27	0.2	0.083	<2.5	19.44	76.80
13	8.02	2.50	0.34	0.1	0.165	2.7-3.3	16.8	73.52
14	4.65	2.47	0.28	0	0.200	<2.5	19.8	90.45
15	4.36	2.43	0.25	0.15	0.115	>4	30.2	88.78
16	2.57	2.42	0.31	0.2	0.083	3.4-4	28.24	87.85

Table 4. 1. Tests plots with factorial combinations for measuring soil erosion using a rainfall simulator

SOM: soil organic matter, K: soil erodibility factor, LAI: leaf area index measured with SunScan Canopy Analysis System, λ : efficiency of entrainment,

Purpose	Activity	Date	Сгор	
calibration	Runoff/Erosion	2020-2021	-	
	LAI/Biomass	2019-2020	Winter Triticale	
	LAI/Biomass	2021-2022	Rapeseed ¹	
validation	Runoff/Erosion	2021	-	
	LAI/Biomass	2020-2021	Winter Triticale	
	LAI/Biomass	2021-2022	Rapeseed ²	
			-	

Table 4. 2. List of data collection activities for calibration and validation

Rapeseed¹: Half samples (13 points) were used for calibration, Rapeseed²: Half samples (13 points) were used for validation



Fig. 4. 2: Weather in research site; (A) cumulative daily precipitation; (B) mean daily maximum (red) and minimum (blue) temperature; (C) mean daily irradiation over the experimental period. This weather data was collected from the weather station network maintained by the Deutscher Wetterdienst (DWD).

2.2. General overview of the modeling structure

Within the modeling framework SIMPLACE (simplace.net), a model solution was designed which combines dynamic crop growth (Lintul5) (Ewert et al., 2011), and soil water balance (SlimWater, (Addiscott and Whitmore, 1991) with the runoff curve number approach (Shi et al., 2009) and two soil erosion methods, namely Freebairn and Rose. A third approach was the application of a locally-based statistical model developed for the site conditions by (Raza et al., 2022c). The three approaches to model soil erosion were chosen for the following reasons:

- The approaches of Freebairn (Freebairn and Wockner, 1986) and Rose (Silburn, 2011) have been widely used, e.g, Freebairn model in (Bahri et al., 2019; Connolly et al., 2002; Dang et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2018), and Rose model in (Rose, 2001)
- 2. Freebairn and Rose models provide provision to understand soil water dynamics by integrating runoff parameter
- 3. A local statistical model was developed based on the observations from rainfall simulator experiments at the study site (Raza et al., 2022c)

The selected Freebairn and Rose soil erosion models are empirical approaches to simulate sediment yield and were combined with sub-models for estimating runoff and aboveground soil cover in a mechanistic way. The main drivers determining the sediment yield in these models include site topography, soil physical characteristics, soil moisture content, runoff, soil cover percentage, and supporting practice factors. The statistical model does not simulate soil erosion in a mechanistic or process-based way but takes into account rainfall intensity, slope, vegetation cover, soil texture, and depth to loamy layer in the field as predictors. Detailed information about the statistical model can be found in Raza et al. (2022), whereas the SIMPLACE model solutions are described in the following section (2.2.1).

2.2.1. Description of the SIMPLACE model solution

Two model solutions were developed to represent sediment yield in a daily timestep with the SIMPLACE framework. Each solution employed either Freebairn or Rose methods to represent soil erosion but shared the same structure for soil-plant-atmosphere processes, e.g.: SIMPLACE<Lintul5, SlimWater, Freebarin> and SIMPLACE<Lintul5, SlimWater, Rose>. In this way, the fraction of soil cover is dynamically simulated taking into account the green and senesced leaf area index (LAI) calculated by the Lintul5 module. Soil moisture is calculated based on soil

water holding characteristics and atmospheric demand obtained by the Penman-Monteith and dual coefficient methods described in Allen et al. (1998). Both soil cover and moisture status are employed to calculate rainfall runoff, which in turn is an input for the erosion simulations with Freebairn or Rose method. An overview of the main interconnections across data inputs, model components, and variables to calculate sediment yield is provided in Fig. 4.3.



Fig. 4. 3: Simplified illustration of the model solutions developed for sediment yield in SIMPLACE (A) Freebairn model (B) Rose model. Green circles represent model input data and parameters, blue boxes are the modules within the SIMPLACE modeling platform, and orange boxes are the state variables.

2.2.2. Runoff

A SIMPLACE<RunoffCurveNumber_APSIM> component was implemented in this study following the same framework used in the widely used APSIM platform (Keating et al., 2003a). This component uses the soil cover fraction, daily rainfall, and soil moisture content to simulate the runoff volume according to the Curve Number approach (Munna et al., 2021). In addition, the calculations also consider the effects of surface organic matter deposited on the soil surface as described in the APSIM platform, which was originally adapted from the PERFECT model (Hajigholizadeh et al., 2018). Parameters describing the reduction of runoff due to surface residue (CNcov and CNred) and soil characteristic curve number (CN2) can be modified to represent different field conditions. The soil cover fraction is expressed by the Beer-lambert law as a function of LAI and surface organic matter.

$$Cover_{Green} = 1 - e^{(-K_{Green} * \text{LAI}_{Green})}$$
(1)

$$Cover_{Senes} = 1 - e^{(-K_{Senes} * LAI_{Senes})}$$
⁽²⁾

$$Cover_{SurfOM} = 1 - e^{(-K_{SurfOM} * SurfOM)}$$
(3)

$$Cover_{Total} = 1 - (1 - Cover_{Green}) * (1 - Cover_{Senes})$$
(4)

The surface cover is estimated considering the surface organic matter using the add cover principle

$$CoverFraction = (1 - (1 - Cover_{Total}) * (1 - Cover_{SurfOM}))$$
(5)

Where LAI_{Green} is Green Leaf Area Index (m²/m²), LAI_{Senes} is Senesced Leaf Area Index (m²/m²), SurfOM (t/ha) is the soil surface residues; K_{Green}, K_{Senes}, and K_{SurfOM} are the extinction coefficients for green LAI, for senesced LAI and SurfOM, respectively.

Under the presence of soil cover, the CN2 value is internally adjusted to account for the runoff reduction due to surface residues and canopy interception. Surface residues inhibit the transport of water across the soil surface during runoff events and so the method uses a linear response curve to reduce runoff as a function of the amount of crop and residue cover. The effect on runoff is specified by a threshold surface cover (CN_{Cov}), above which there is no effect, and the corresponding curve number reduction (CN_{Red}) (Eqn. 6). A second step correction is applied to account for the preceding status of soil moisture, which scale a new CN value between dry and wet

conditions of soil moisture in the top 45 cm soil depth (Eqn. 12 to 14). Runoff is then calculated with the corrected CN_{final} for soil moisture and soil cover conditions as shown in Eqn. 15-16.

Reduction in CN due to surface cover:

$$CN_{CoverRed} = min(\frac{CoverFrac}{CNcov} * CNred, CNred)$$
(6)

$$CN2 = (\max(0, CN_{bare} - CN_{coverRed}))$$
⁽⁷⁾

Soil moisture factor:

$$FC_{frac[i]} = (SWC_{[i]} - WP_{[i]}) / (FC_{[i]} - WP_{[i]}) \qquad \text{where } 0 \le FC_{frac} \le 1$$
(8)

$$SF = 1/(1 - \exp(-4.16))$$
 (9)

$$pWeight_{[i]} = SF * (1 - \exp(-4.16 * \min(1, D_{[i]} / ED))$$
(10)

$$CNSW_{fac} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} (FC_{frac[i]} * pWeight_{[i]})$$
(11)

Where, *SWC* is the soil water content (m^3/m^3) , *FC* is the field capacity (m^3/m^3) , WP is the wilting point (m^3/m^3) , *pWeight* is a weighting factor as a function of soil depth, SF is the scaling factor used for *pWeight*, D is the depth of soil layer [i] and ED is the effective depth for which soil moisture exerts influence in runoff (e.g., 45 cm); CNSWfac is the integrated soil moisture factor for the runoff calculations.

Calculate CN at wet and dry conditions and scale with CNSWfac (Boughton, 1989):

$$CN_1 = (CN_2/(2.334 - 0.0133400 * CN_2))$$
⁽¹²⁾

$$CN_3 = (CN_2/(0.4036 - 0.005964 * CN_2))$$
⁽¹³⁾

$$CN_{final} = (CN_1 + (CN_3 - CN_1) * CNSWfac)$$
(14)

Where CNSWfac is soil water factor to correct CN

Potential max retention (s):

$$s = 254 * \left(\frac{100}{CN_{final}} - 1\right) \tag{15}$$

Runoff (Q):

$$Q = (P - a * s)^2 / (P + (1 - \alpha) * s)$$
(16)

Where Q is runoff (mm), s is the retention parameter, P is depth of rainfall (mm), α is constant to correct rainfall after the start of runoff.

2.2.3. Crop growth and LAI dynamics (Lintul5)

The model component LINTUL5 is used in this study to simulate crop growth and LAI dynamics (Srivastava et al., 2016) including a module to simulate 1D root growth (SLIMRoots) (Seidel et al., 2022). In LINTUL5, daily temperature sums and crop-specific requirements are used to simulate the crop development stage (DVS) and progression from emergence (DVS = 0.0) to anthesis (DVS = 1.0) and maturity (DVS = 2.0). The model uses the concept of radiation use efficiency, which can vary throughout the crop's growth cycle and is depending on average air temperature and atmospheric CO₂ concentration. Potential biomass growth is reduced by low soil moisture, whereas the effects of atmospheric CO₂ concentration on radiation use efficiency and transpiration rates are detailed in (Oomen et al., 2016). Biomass is partitioned into roots, stems, leaves, and yield as a function of DVS, and water dynamics. Soil water is simulated by estimating daily changes in soil water content in a given number of soil layers based on the soil water balance approach. Evapotranspiration is calculated using a dual crop coefficient according to FAO56 methods (Allen et al., 1998). Soil temperature is simulated using methods from the APEX model (Gassman et al., 2010).

2.2.4. Soil erosion model approaches

2.2.4.1. Freebairn

A modified Universal Soil Loss Equation proposed by Freebairn and Wockner (Freebairn and Wockner, 1986) predicts soil erosion considering variations in soil loss with runoff volume and cover fraction. This approach uses MUSLE erodibility, slope length, and a support factor (Djoukbala et al., 2019).

The model has the following form:

$$SedConc = 16.52 - 0.46 * COV + 0.0031 * COV^{2}$$
(When Soil Cover < 0.5) (17)

$$SedConc = 2.54 - 0.0254 * COV$$
 (When Soil Cover >= 0.5) (18)

$$A = \frac{SedConc*LS*K*P*Q}{10} \tag{19}$$

Where A (t/ha) is the event soil loss, COV (%) is the cover fraction (e.g., *CoverFraction* * 100), LS is the slope length and steepness factor, K (dimensionless) is the soil erodibility factor, P (dimensionless) is the supporting practice factor (in this study set equal to 1), and Q (mm) is the event runoff. The 1/10 resolves the unit's conversion to obtain A in t/ha.

LS is a slope and length factor in USLE, is based on the equation (Presbitero et al., 1995),

$$LS = (65.41 * S^{2} + 4.56 * S + 0.065) * (L/22.1)^{m}$$
(20)

$$m = 0.6 * (1 - e^{-35.835 * S}) \tag{21}$$

LS is the slope length and steepness factor, S is sine of slope angle, and L (m) is the length of the catchment.

2.2.4.2. Rose model

The Rose model is a simplified sediment concentration function developed in 1985 (Rose, 1985). The equation is given as

$$E = 2700 * S * (1.0 - cover) * \lambda * \frac{Q}{100}$$
(22)

Where E (t/ha) is Event soil loss, S is sine of slope angle, cover (0-1) is fractional surface cover, Q (mm) Event runoff, and λ is factor approximating efficiency of entrainment.

The efficiency of entrainment λ is calculated as follows (Rose, 1985)

$$\lambda = \lambda_{bare} e^{-\beta * cov}$$
(23)

Where λ_{bare} the efficiency of entrainment of bare surface, COV (%) is surface cover. β is cover 'sensitivity' factor

2.3. Local statistical model

The locally developed sediment model ((Raza et al., 2022c) is a simple empirical model used to predict sediment yield as a function of Silt + OM (SiltOM), vegetation cover (VC), slope (S),

rainfall intensity (RI), and depth to the loamy layer (DLL). The model is represented by the following equation

sediment yield = [-7.2 + 40.9SiltOM - 35.1VC + 46.9S + 58.6RI - 18.4DDL]/100 (24) Where Sediment yield is in t ha⁻¹. SiltOM, VC, Slope, RI, and DLL represent their levels.

2.4. Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was performed for all parameters relevant to the sediment yield models to find the most influential parameters. The results were subsequently used to understand model behavior and guide calibration. To achieve this analysis, MUSLE model input factors were categorized into three groupings based on the MUSLE model structure: physical, conceptual, and hydrological input factors. Physical factors were length and slope, which were estimated by remote sensing and GIS. Conceptual factors were cover fraction and K, which were optimized through calibration, and the crop management factor which was assumed as 1 in this study. Hydrological factors were CN values for runoff estimation.

The global sensitivity analysis for model parameters was performed using Sobol2007 (Lucay et al., 2020). It applies the Monte Carlo estimation (Dagum et al., 2000) of Sobol's indices for both first-order and total indices at the same time. The effect of the model factor X_i on the output variance V can be described by the two Sobol's sensitivity indices: "Total sensitivity index (ST_i)" and "First order index (S_i)". ST_i expresses the ratio between the variance caused by the *i*_{th} factor when interacting with all the other model factors, while Si is calculated as the ratio between the variance directly caused by the *i*_{th} factor (V_i) and the total variance of the model output (V):

$$S_i = \frac{V_i}{V} \tag{25}$$

$$ST_i = 1 - \frac{V_{\sim i}}{V} \tag{26}$$

Where $V_{\sim i}$ is the variance not related to the i_{th} factor. ST_i considers all the possible interactions between model parameters, providing an understanding of the sources of uncertainties. Consequently, it is possible to prioritize the factors and exclude the non-sensitive (i.e. factors with low indices) from the further analysis of model calibration.

2.5. Model calibration and validation

2.5.1. Calibration procedure and setup

A classical approach was followed to: (a) evaluate model performance using statistical indexes of performance between the simulated and the observed values, and (b) adjust the parameters using an optimization algorithm. Root mean square error (RMSE) and Nash–Sutcliffe model efficiency coefficient (NSE) were used for model evaluation. An automatic calibration procedure with the Nelder-Mead method was implemented in Rscript to calibrate multiple parameters at the same time using the RMSE as the objective function. The procedure was reproduced several times considering different initial conditions to approximate the global minima. Maximum and minimum parameter values were imposed based on previous literature to select parameter values at plausible ranges.

2.5.1.1. Runoff and erosion

To calibrate the Runoff model, we used the observed runoff data from rainfall simulator field experiments conducted at different crop stages of winter triticale from September 2020 to February 2021 (Table 4.2). Model fit was optimized also using the RMSE and NSE values between the dataset of field observations and the model results. The important parameter is the runoff curve number (Hawkins, 1996) at bare field cover, used in partitioning rainfall between infiltration and runoff, which is usually derived from guidelines based on soil texture and soil surface characteristics (Ringrose-Voase et al., 2003). Under high spatial heterogeneity of soil characteristics, CN_{bare} was calibrated to obtain the optimum CN_{final} that represents all the 16 points distributed across the field.

The selected erosion models were calibrated with the data set from the field experiments for sediment yield at different crop stages of winter triticale between September 2020 and February 2021. Both Freebairn and Rose erosion models calibration were done separately for all sampling points. Soil erodibility factor *K* was calibrated for the Freebairn model to find the best suitable value for K that represents the spatial heterogeneity across all sampling points. The same procedure was applied to calibrate the efficiency of the entrainment factor for bare surface (λ_{bare}) in the Rose model. While by definition $0 < \lambda_{bare} < 1$, at present λ can only be determined accurately by calibrating the model against measurement data on sediment concentration. Values of λ_{bare} depend on soil type, and field management practices. As the factor λ plays an important role in the performance of the Rose model, we calibrated the λ_{bare} for further analysis. Parameter

values obtained on the field experiment in 2020-2021 were used for the calibration of soil erosion models and observed field data collected betrween September 2021 and November 2021 were used for the validation of the models (Table 4.2).

2.5.1.2. Lintul5

Lintul5 crop parameters were calibrated (1) for the winter triticale cropping season in 2019-2020 and (2) for the rapeseed cropping season in 2021-2022 (Table 4.2). The data used for calibration was the phenological stage, LAI, and total aboveground biomass collected at different times within the growing season. The first step consisted of adjusting the phenological parameters TSUM1 and TSUM2 to match the observed data. Then, the parameters controlling the "crop radiation use efficiency and specific leaf area" were adjusted to calibrate LAI and aboveground simulations. A third step consisted in adjusting the maximum rooting depth, necessary to better represent the crop response to drought. The parameters for calibration of Lintul5 were selected based on the literature review for winter wheat growth simulation (Asseng et al., 2013). As the observed data for rapeseed were collected in only one cropping season, the crop model (LINTUL5) was calibrated with the half dataset of crop observation points in the season, whereas the other half was used to validate the model for rapeseed growth. The base parameter values used as the starting point to calibrate Lintul5 for both crops were those used by (Webber et al., 2020) to simulate winter wheat and rapeseed across Germany.

2.5.2. Validation

Validation for runoff and sediment yield was performed by assessing the fit of models to the observed data collected from the field experiments in September and November 2021 during the rapeseed crop growing season. The crop model (LINTUL5) was also validated for the winter triticale data observed in 2020-2021 (Table 4.2). The validation of the crop model was performed with half the dataset observed for rapeseed crop in 2022 to support the performance of runoff and erosion models in rapeseed crop cover (Table 4.2).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Sensitive parameters and input information for the erosion models

The sensitivity analysis presented consistent results regarding the importance of the input data on runoff volume and slope angle for both the Freebairn and Rose erosion models. The simulations of

sediment yield from the Rose model showed a sensitivity to the cover fraction between 0% and 25% compared to that of the Freebairn model (Fig. 4.4a). The selected parameters with the highest influence were used for model calibration (Table. 4.3). Soil erodibility factor K was the highest influential parameter after slope angle for Freebairn model. The values of the Sobol indices for other parameters which were used as observable inputs, identified the importance of the quality of collected input data. The most significant change in sensitivity for the Freebairn model occurred in the vegetation cover transition from 0% to 50% (Fig. 4.4b). The interception of rainfall by the vegetation cover is low with less vegetation cover and hence raindrops are reaching the soil surface with higher kinetic energy. In a field, with sandy topsoil textures causing a high soil erodibility factor K presents a higher sediment yield (Bonilla and Johnson, 2012). On the other hand, the ranking of the sensitivity of the parameters changed for the Rose model (Fig. 4.4a). The λ_{bare} was the most influential parameter in the Rose model. The changes in sensitivity of the parameters of Rose model occurred within a small range of vegetation cover i.e. in the transition from 0% to 25%cover. This may represent a limitation in the applicability of the Rose model at higher vegetation cover (Silburn, 2011). Entrainment by the surface flow is thus the dominant mechanism contributing to sediment transport in the Rose model when vegetation cover is small (Rose, 1985).

Model	Parameter	Ranking	Range	for sensitivity	
			Min	max	
Freebairn	Slope angle	1	0.01	45	
	Κ	2	0.01	0.3	
	Q	3	1	25	
Rose	λ_{bare}	1	0	1	
	Q	2	1	25	
	Slope angle	3	0.01	45	

Table 4.3.	Ranking of	of parameters
-------------------	------------	---------------

Slope angle: degrees of slope in the field (degree), K: soil erodibility factor, *Q*: surface runoff (mm)



Fig. 4. 4: Evolution of the Sobol sensitivity indices of the (A) Rose and (B) Freebairn model parameters from cover = 0 % to cover = 100%. The upper subplot shows the extreme (colored dashed -lines), inter-quartile (grey), and median (bold line) output values of soil erosion at all cover steps. The lower subplot represents the sensitivity indices at all cover steps for the main effects and the first-order interactions.

3.2. Calibration results

The ranges of values of the parameters used for calibration and the final calibrated values are shown in Table 4.4.

Model	Parameter	Calibration range		Calibrated value	Uncalibrated value
		min	max		
Runoff					
	CN _{red}	5	20	6.44	20
	CN _{bare}	61	85	83.99	80
	α	0.05	0.3	0.05	0.2
Rose					
	λ_{bare}	0.1	1	0.20	0.7
	β	0.01	0.5	0.04	0.15
Freebairn	•				
	Κ	0.15	0.4	0.2	0.3

Table 4. 4. The ranges of values of the parameters used for calibration

 CN_{red} : CN value at residue cover, CN_{bare} : CN value at bare land, λ_{bare} : efficiency of entrainment at the bare surface, β is cover 'sensitivity' factor, K: soil erodibility factor

3.2.1. Runoff

Simulation of daily runoff during the growing season is shown in Fig. 4.5. The comparison of runoff volumes observed in the field during the measurements with the rainfall simulator and the simulated values is shown in Fig. 4.6.

After calibration of the model on the 16 observation points, the average curve number for the soil with no vegetation cover (CN_{bare} , in Eqn. 7) was 83.9, the value of CN_{red} was 6.4 and α was 0.05. Before calibration, the standard CN method underestimated the runoff depths for all 16 plots with RMSE and NSE of 10.34 mm and -0.06 respectively (Fig. 4.6b). Similar underestimation was reported by (Van Mullem, 1991) suggesting that multiple factors might cause this underestimation of runoff depth, but the soil cover and moisture are considered one of the most influential factors which affect the values for CN and α for initial abstraction (Littleboy et al., 1996). (Huang et al., 2007) evaluated that tabulated CN values are almost always lower than that of measured CN values which results in underestimated runoff depths. These observations by (Huang et al., 1999) that the underestimation of runoff depth by the standard SCS method is due to underestimating the CN_{final} with the available soil moisture content value, which results in underestimated runoff. However, the value of α for initial abstraction could be calibrated to improve the runoff predictions. A

comparison of Fig. 4.6a and Fig. 4.6b indicates that runoff estimations are in better agreement with observed runoff measurements with α value of 0.05. Based on the calibration results, the used α value as 0.05 would be appropriate rather than the commonly used value of 0.2. This increased the model NSE from -0.06 to 0.89 compared to the uncalibrated CN approach. This agrees with findings by (Shi et al., 2009), who showed that modified α and CN_{bare} values improved the agreement between measured and predicted direct runoff to a high degree.



Fig. 4. 5: Simulation of Runoff during the cropping season 2020-2021 of Winter Triticale after calibration on 16 distinct points in the field where rainfall simulator experiments were conducted between September 2020 and April 2021 (see black dots in each figure)


Fig. 4. 6: Comparison of observed and simulated runoff with calibrated (A) and uncalibrated (B) parameter values

3.2.2. Performance of the Erosion models

Simulation of daily sediment yield during the growing season 2020-2021 by the Freebairn and Rose models are shown in (Fig. 4.7 & 4.8) for the calibration. The comparison of observed and simulated values along the 1:1 line for calibration is shown in (Fig. 4.9, 4.10 & 4.11).

Soil erosion observation results showed that higher rainfall intensities produce more runoff and sediment yield in each event with 0 % vegetation cover expressed by an LAI of 0 (Table 4.5). The highest rate of erosion was estimated in plot 10, where the simulated soil loss was 4.39 and 4.11 t ha⁻¹ d⁻¹ by Freebairn and Rose models, respectively, whereas the local statistical model predicted the highest soil loss of 4.19 t ha⁻¹ d⁻¹ at plot 9.

Test	Slope %	K	Measured LAI m ² / m ²	Applied rainfall mm	runo	off	Simulated sediment yield			
Plot					Observed	Simulated	Observed	Freebairn	Rose	Local model
1	1.48	0.30	0.01	16.24	6.71	6.55	0.64	0.43	0.54	0.86
2	2.9	0.33	0	18.72	8.97	8.15	1.26	0.93	1.02	1.38
3	3.1	0.34	0.15	29.88	17.01	16.55	1.88	1.73	1.64	1.90
4	4.8	0.37	0.2	35.52	23.50	20.19	2.16	1.57	0.86	2.42
5	3.8	0.29	0.1	22.9	7.67	11.39	2.07	2.05	2.39	2.36
6	1.79	0.32	0	32.4	20.22	18.90	2.93	1.29	1.46	2.31
7	4.78	0.33	0.15	19.96	9.85	8.87	1.51	1.63	1.35	1.79
8	3.3	0.35	0.2	30.72	17.53	16.28	1.98	0.78	0.48	1.74
9	4.07	0.31	0.1	30.72	18.80	17.69	3.71	3.49	3.98	4.19
10	5	0.29	0	32.56	20.44	19.03	4.99	4.39	4.11	3.90
11	2.47	0.25	0.15	23.44	12.57	11.46	1.73	0.93	0.91	1.01
12	2.23	0.27	0.2	19.44	8.34	7.87	0.60	0.24	0.16	0.72
13	8.02	0.34	0.1	16.8	6.54	6.93	3.23	3.60	3.07	3.71
14	4.65	0.28	0	19.8	10.38	8.92	2.50	1.86	1.79	2.12
15	4.36	0.25	0.15	30.2	17.69	16.82	3.62	2.73	2.35	3.61
16	2.57	0.31	0.2	28.24	15.41	14.32	1.19	0.51	0.33	2.02

 Table 4. 5. Simulated sediment yield and runoff resulting from event rainfall simulations in

 2020-2021 on 16 experimental rainfall simulator plots

In Fig. 4.7, simulated sediment yield by the Rose model tends to match with observed data except for the points where the slope is small without vegetation cover (Plot 6) and where the slope is steep and LAI is around 0.2 (plots 8, 12 and 15) regardless of the rainfall intensity (Table. 4.5, Fig. 4.7). Similarly, the simulated sediment yields with the Freebairn model were underestimated on these plots (Fig. 4.8). The local statistical model, on the other hand, shows better agreement between observed and predicted sediment yields (Fig. 4.11). Rose and Freebairn models produced relatively similar predictions, however, the Freebairn model showed a slightly better accuracy of erosion estimations among plots having significant soil characteristics variations among these test plots. The Freebairn model was quite sensitive to the erodibility factor K, which explains the high underprediction of the sediment yield in plot 6 and plot 8 (Fig. 4.8) when the calibrated value of 0.2 compared to the measured values of K as 0.32 and 0.35 respectively for these plots was used (Table 4.5). The K factor is controlled by intrinsic soil properties such as texture and is also influenced by more dynamic soil properties such as soil moisture content, aggregation, and SOM (Marques et al., 2019; G. Wang et al., 2016; Webb and Strong, 2011). However, these studies were specific to local soil conditions and for a given area. Relationships among the soil properties and

the soil erodibility indicator K in the rainfall experiment using Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated for the local application (Table 4.6). The results showed that the SOM contents (R = -0.48) were negatively correlated with soil erodibility, which suggested that erodibility is highly controlled by SOM. However, the current definition of the Freebairn K factor does not take these relationships into account. These results are consistent with the findings of (Stanchi et al., 2015) that erodibility is negatively correlated with organic content within the range of 0 to 10%.

	Slope %	SOM %	SAWHC ¹ mm	Sand %	Silt %	Clay %	Topsoil layer moisture content mm	Bulk density kg m ⁻³	K
Slope	1								
SOM	-0.11	1							
SAWHC*	-0.42	-0.02	1						
Sand	0.18	0.14	-0.4	1					
Silt	-0.05	-0.32	0.37	-0.89	1				
Clay	0.22	0.11	0.02	-0.77	0.69	1			
Topsoil layer	-0.13	-0.51	-0.19	-0.01	0.19	0.02	1		
moisture content									
Bulk density	0.56	0	-0.24	0.19	-0.14	0.07	-0.31	1	
Κ	0.24	-0.48	0.09	-0.43	0.7	0.43	0.47	-0.08	1

Table 4. 6. Pearson's correlation coefficients (R) between soil properties variables for all rainfall simulation samples

¹SAWHC: soil available water holding capacity



Fig. 4. 7: Sediment yields of Rose model simulation after calibration during the cropping season 2020-2021 of Winter Triticale. SAWHC*: Soil available water holding capacity; SM*: Soil moisture content before the experiment

The Rose model showed clear underprediction for the plots with LAI higher than 0.15 in plots 4, 8, 12, and 16 (Fig. 4.7). The LAI simulation results for calibiration are presented in Fig. 1 in Appendix. The performance of the Rose model depends on the λ which relies on soil type, management, and the fraction of soil surface exposed to overland flow (Rose et al., 1983). The value of λ for high vegetation cover was considerably lower (Table. 1). (Silburn, 2011) suggested that λ is in reverse relation with a cover fraction which is also evident in this study where λ is negatively correlated with cover (-0.93) (Table. 4.7). Moreover, lower λ values for cultivated soils are related to their erodibility leading to low sediment yield with high runoff amounts at plot 6 (Fig. 4.7) (Table. 4.1) which agrees with reports by (Silburn, 2011).

	Slope	SOM	sand	silt	clay	Bulk density	cover	λ
Slope	1							
SOM	-0.11	1						
sand	0.18	0.14	1					
silt	-0.05	-0.32	-0.89	1				
clay	0.22	0.11	-0.77	0.69	1			
Bulk density	0.56	0	0.19	-0.14	0.07	1		
cover	-0.15	-0.38	0.34	-0.21	-0.51	-0.43	1	
λ	0.07	0.34	-0.24	0.14	0.5	0.41	-0.93	1

Table 4. 7. Pearson's correlation coefficients (R) between soil properties and cover for all rainfall simulation samples



Fig. 4. 8: Sediment yields produced by the Freebairn model simulations after calibration during the cropping season 2020-2021 of Winter Triticale

The simulated sediment yields were close to the observed values (Fig. 4.9, 4.10, 4.11) showing that all three models had a positive relationship between estimated and observed sediment yield. The local statistical model showed the highest accuracy with NSE = 0.82. However, the performance parameters of dynamic model simulation of the Freebairn and Rose models showed that the Freebairn model more accurately estimated the sediment yield compared to predictions made by

the Rose model. The Freebairn model predicted sediment yield with NSE = 0.71 and RMSE = 0.69 which is better than the model efficiency of Rose (NSE= 0.62, RMSE = 0.83). This value of model efficiency is satisfactory for sediment yield calibration as reported by (Onsamrarn et al., 2020). When Rose and Freebairn models were run with calibrated lintul5, sediment yield predictions were slightly lower in efficiency (Fig 4.9a, Fig. 4.10a) compared to the predictions when models were run with an observed cover fraction (Fig. 4.9b, Fib. 4.10b). Disagreement in predictions tended to increase when models were run with calibrated runoff model and uncalibrated lintul5 (Fig. 4.9c, Fig, 4.10c). However, the errors in sediment yield for both models were drastic when models were run with calibrated Lintul5 only as evident from NSE values of -0.13 and -0.1 for Freebairn and Rose models respectively (Fig. 4.9d, Fig. 4.10d). Similar trend in NSE was found with uncalibrated runoff and lintul5 models (Fig. 4.9e, Fig, 4.10e).

These results showed that a performance assessment of the runoff model is important to accurately predict the sediment yield with Freebairn and Rose models within SIMPLACE. This is also evident from the correlation coefficients between erosion models and cover with -0.01 and -0.14 for Freebairn and Rose models respectively, whereas, there is a strong positive correlation with runoff (Table. 4.8). This was explained in the study by (Raza et al., 2022b) where Rainfall intensity contributed most strongly to sediment yield (40.55%) followed by slope steepness (23.76%) and vegetation cover (17.73%). (Panagos and Katsoyiannis, 2019; Peng and Wang, 2012) indicated that sediment yield was positively related to the runoff events with high rainfall storms.

	Slope	Lintul5 LAI	Applied rainfall	USDA runoff	Freebairn	Rose	Local model
Slope	1						
Lintul5 LAI	0.11	1					
Applied rainfall	-0.05	0.46	1				
USDA runoff	-0.03	0.42	0.99	1			
Freebairn	0.74	-0.01	0.26	0.32	1		
Rose	0.61	-0.14	0.21	0.29	0.97	1	
Local model	0.68	0.04	0.44	0.49	0.92	0.89	1

Table 4. 8. Pearson's correlation coefficients (R) between output variables produced by different erosion, runoff, and vegetation models for all rainfall simulation tests



Fig. 4. 9: 1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed sediment yield for the calibration of the Freebairn. When Freebairn model; (a) calibrated with pre-calibrated Lintul5 & runoff models, (b) Calibrated with observed LAI and pre-calibrated runoff, (c) Calibrated with pre-calibrated runoff model only, (d) Calibrated with pre-calibrated Lintul5 only, (e) Calibrated with uncalibrated Lintul5 and runoff models



Fig. 4. 10: 1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed sediment yield for the calibration of the Rose model. When Rose model; (a) calibration with pre-calibrated Lintul5 & runoff models, (b) Calibrated with observed LAI and pre-calibrated runoff, (c) Calibrated with pre-calibrated runoff model only, (d) Calibrated with pre-calibrated Lintul5 only, (e) Calibrated with uncalibrated Lintul5 and runoff models



Fig. 4. 11: 1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed sediment yield for local model

3.3. Validation

An attempt was made to validate the runoff model after the calibration with data from September 2021 to November 2022 rapeseed cropping season. The LAI simulation results for validation are presented in Fig. 2. in Appendix. The simulation results showed that RMSE values of runoff with the validation data set (Fig. 4.12b) were slightly higher than after calibration (Fig. 4.6a). Nevertheless, many tested models have difficulties in simulating the runoff at extremely low and high rainfall events. (Chahinian et al., 2005) investigated that this problem is caused by difficulties in determining the soil moisture conditions during flood events, which do not necessarily consider the soil moisture distribution during the duration of the rainfall events.



Fig. 4. 12: Validation of the runoff model during the cropping season 2021-2022 on 16 distinct points in the field (A) where rainfall simulator experiments were conducted between 2021 and 2022 (see black dots in each figure) (B) 1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed runoff yield during the validation period

Simulation of daily sediment yield during the growing season 2020-2021 by the Freebairn and Rose models are shown in (Fig. 4.13a & 4.14a) for validation. The comparison between the simulation and observed values along the 1:1 line for validation is shown in (Fig. 4.13b, 4.14b & 4.15). Both Freebairn and Rose models performed well (Fig. 4.13b & 4.14b) when the runoff model efficiency indicator was acceptable (Fig. 4.12b). Results of the validation assessment of erosion models showed that the Freebairn model had a good performance in sediment yield predictions during the validation period (Fig. 4.13b). In contrast, the Rose model had a limitation in sediment yield prediction and showed slightly higher RMSE (0.89 t ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) and NSE (0.8) under the highly heterogeneous soil conditions of the experimental site (Fig. 4.14b). The λ values from the rainfall intensity events (Silburn, 2011). The performance of the local model with the validation data set, on the other hand, showed the highest uncertainties in simulating sediment yield with an RMSE value of 1.1 t ha⁻¹d⁻¹ among erosion models in this study (Fig. 4.15). This is because of the specific environmental conditions (soil physical characteristics, topography, and vegetation cover) during the development of the local statistical model.



Fig. 4. 13: Freebairn model simulation for sediment prediction; (A) validation of sediment yield during the cropping season 2021-2022 of Rapeseed crop (B) 1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed sediment yield for the validation of the Freebairn erosion model combined with the outputs of calibrated or uncalibrated vegetation and runoff models; (a) Freebairn model combined with calibrated Lintul5 & runoff models, (b) Freebairn model combined with calibrated lintul5 model only, (c) Freebairn model combined with calibrated runoff model only, (d) Freebairn model combined with uncalibrated Lintul5 and runoff models



Fig. 4. 14: Rose model simulation for sediment prediction; (A) validation of sediment yield during the cropping season 2021-2022 of Rapeseed crop (Black points represent observations) (B) 1:1 line relationship between simulated and observed sediment yield for the validation of the Rose erosion model combined with the outputs of calibrated or uncalibrated vegetation and runoff models; (a) Rose model combined with calibrated Lintul5 & runoff models, (b) Rose model combined with calibrated Lintul5 model only, (c) Rose model combined with calibrated runoff model only, (d) Rose model combined with uncalibrated Lintul5 and runoff models



Fig. 4. 15: Validation of local model for sediment prediction

4. Conclusion

This study aimed to provide insight into the uncertainties that are involved in the simulation of subfield scale run-off and soil erosion processes due to the model structure. Therefore, three different sediment yield models (local statistical model, dynamic Freebairn, and Rose model) were combined with the outputs of calibrated and uncalibrated runoff and vegetation models as well as vegetation cover (LAI) observations. The simulations of water erosion with dynamic Freebairn and Rose models were influenced by the performance of runoff and crop growth models. However, a pronounced difference was found between modeled and measured soil erosion when these predictions were made with an uncalibrated runoff model. Hence, our results highlighted that large uncertainties in soil erosion modeling were associated with improper performance of the runoff model.

The most sensitive parameters affecting sediment yield simulation in the Freebairn model were field topography, soil erodibility factor, and runoff. The most sensitive parameter affecting sediment yield in the Rose model was the efficiency of entrainment λ . Entrainment by the surface

flow became the dominant mechanism contributing to sediment transport when vegetation cover is small and it drastically influences the sediment yield. Our results demonstrated that these parameters are the key site factors affecting the performances of predicting soil loss by the Freebairn and Rose models in heterogeneous field conditions.

The dynamic models and local statistical model were successfully applied in the study area, the obtained outcomes were relatively close to the observations. The findings give considerable confidence in the model structure. Therefore, it can be concluded that both Freebairn and Rose models can be used as tools to predict sediment yield within the SIMPLACE framework. However, it should be noted that selected models were tested with prevailing local environmental and field conditions in the study area, which implies that these conclusions only apply to the field with characteristics similar to the study area. The preferred criteria to select these models were identified through the combined consideration of model structure, data availability, and the SIMPLACE framework. Further improvements of soil erosion models should focus on enhancing the data quality for model applications and improving the representation of these models in terms of their scales and objectives.



General Discussion

1. General Discussion and Conclusions

1.1. Challenges in field scale erosion process modeling under heterogeneous field conditions

Results of chapter 2 showed that soil erosion models are subjected to certain limitations sourced from their development objectives (Q1-Table 1). These objectives most often are derived from the site-specific environmental conditions and scale of the erosion process. However, individual hydro-geomorphological processes and vegetation cover impact differently on the soil erosion process across various scales which influences the model calibration and model performance. Calibration of field-scale models based on data from fields that are characterized by a high spatial heterogeneity of topography and soil types is more accurate than using averaged data from larger catchment areas. Hence, calibration of the field scale model requires a large input data set with multiple factors which may spatially vary drastically even in a single field.

Field conditions predominantly influence the model input data requirement and data quality. Thus, controlling the level of complexity in the model calibration process. This has a remarkable influence on the simulation of soil erosion, runoff transportation capacity, and sediment deposition. Our results depicted that among different field conditions, "slope" is particularly one of the major factors in the erosion process and plays a key role in modeling process. For models using USLE to reflect the effect of slope length on soil erosion, the major problem (Q1-Table 3) is the suitable selection of slope segments in fields with complex topography where slope characteristics may vary drastically at field scale. The other important factor is the soil physical and hydrological properties with spatially heterogeneous nature within a field that define the limitations of field scale models in representing the soil erosion process. For instance, EPIC predicts soil losses from the flows in rill areas only. Whereas EUROSEM, WEPP, and GLEAMS estimate soil losses from rill and inter-rill areas separately (Q1-Table 3).

Furthermore, the accuracy of the simulation of erosion rates depends on the spatial dimension taken into account, i.e. whether processes are simulated at the soil profile scale (1D, point based assuming a field with homogeneous soil and terrain conditions) and/or whether spatially distributed or multidimensional method (2D/3D) are applied. A particular shortcoming of most of the existing field scale models is their one-dimensional nature. The quality and accuracy of the calibration of the field scale models in heterogeneous fields should increase with the dimension that is considered (Q1-Table 6). However, the results of this study revealed that the availability of accurate soil information is a major bottleneck for multi-dimensional models.

1.2. Challenges in field scale erosion process modeling under complex cropping systems

Similar to the impact of heterogeneous field conditions (slope, soil physical, and hydrological properties), the field scale soil erosion process is also greatly affected by the type and the dynamics of the cropping system. Tools are required to predict the impact of diverse cropping systems on the soil erosion process. The results of Q1 showed that there are no modeling techniques yet available to represent the soil erosion process in complex cropping systems such as alley cropping, row and strip intercropping, patch cropping, and agroforestry (Fig. 5.1). Motivated by the previous section (5.1), models were specifically studied to evaluate their capabilities to simulate the erosion process under such cropping systems.



Fig. 5. 1: Agroforestry system at research site

A few soil erosion models coupled with dynamic cropping models investigated the soil loss and surface runoff but they do not explicitly focus on the impact of mixed vegetation cover on soil detachment and generation of surface runoff at the field scale. For instance, Water Nutrient and Light Capture in Agroforestry Systems (WaNuLCAS) potentially is able to simulate processes in agroforestry systems but there is a lack of evidential reports on its capabilities to simulate soil erosion in agroforestry systems. Although some attempts are being made to improve soil erosion models, there is still room to develop tools that consider the representation of soil erosion processes under complex cultivation patterns on the same field.

An important cause of model simulation uncertainties in complex cropping systems is the increasing importance to estimate overland flows under varying spatial arrangements and temporal dynamics of different canopies on an agricultural field. Modeling capabilities should be improved and tested with respect to the soil erosion process in strip and patch cropping systems as well as agroforestry systems. Existing agroforestry models must be improved to incorporate erosion processes in fields with high spatial heterogeneity with respect to soil properties, slope inclination, and length, preferably considering three dimensions. Such new developments might also support upscaling of soil erosion processes to larger spatial scales (watershed to basin scale).

1.3. Challenges in measuring soil erosion considering the multiple drivers involved: Understanding the fine-scale spatio-temporal dynamics of soil erosion processes

The results of chapter 3 reveal that spatial heterogeneity of soil physical characteristics, topography, and temporal variations in soil cover has a considerable impact on the soil erosion process (Q2-Fig. 4) in the study area. A key challenge in soil erosion studies is understanding the connectivity of landscape characteristics and their interactions. In order to better understand soil erosion and soil movement in agricultural systems, research needs to be conducted at the correct temporal and spatial scale at the farm field with intensive data of field conditions. This research was conducted in a field which has been selected to represent a typical situation in the landscape formed by the last glaciation in North East Germany. This region is intensively used as cropland and is characterized by soils formed from the glacial till of the last glacial period and later modified by fluvial and erosive processes. Thus, it created an enormous small-scale heterogeneity in the landscape and in vulnerability to the soil erosion process.

In concordance with the results, different scenarios tested showed that soil erosion and runoff responded differently under different combinations of factors and their complex interactions within a single field of 6 hectares (Chapter 3-Table 3.1). Thus, the combination of factors and their

interactions were identified causing potential soil loss and runoff under given field conditions (Chapter 3-Table 3.4). Rainfall intensity and slope steepness had a remarkable influence on the amount of sediment yield and volume of runoff. Based on the results, it was suggested that the highest sediment yield should be obtained with the factor levels combination of 4, 2, 4, 4, 1 of Silt and organic matter, vegetation cover, slope steepness, rainfall intensity, and depth to loamy layer respectively. On the other hand, the lowest sediment yield should be obtained with the factor levels combination of 1, 4, 1, 1, 2 of Silt and organic matter, vegetation cover, slope steepness, rainfall intensity, and depth to loamy layer respectively. The highest rainfall intensity (>4 mm min⁻¹) led to the highest volumes of runoff, followed by the factor vegetation cover (maximum values at Level 4). Runoff was mostly influenced by rainfall intensity followed by vegetation cover, and slope. The stronger impact of vegetation cover compared with the slope can be explained by the stronger variability of vegetation cover at different soil management stages during the experimental period in the study area. Moreover, earlier studies showed that surface runoff depth is sensitive to the plot size and type of vegetation. From our results, it is also depicted that erosion studies are limited by their size, i.e., constrained to experimental research plots, it can be difficult to interpret the results in both space and time to represent landscape connectivity and small-scale process domains. The results point out the need for further research to quantify the influence of the plot size on sediment yield and surface runoff.

Although the previous studies have already considered the simultaneous influence of a few factors on the soil erosion process (Barthès and Roose, 2002; Ouyang et al., 2018; Panagos and Katsoyiannis, 2019; Ramezanpour et al., 2010), the work described in chapter 3 is the unique approach of fractional factorial design to investigate the combined impact of multiple factors and their complex interactions on soil erosion process by selecting an optimized number of experiments. The applied workflow allowed for efficiently predicting soil erosion and identifying areas susceptible to soil loss at a high spatial resolution (Chapter 3-Table 3.4). Based on the findings, statistical regression model were developed for runoff volume and sediment yield and applied to the whole study field. When statistical model are up-scaled to the whole field, the statistical model performed well for the lower rainfall intensity ($< 2.7 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$) but its performance declined when rainfall intensity further increased ($> 4 \text{ mm min}^{-1}$). The results show that the South West of the study area is subjected to potential soil loss due to erosion, which is in accordance with the on-site field observation and measurements (Chapter 3-Fig. 3.8). However, these studies were specific to local soil conditions and for a given area. The performance of the local model with the validation data set showed the highest uncertainties in simulating sediment yield with an RMSE value of 1.1 t ha⁻¹d⁻¹ among erosion models in this study (Chapter 4-Fig. 4.15). This is because of the specific environmental conditions (soil physical characteristics, topography, and vegetation cover) during the development of the local statistical model. Further, this model might facilitate the application of erosion control measures within fields with high spatial heterogeneity if improved with different field conditions at different sites.

An improved understanding of complex interactions among multiple factors influencing the soil erosion process is an important area of research for future soil erosion studies, since this understanding of connectivity between small scale field conditions in the agricultural landscape is as important as understanding absolute sediment yield. Since plot-based studies have complexities in upscaling the predictive modeling techniques at complex agricultural landscapes, it is important to quantify the collected data quality and adequacy from plot-scale studies to better understand soil movement at large scale. From the results of our study it can also be recommended, that for regions where soil characteristics and topography are unevenly distributed, methods such as Taguchi fractional factorial design might be suitable and sufficient to represent the factors that influence the soil erosion process at the field scale. Such design is limited by the number of experimental arrays, application of these designs on the agricultural fields with heterogeneous field conditions, and lack of explicit randomization of that limit its utility, but many other competing fractional factorial designs have some of same limitations and significantly more complex (montgomery, 1990). However, this approach allows for an accurate representation of the soil erosion process in the context of agricultural systems.

1.4. An overview of the workflow of soil erosion modeling

The parameters of plot/field scale soil erosion models affect the soil erosion process simulations and therefore typically are valid for the scale and field conditions for which they were determined. Due to spatial and temporal variations in factors influencing the soil erosion process (i.e., slope, soil characteristics, vegetation cover, and rainfall intensity), it is crucial for the calibration of models used in plot scale applications that model parameters reflect the spatial variability of such soil erosion influencing factors. Uncertainties in soil erosion simulations due to input parameters have been studied in for many models and environmental conditions (Brazier et al., 2000). However, the majority of studies undertaken in the context of plot scale soil erosion simulation have not investigated uncertainties caused by the approaches to couple processes, such as soil water fluxes, crop growth, and soil erosion. In this dissertation, chapter 4 (Q3) deals with the soil erosion estimates from three different sediment yield models (local statistical model, dynamic Freebairn, and Rose model) combined with a soil water balance, a runoff and a crop model to identify the uncertainties involved in the simulation of sub-field scale runoff and soil erosion processes due to parameter estimation and model structure. The study did not pursue simulating the long term soil erosion process but to identify sources of uncertainties in simulation results when soil erosion models coupled with crop growth and runoff models within the SIMPLACE modeling platform.

In this dissertation, a workflow was established to couple the Lintul5 crop model, with the SlimWater soil water balance model including the CN runoff model and with three different soil erosion models as a solution of within the SIMPLACE platform. The objective of this solution was to simulate the soil loss on the agricultural field, where plot-scale erosion processes where monitored in chapter 3. This novel workflow allowed us to directly quantify the seasonal distribution of soil erosion processes across plots with different soil conditions and topography. In conjunction with our plot-scale erosion measurements, we used a LiDAR digital surface model of the farm field as topographic inputs, SlimWat model to give us further insights into the soil hydrology.

The results from model calibration based on plot-scale measurements showcased that water erosion estimations with Freebairn and Rose models were influenced by the accuracy of runoff and crop growth models in simulating runoff and vegetation cover respectively. However, a pronounced difference between modeled and measured soil erosion was observed when these predictions were made with the uncalibrated runoff model. Hence, our results highlighted that large uncertainties in soil erosion simulations were associated with the runoff model. Clearly, our results emphasize the need to consider uncertainty due to calibration as integrated part of the general reporting of uncertainty (Keating et al., 2003b). It should thus also be part of a common protocol to assess uncertainty in soil erosion modeling applications.

The accurate predictions of the Freebairn and Rose models, when validated with our plot-scale measurements, allowed us to simulate sub-annual crop growth and soil water dynamics across our study site which provided insights into key parameters influencing the temporal distribution of erosion processes. Most notably, the Rose model had a limitation in sediment yield prediction and

showed slightly higher RMSE (0.89 t ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) and NSE (0.8) compared to the Freebairn model when coupled with the same soil water balance and crop model approaches. On the other hand, the performance of the local statistical model, when compared against the validation data set, showed the highest uncertainties in simulating sediment yield among all erosion models in this study with an RMSE value of 1.1 t ha⁻¹d⁻¹. These uncertainties may reflect the limitations of applying statistical models under conditions which do not correspond to the prevailing specific environmental conditions under which they were developed (soil physical characteristics, topography, and vegetation cover). The Freebairn and Rose models were specifically selected to integrate with crop growth and soil water balance models to simulate short/long-term soil loss estimates by the process-based representation of climate, vegetation dynamics and hydrology.

The newly developed SIMPLACE<Lintul5, SlimWater, Erosion model> workflow can be used to provide time series of detailed spatially distributed simulations of soil erosion. However, the workflow was tested under the prevailing local environmental and field conditions in the study area, which implies in the first place, the workflow should only be applied to areas with similar climate, soil and terrain characteristics. This may provide the motivation for future researchers to improve the modeling framework for a better representation of the soil erosion process in the context of the spatial and temporal distribution of model input data and its quality. Furthermore, there is room to assimilate UAV-based data, for instance, UAV-based estimates of crop height, LAI or above-ground dry biomass to be implement into this workflow for soil erosion studies in agricultural systems. These additional datasets can be explored as additional source of information for reducing the uncertainties in the model simulations when extrapolated to larger regions or for model validation in other landscape settings.

1.5. Conclusion

After having a systematic evaluation of the impact of spatial and temporal heterogeneous field conditions on the soil erosion process, and assessment of sources of uncertainties in soil erosion model simulation results, the following general conclusions can be drawn:

 In agricultural systems with complex spatial arrangements of crops, where vegetation dynamics and spatial configuration plays a crucial role for the soil erosion process, current modeling approaches do not necessarily represent their effect in complex agriculture systems on soil loss estimations.

- 2. A range of experimental settings with different rainfall intensities, spatial variations of soil characteristics, vegetation cover, and slope inclination produced a wide range of sediment yields and volume of runoff. Highest sediment yield was found with the factor combination of rainfall intensity (> 4 mm min⁻¹) and slope steepness (5%) in bare land field with SiltOM content of 16%. and the lowest sediment yield was observed with the factor combination of rainfall intensity (> 2.5 mm min⁻¹) and slope steepness (<1 %) with vegetation cover > 15%
- 3. Since a combination of multiple factors and their interactions have complications in representing the soil erosion process, the developed workflow in chapter 4, allows for efficiently predicting soil erosion and identifying areas susceptible to soil loss at a high spatial resolution of field conditions.
- 4. The uncertainties, resulting from the model structure, in the performance of dynamic soil erosion models are very important to consider when applied at plot scale as have been shown in this study (Chapter 4).
- 5. The Freebairn and Rose models can be used as tools to predict sediment yield within the SIMPLACE framework with prevailing local environmental and field conditions in the study area. However, the performance of runoff component plays a key role in accurate sediment yield predictions. Further improvements in meaningful input data to up-scale the model applications need to be given attention in the future.

Bibliography

- Abbott, M.B., Bathurst, J.C., Cunge, J.A., O'Connell, P.E., Rasmussen, J., 1986. An introduction to the European Hydrological System - Systeme Hydrologique Europeen, "SHE", 1: History and philosophy of a physically-based, distributed modelling system. J. Hydrol. 87, 45–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1694(86)90114-9
- Addiscott, T.M., Whitmore, A.P., 1991. Simulation of solute leaching in soils of differing permeabilities, in: Soil Use and Management. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1475-2743.1991.TB00856.X
- Aduah, M.S., Jewitt, G.P.W., Warburton Toucher, M.L., 2017. Assessing suitability of the ACRU hydrological model in a rainforest catchment in Ghana, West Africa. Water Sci. 31, 198–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsj.2017.06.001
- Aga, A.O., Melesse, A.M., Chane, B., 2020. An alternative empirical model to estimate watershed sediment yield based on hydrology and geomorphology of the basin in data-scarce rift valley lake regions, Ethiopia. Geosci. 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/geosciences10010031
- Ahamefule, H., Fatola, F., Olaniyan, J., Amana, M., Eifediyi, E., Ihem, E., Nwokocha, C., Adepoju,
 A., Adepoju, I., Babalola, M., 2018. Prediction Models for Water Erosion Risk Management:
 A Review. J. Appl. Sci. Environ. Manag. 22, 1389. https://doi.org/10.4314/jasem.v22i9.05
- Ahmadi, M., Minaei, M., Ebrahimi, O., Nikseresht, M., 2020. Evaluation of WEPP and EPM for improved predictions of soil erosion in mountainous watersheds: A case study of Kangir River basin, Iran. Model. Earth Syst. Environ. 6, 2303–2315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40808-020-00814-w
- Albaladejo Montoro, J., Stocking, M., 1989. Comparative evaluation of two models in predicting storm soil loss from erosion plots in semi-arid Spain. Catena 16, 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/0341-8162(89)90010-6
- Alewell, C., Borrelli, P., Meusburger, K., Panagos, P., 2019. Using the USLE: Chances, challenges and limitations of soil erosion modelling. Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res. 7, 203–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iswcr.2019.05.004

- Ali, S.S., Al-Umary, F.A., Salar, S.G., Al-Ansari, N., Knutsson, S., 2016. GIS Based Soil Erosion Estimation Using EPM Method, Garmiyan Area, Kurdistan Region, Iraq. J. Civ. Eng. Archit. 10, 291–308. https://doi.org/10.17265/1934-7359/2016.03.004
- Allen, R., Pereira, L., Raes, D., Smith, M., 1998. Crop evapotranspiration Guidelines for computing crop water requirements - FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56, Evapotranspiración del cultivo Guías para la determinación de los requerimientos de agua de los cultivos. ESTUDIO FAO RIEGO Y DRENAJE 56. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Apezteguía, H.P., Izaurralde, R.C., Sereno, R., 2009. Simulation study of soil organic matter dynamics as affected by land use and agricultural practices in semiarid Córdoba, Argentina. Soil Tillage Res. 102, 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2008.07.016
- Arnold, J.G., Srinivasan, R., Muttiah, R.S., Williams, J.R., 1998. Large area hydrologic modeling and assessment part I: Model development. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 34, 73–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.1998.tb05961.x
- Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Rosenzweig, C., Jones, J.W., Hatfield, J.L., Ruane, A.C., Boote, K.J., Thorburn, P.J., Rötter, R.P., Cammarano, D., Brisson, N., Basso, B., Martre, P., Aggarwal, P.K., Angulo, C., Bertuzzi, P., Biernath, C., Challinor, A.J., Doltra, J., Gayler, S., Goldberg, R., Grant, R., Heng, L., Hooker, J., Hunt, L.A., Ingwersen, J., Izaurralde, R.C., Kersebaum, K.C., Müller, C., Naresh Kumar, S., Nendel, C., O'Leary, G., Olesen, J.E., Osborne, T.M., Palosuo, T., Priesack, E., Ripoche, D., Semenov, M.A., Shcherbak, I., Steduto, P., Stöckle, C., Stratonovitch, P., Streck, T., Supit, I., Tao, F., Travasso, M., Waha, K., Wallach, D., White, J.W., Williams, J.R., Wolf, J., 2013. Uncertainty in simulating wheat yields under climate change. Nat. Clim. Chang. 3, 827–832. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1916
- Awadhwal, N.K., Thierstein, G.E., 1985. Soil crust and its impact on crop establishment: A review. Soil Tillage Res. 5, 289–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-1987(85)90021-2
- Baer, S.G., Birgé, H.E., 2018. Soil ecosystem services: an overview 17–38. https://doi.org/10.19103/AS.2017.0033.02
- Bahri, H., Annabi, M., Cheikh M'Hamed, H., Frija, A., 2019. Assessing the long-term impact of

conservation agriculture on wheat-based systems in Tunisia using APSIM simulations under a climate change context. Sci. Total Environ. 692, 1223–1233. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.07.307

- Barthès, B., Roose, E., 2002. Aggregate stability as an indicator of soil susceptibility to runoff and erosion; validation at several levels. Catena 47, 133–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(01)00180-1
- Baruah, S., Ramalingam, K., Kannan, B., Kaliaperumal, R., 2019. Soil erodibility estimation and its correlation with soil properties in Coimbatore district Soil erodibility estimation and its correlation with soil properties in Coimbatore district. Int. J. Chem. Stud. 7, 3327–3332.
- Basche, A.D., Archontoulis, S. V., Kaspar, T.C., Jaynes, D.B., Parkin, T.B., Miguez, F.E., 2016. Simulating long-term impacts of cover crops and climate change on crop production and environmental outcomes in the Midwestern United States. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.11.011
- Baveye, P.C., Baveye, J., Gowdy, J., 2016. Soil "ecosystem" services and natural capital: Critical appraisal of research on uncertain ground. Front. Environ. Sci. 4, 41. https://doi.org/10.3389/FENVS.2016.00041/BIBTEX
- Beasley, D.B., Huggins, L.F., Monke, E.J., 1980. ANSWERS: a model for watershed planning. Trans. Am. Soc. Agric. Eng. 23, 938–944. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.34692
- Beck, M.B., 1987. Water quality modeling: A review of the analysis of uncertainty. Water Resour. Res. 23, 1393–1442. https://doi.org/10.1029/WR023i008p01393
- Benjeddou, O., Soussi, C., Jedidi, M., Benali, M., 2017. Experimental and theoretical study of the effect of the particle size of limestone fillers on the rheology of self-compacting concrete. J. Build. Eng. 10, 32–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JOBE.2017.02.003
- Beven, K.J., Kirkby, M.J., 1979. A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology. Hydrol. Sci. Bull. 24, 43–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667909491834
- Beven, K.J., Kirkby, M.J., Schofield, N., Tagg, A.F., 1984. Testing a physically-based flood

forecasting model (TOPMODEL) for three U.K. catchments. J. Hydrol. 69, 119–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1694(84)90159-8

- Blöschl, G., Sivapalan, M., 1995. Scale issues in hydrological modelling: A review. Hydrol. Process. 9, 251–290. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.3360090305
- Boardman, J., Poesen, J., 2006. Soil Erosion in Europe: Major Processes, Causes and Consequences, in: Soil Erosion in Europe. John Wiley and Sons Ltd., pp. 477–487. https://doi.org/10.1002/0470859202.ch36
- Bonilla, C.A., Johnson, O.I., 2012. Soil erodibility mapping and its correlation with soil properties in Central Chile. Geoderma 189–190, 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GEODERMA.2012.05.005
- Borrelli, P., Alewell, C., Alvarez, P., Anache, J.A.A., Baartman, J., Ballabio, C., Bezak, N., Biddoccu, M., Cerdà, A., Chalise, D., Chen, S., Chen, W., De Girolamo, A.M., Gessesse, G.D., Deumlich, D., Diodato, N., Efthimiou, N., Erpul, G., Fiener, P., Freppaz, M., Gentile, F., Gericke, A., Haregeweyn, N., Hu, B., Jeanneau, A., Kaffas, K., Kiani-Harchegani, M., Villuendas, I.L., Li, C., Lombardo, L., López-Vicente, M., Lucas-Borja, M.E., Märker, M., Matthews, F., Miao, C., Mikoš, M., Modugno, S., Möller, M., Naipal, V., Nearing, M., Owusu, S., Panday, D., Patault, E., Patriche, C.V., Poggio, L., Portes, R., Quijano, L., Rahdari, M.R., Renima, M., Ricci, G.F., Rodrigo-Comino, J., Saia, S., Samani, A.N., Schillaci, C., Syrris, V., Kim, H.S., Spinola, D.N., Oliveira, P.T., Teng, H., Thapa, R., Vantas, K., Vieira, D., Yang, J.E., Yin, S., Zema, D.A., Zhao, G., Panagos, P., 2021. Soil erosion modelling: A global review and statistical analysis. Sci. Total Environ. 780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146494
- Borrelli, P., Robinson, D.A., Panagos, P., Lugato, E., Yang, J.E., Alewell, C., Wuepper, D., Montanarella, L., Ballabio, C., 2020. Land use and climate change impacts on global soil erosion by water (2015-2070). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 117, 21994–22001. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2001403117
- Boughton, W.C., 1989. A review of the USDA SCS curve number method. Aust. J. Soil Res. 27, 511–523. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR9890511

- Bouma, J., de Haan, J., Dekkers, M.F.S., 2022. Exploring Operational Procedures to Assess Ecosystem Services at Farm Level, including the Role of Soil Health. Soil Syst. 2022, Vol. 6, Page 34 6, 34. https://doi.org/10.3390/SOILSYSTEMS6020034
- Bouraoui, F., Dillaha, T.A., 1996. ANSWERS-2000: Runoff and Sediment Transport Model. J. Environ. Eng. 122, 493–502. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9372(1996)122:6(493)
- Brakensiek, D.L., Rawls, W.J., 1994. Soil containing rock fragments: effects on infiltration. CATENA 23, 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/0341-8162(94)90056-6
- Brazier, R.E., Beven, K.J., Freer, J., Rowan, J.S., 2000. Equifinality and uncertainty in physically based soil erosion models: Application of the glue methodology to wepp-the water erosion prediction project-for sites in the UK and USA. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 25, 825–845. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9837(200008)25:8<825::AID-ESP101>3.0.CO;2-3
- Breetzke, D.G., Koomen, E., S. Critchley, W.R., 2013. GIS-Assisted Modelling of Soil Erosion in a South African Catchment: Evaluating the USLE and SLEMSA Approach, in: Water Resources Planning, Development and Management. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/52314
- Brooks, E.S., Dobre, M., Elliot, W.J., Wu, J.Q., Boll, J., 2016. Watershed-scale evaluation of the Water Erosion Prediction Project (WEPP) model in the Lake Tahoe basin. J. Hydrol. 533, 389–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.12.004
- Burch, G.J., Moore, I.D., Burns, J., 1989. Soil hydrophobic effects on infiltration and catchment runoff. Hydrol. Process. 3, 211–222. https://doi.org/10.1002/HYP.3360030302
- Buttle, J.M., Turcotte, D.S., 1999. Runoff processes on a forested slope on the Canadian shield. Nord. Hydrol. 30, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.2166/nh.1999.0001
- Cabelguenne, M., Debaeke, P., Puech, J., Bosc, N., 1997. Real time irrigation management using the EPIC-PHASE model and weather forecasts. Agric. Water Manag. 32, 227–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-3774(96)01275-9
- Cabelguenne, M., Jones, C.A., Williams, J.R., 1995. Strategies for limited irrigations of maize in southwestern France A modeling approach. Trans. Am. Soc. Agric. Eng. 38, 507–511.

https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.27859

- Cakula, A., Ferreira, V., Panagopoulos, T., 2012. Dynamic Model of Soil Erosion and Sediment Deposit in Watersheds. Recent Res. Environ. Energy Syst. Sustain. Dyn. 33–38.
- Cerdan, O., Govers, G., Le Bissonnais, Y., Van Oost, K., Poesen, J., Saby, N., Gobin, A., Vacca, A., Quinton, J., Auerswald, K., Klik, A., Kwaad, F.J.P.M., Raclot, D., Ionita, I., Rejman, J., Rousseva, S., Muxart, T., Roxo, M.J., Dostal, T., 2010. Rates and spatial variations of soil erosion in Europe: A study based on erosion plot data. Geomorphology 122, 167–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2010.06.011
- Chahinian, N., Moussa, R., Andrieux, P., Voltz, M., 2005. Comparison of infiltration models to simulate flood events at the field scale. J. Hydrol. 306, 191–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2004.09.009
- Chalise, D., Kumar, L., Kristiansen, P., 2019. Land Degradation by Soil Erosion in Nepal: A Review. Soil Syst. 2019, Vol. 3, Page 12 3, 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/SOILSYSTEMS3010012
- Chandramohan, T., Venkatesh, B., Balchand, A.N., 2015. Evaluation of Three Soil Erosion Models for Small Watersheds. Aquat. Procedia 4, 1227–1234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqpro.2015.02.156
- Charles R. Meyer, L. E. Wagner, D.C. Yoder, D.C. Flanagan, 2001. The Modular Soil Erosion System (MOSES). Soil Eros. Res. 21st Century 361. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.3280
- Chmelová, R., Šarapatka, B., 2002. Soil erosion by water: Contemporary research methods and their use. Geographica 37, 23–30.
- Chou, C.S., Yang, R.Y., Chen, J.H., Chou, S.W., 2010. The optimum conditions for preparing the lead-free piezoelectric ceramic of Bi0.5Na0.5TiO3 using the Taguchi method. Powder Technol. 199, 264–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.powtec.2010.01.015
- Connolly, R.D., Bell, M., Huth, N., Freebairn, D.M., Thomas, G., 2002. Simulating infiltration and the water balance in cropping systems with APSIM-SWIM. Soil Res. 40, 221–242.

https://doi.org/10.1071/SR01007

- Coulthard, T.J., Kirkby, M.J., Macklin, M.G., 2000. Modelling geomorphic response to environmental change in an upland catchment, in: Hydrological Processes. pp. 2031–2045. https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-1085(20000815/30)14:11/12<2031::AID-HYP53>3.0.CO;2-G
- Coveney, S., Fotheringham, A.S., 2011. The impact of DEM data source on prediction of flooding and erosion risk due to sea-level rise. Int. J. Geogr. Inf. Sci. 25, 1191–1211. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2010.545064
- Cox, N.J., Warburton, J., Armstrong, A., Holliday, V.J., 2008. Fitting concentration and load rating curves with generalized linear models. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 33, 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1002/ESP.1523
- D. K. Borah, 1989. Runoff Simulation Model for Small Watersheds. Trans. ASAE 32, 0881–0886. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.31085
- da Silva, R.M., Santos, C.A.G., e Silva, L.P., 2007. Evaluation of soil loss in Guaraíra basin by GIS and remote sensing based model. J. Urban Environ. Eng. 1, 44–52. https://doi.org/10.4090/juee.2007.v1n2.044052
- Dagum, P., Karp, R., Luby, M., Ross, S., 2000. An optimal algorithm for monte carlo estimation. SIAM J. Comput. 29, 1484–1496. https://doi.org/10.1137/S0097539797315306
- Dang, Y.P., Moody, P.W., Bell, M.J., Seymour, N.P., Dalal, R.C., Freebairn, D.M., Walker, S.R., 2015. Strategic tillage in no-till farming systems in Australia's northern grains-growing regions: II. Implications for agronomy, soil and environment. Soil Tillage Res. 152, 115–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STILL.2014.12.013
- De Jong, S.M., Paracchini, M.L., Bertolo, F., Folving, S., Megier, J., De Roo, A.P.J., 1999. Regional assessment of soil erosion using the distributed model SEMMED and remotely sensed data. Catena 37, 291–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(99)00038-7
- De Jonge, L.W., Moldrup, P., Jacobsen, O.H., 2007. Soil-water content dependency of water repellency in soils. Soil Sci. 172, 577–588. https://doi.org/10.1097/SS.0B013E318065C090

- de Vente, J., Poesen, J., 2005. Predicting soil erosion and sediment yield at the basin scale: Scale issues and semi-quantitative models. Earth-Science Rev. 71, 95–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2005.02.002
- De Vente, J., Poesen, J., Verstraeten, G., Govers, G., Vanmaercke, M., Van Rompaey, A., Arabkhedri, M., Boix-Fayos, C., 2013. Predicting soil erosion and sediment yield at regional scales: Where do we stand? Earth-Science Rev. 127, 16–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2013.08.014
- Defersha, M.B., Melesse, A.M., 2012. Effect of rainfall intensity, slope and antecedent moisture content on sediment concentration and sediment enrichment ratio. Catena 90, 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2011.11.002
- Deng, L., Zhang, L., Fan, X., Sun, T., Fei, K., Ni, L., 2019. Effects of rainfall intensity and slope gradient on runoff and sediment yield from hillslopes with weathered granite. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26, 32559–32573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-06486-z
- DeVantier, B.A., Feldman, A.D., 1993. Review of GIS Applications in Hydrologic Modeling. J.
 Water Resour. Plan. Manag. 119, 246–261. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)0733-9496(1993)119:2(246)
- Dilla, A.M., Smethurst, P.J., Huth, N.I., Barry, K.M., 2020. Plot-scale agroforestry modeling explores tree pruning and fertilizer interactions for maize production in a Faidherbia parkland. Forests 11, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/f11111175
- Djoukbala, O., Hasbaia, M., Benselama, O., Mazour, M., 2019. Comparison of the erosion prediction models from USLE, MUSLE and RUSLE in a Mediterranean watershed, case of Wadi Gazouana (N-W of Algeria). Model. Earth Syst. Environ. 5, 725–743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40808-018-0562-6
- Doe, W., Jones, D., Warren, S., 1999. The soil erosion model guide for military land mangers: Analysis of erosion models for natural and cultural resources applications, US Army Eng. Waterw. Exp. Stn. Tech. Rept. ITL. Colorado, USA.
- Donjadee, S., Chinnarasri, C., 2012. Effects of rainfall intensity and slope gradient on the

application of vetiver grass mulch in soil and water conservation. Int. J. Sediment Res. 27, 168–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-6279(12)60025-0

- Dragičević, N., Karleuša, B., Ožanić, N., 2017. Erosion potential method (Gavrilović Method) sensitivity analysis. Soil Water Res. 12, 51–59. https://doi.org/10.17221/27/2016-SWR
- Driessen, P.M., 1986. Erosion hazards and conservation needs as a function of land characteristics and land quali ties, in: Land Evaluation for Land-Use Planning and Conservation in Sloping Areas. Center for World Food Studies and Department of Soil Science and Geology, Wageningen, pp. 32–39.
- Eekhout, J.P.C., Millares-Valenzuela, A., Martínez-Salvador, A., García-Lorenzo, R., Pérez-Cutillas, P., Conesa-García, C., de Vente, J., 2021. A process-based soil erosion model ensemble to assess model uncertainty in climate-change impact assessments. L. Degrad. Dev. 3920. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3920
- Eisazadeh, L., Sokouti, R., Homaee, M., Pazira, E., 2012. Comparison of empirical models to estimate soil erosion and sediment yield in micro catchments. Eurasian J. Soil Sci. 1, 28–33. https://doi.org/10.18393/ejss.76058
- Eisazadeh, L., Sokouti, R., Homaee, M., Pazira, E., Pereira, A.L. dos S., Hajigholizadeh, M., Melesse, A.M., Fuentes, H.R., Eslamian, S., P.U., I., A.A., O., O.C., C., I.I., E., M.M., M., Ahamefule, H., Fatola, F., Olaniyan, J., Amana, M., Eifediyi, E., Ihem, E., Nwokocha, C., Adepoju, A., Adepoju, I., Babalola, M., Renschler, C.S., Harbor, J., Favis-mortlock, D., Boardman, J., MacMillan, V., Ogden, F., Heilig, A., Avwunudiogba, A., Hudson, P.F., Merritt, W.S., Letcher, R.A., Jakeman, A.J., Cakula, A., Ferreira, V., Panagopoulos, T., Nord, G., Esteves, M., Anache, J.A.A., Wendland, E.C., Oliveira, P.T.S., Flanagan, D.C., Nearing, M.A., Favis-mortlock, D., Boardman, J., Khaleghpanah, N., Shorafa, M., Asadi, H., Gorji, M., Davari, M., Nord, G., Esteves, M., Dreibrodt, S., Lubos, C., Terhorst, B., Damm, B., Bork, H.R., Management, R.W., Karydas, C.G., Panagos, P., Gitas, I.Z., 2018. PSEM_2D: A physically based model of erosion processes at the plot scale. Landsc. Eros. Evol. Model. 41, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004WR003690

Ekwue, E.I., 1990. Organic-matter effects on soil strength properties. Soil Tillage Res. 16, 289-

297. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-1987(90)90102-J

- El Jazouli, A., Barakat, A., Ghafiri, A., El Moutaki, S., Ettaqy, A., Khellouk, R., 2017. Soil erosion modeled with USLE, GIS, and remote sensing: a case study of Ikkour watershed in Middle Atlas (Morocco). Geosci. Lett. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40562-017-0091-6
- Elbasiouny, H., El-Ramady, H., Elbehiry, F., Rajput, V.D., Minkina, T., Mandzhieva, S., 2022. Plant Nutrition under Climate Change and Soil Carbon Sequestration. Sustain. 2022, Vol. 14, Page 914 14, 914. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU14020914
- Elwell, H.A., 1978. Modelling soil losses in Southern Africa. J. Agric. Eng. Res. 23, 117–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-8634(78)90043-4
- Elwell, H.A., Stocking, M.A., 1982. Developing a simple yet practical method of soil-loss estimation. Trop. Agric.
- Ewert, F., Angulo, C., Rumbaur, C., Lock, R., Enders, A., Adenauer, M., Heckelei, T., Van Ittersum, M., Wolf, J., Rötter, R.P., 2011. Assessing the adaptive capacity of agriculture in the Netherlands to the impacts of climate change under different market and policy scenarios (AgriAdapt)-Project of the Research Program Climate Change and Spatial Planning Scenario development and assessm. Wageningen.
- Favis-Mortlock, D., Boardman, J., MacMillan, V., 2001. The Limits of Erosion Modeling. Landsc. Eros. Evol. Model. 477–516. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-0575-4_16
- Favis-Mortlock, D., Guerra, T., Boardman, J., 1998. A self-organizing dynamic systems approach to hillslope rill initiation and growth: model development and validation. Model. soil erosion, sediment Transp. closely Relat. Hydrol. Process. 53–61.
- Favis-Mortlock, D., Mullan, D., 2011. Soil erosion by water under future climate change, in: Soil Hydrology, Land Use and Agriculture: Measurement and Modelling. CABI Publishing, pp. 384–414. https://doi.org/10.1079/9781845937973.0384
- Favis-Mortlock, D.T., 1996. An evolutionary approach to the simulation of rill initiation and development. Proc. first Int. Conf. geocomputation 1, 248–281.

- Favis-Mortlock, D.T., Boardman, J., Parsons, A.J., Lascelles, B., 2000. Emergence and erosion: A model for rill initiation and development. Hydrol. Process. 14, 2173–2205. https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-1085(20000815/30)14:11/12<2173::aid-hyp61>3.0.co;2-6
- Feng, X., Wang, Y., Chen, L., Fu, B., Bai, G., 2010. Modeling soil erosion and its response to landuse change in hilly catchments of the Chinese Loess Plateau. Geomorphology 118, 239–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2010.01.004
- Fernandes, J., Bateira, C., Soares, L., Faria, A., Oliveira, A., Hermenegildo, C., Moura, R., Gonçalves, J., 2017. SIMWE model application on susceptibility analysis to bank gully erosion in Alto Douro Wine Region agricultural terraces. Catena 153, 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2017.01.034
- Ferro, V., Porto, P., 2000. Sediment Delivery Distributed (SEDD) Model. J. Hydrol. Eng. 5, 411–422. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)1084-0699(2000)5:4(411)
- Fonseca, P.A., P. Veiga, J.A., S. Correia, F.W., Brito, A.L., Queiroz, M.R., Lyra, A.A., Chou, S.C., 2014. Projecting Extreme Changes in Summer Rainfall in South America by the Middle of the 21st Century. Atmos. Clim. Sci. 04, 743–756. https://doi.org/10.4236/ACS.2014.44067
- Freebairn, D.M., Wockner, G.H., 1986. A study of soil erosion on vertisols of the eastern darling downs, Queensland. I effects of surface conditions on soil movement within contour bay catchments. Aust. J. Soil Res. 24, 135–158. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR9860135
- Gaiser, T., Perkons, U., Küpper, P.M., Kautz, T., Uteau-Puschmann, D., Ewert, F., Enders, A., Krauss, G., 2013a. Modeling biopore effects on root growth and biomass production on soils with pronounced sub-soil clay accumulation. Ecol. Modell. 256, 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.02.016
- Gaiser, T., Perkons, U., Küpper, P.M., Kautz, T., Uteau-Puschmann, D., Ewert, F., Enders, A., Krauss, G., 2013b. Modeling biopore effects on root growth and biomass production on soils with pronounced sub-soil clay accumulation. Ecol. Modell. 256, 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLMODEL.2013.02.016
- Garg, V., Jothiprakash, V., 2012. Sediment Yield Assessment of a Large Basin using PSIAC

Approach in GIS Environment. Water Resour. Manag. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11269-011-9945-4

- Garnier, M., Porto, A. Lo, Marini, R., Leone, A., 1998. Integrated use of GLEAMS and GIS to prevent groundwater pollution caused by agricultural disposal of animal waste. Environ. Manage. 22, 747–756. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002679900144
- Gassman, P.W., Williams, J.R., Wang, X., Saleh, A., Osei, E., Hauck, L.M., Izaurralde, R.C., Flowers, J.D., 2010. The Agricultural Policy/Environmental eXtender (APEX) model: An emerging tool for landscape and watershed environmental analyses. Trans. ASABE 53, 711– 740.
- Gomi, T., Sidle, R.C., Ueno, M., Miyata, S., Kosugi, K., 2008. Characteristics of overland flow generation on steep forested hillslopes of central Japan. J. Hydrol. 361, 275–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2008.07.045
- Govers, G., Loch, R.J., 1993. Effects of initial water content and soil mechanical strength on the runoff erosion resistance of clay soils. Aust. J. Soil Res. 31, 549–566. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR9930549
- Grismer, M.E., 2012. Modélisation de l'érosion pour la gestion des terres dans le bassin du lac Tahoe, Etats-Unis: scalance depuis les parcelles jusqu'aux bassins versants forestiers. Hydrol. Sci. J. 57, 878–900. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2012.685170
- Grunwald, S., Haverkamp, S., Bach, M., Frede, H.G., 1997. Uberprufung von MEKA-Massnahmen zum Erosions- und Gewasserschutz durch das Modell AGNPSm. Zeitschrift fur Kult. und Landentwicklung 38, 260–265.
- Guidry, A.R., Schindler, F. V., German, D.R., Gelderman, R.H., Gerwing, J.R., 2006. Using Simulated Rainfall to Evaluate Field and Indoor Surface Runoff Phosphorus Relationships. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 2236–2243. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2006.0156
- Guo, Z., Ma, M., Cai, C., Wu, Y., 2018. Combined effects of simulated rainfall and overland flow on sediment and solute transport in hillslope erosion. J. Soils Sediments 18, 1120–1132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-017-1868-0
- Gutzler, C., Helming, K., Balla, D., Dannowski, R., Deumlich, D., Glemnitz, M., Knierim, A., Mirschel, W., Nendel, C., Paul, C., Sieber, S., Stachow, U., Starick, A., Wieland, R., Wurbs, A., Zander, P., 2015. Agricultural land use changes a scenario-based sustainability impact assessment for Brandenburg, Germany. Ecol. Indic. 48, 505–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLIND.2014.09.004
- H.Wischmeier, W., Smith, D.D., 1949. Predicting Rainfall-erosion Losses from Cropland East of the Rocky Mountains: Guide for Selection of Practices for Soil and Water Conservation by Walter H. Wischmeier, Dwight David Smith - Books on Google Play, U.S. Department of Agriculture. U.S. Department of Agriculture.
- Hairsine, P.B., Rose, C.W., 1991. Rainfall Detachment and Deposition: Sediment Transport in the Absence of Flow-Driven Processes. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 55, 320. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1991.03615995005500020003x
- Hajigholizadeh, M., Melesse, A.M., Fuentes, H.R., 2018. Erosion and sediment transport modelling in shallowwaters: A review on approaches, models and applications. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15030518
- Haregeweyn, N., Yohannes, F., 2003. Testing and evaluation of the agricultural non-point source pollution model (AGNPS) on Augucho catchment, western Hararghe, Ethiopia. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 99, 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(02)00120-2
- He, Z., Jia, G., Liu, Z., Zhang, Z., Yu, X., Xiao, P., 2020. Field studies on the influence of rainfall intensity, vegetation cover and slope length on soil moisture infiltration on typical watersheds of the Loess Plateau, China. Hydrol. Process. 34, 4904–4919. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.13892
- Heiskanen, J., 2008. Comparison of three methods for determining the particle density of soil with liquid pycnometers. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00103629209368633 23, 841–846. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103629209368633
- Hermansen, C., Moldrup, P., Müller, K., Knadel, M., Jonge, L.W. de, 2019. The Relation between Soil Water Repellency and Water Content Can Be Predicted by Vis-NIR Spectroscopy. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 83, 1616–1627. https://doi.org/10.2136/SSSAJ2019.03.0092

- Hernandez, M., Nearing, M.A., Al-Hamdan, O.Z., Pierson, F.B., Armendariz, G., Weltz, M.A., Spaeth, K.E., Williams, C.J., Nouwakpo, S.K., Goodrich, D.C., Unkrich, C.L., Nichols, M.H., Holifield Collins, C.D., 2017. The Rangeland Hydrology and Erosion Model: A Dynamic Approach for Predicting Soil Loss on Rangelands. Water Resour. Res. 53, 9368–9391. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017WR020651
- Herweg, K., Ludi, E., 1999. The performance of selected soil and water conservation measures -Case studies from Ethiopia and Eritrea. Catena 36, 99–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(99)00004-1
- Heydarnejad, S., Fordoei, A.R., Mousavi, S.H., Mirzaei, R., 2020. Estimation of soil erosion using SLEMSA model and OWA approach in Lorestan Province (Iran). Environ. Resour. Res. 8.
- Holz, M., Augustin, J., 2021. Erosion effects on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics on cultivated slopes: A meta-analysis. Geoderma 397, 115045. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GEODERMA.2021.115045
- Horton, R.E., 1945. Erosional development of streams and their drainage basins; Hydrophysical approach to quantitative morphology. Bull. Geol. Soc. Am. 56, 275–370. https://doi.org/10.1130/0016-7606(1945)56[275:EDOSAT]2.0.CO;2
- Hrabovský, A., Dlapa, P., Cerdà, A., Kollár, J., 2020. The impacts of vineyard afforestation on soil properties, water repellency and near-saturated infiltration in the little carpathians mountains. Water 12, 2550. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12092550
- Huang, C., Wells, L.K., Norton, L.D., 1999. Sediment transport capacity and erosion processes: model concepts and reality. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 24, 503–516. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9837(199906)24:6<503::AID-ESP972>3.0.CO;2-T
- Huang, M., Gallichand, J., Dong, C., Wang, Z., Shao, M., 2007. Use of soil moisture data and curve number method for estimating runoff in the Loess Plateau of China. Process 21, 1471–1481. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.6312
- Huang, R., Huang, L., He, B., Zhou, L., Wang, F., 2012. Effects of slope forest and grass vegetation on reducing rainfall-runoff erosivity in Three Gorges Reservoir Region. Nongye Gongcheng

 Xuebao/Transactions
 Chinese
 Soc.
 Agric.
 Eng.
 28,
 70–76.

 https://doi.org/10.3969/j.issn.1002-6819.2012.09.012

- Hudson, C.A., 1987. A Regional Application of the SLEMSA in the Cathedral Peak Area of the Drakensberg: An Analysis of the Applicability of the Soil Loss Estimation Model for Southern Africa in Small Mountain Catchments, Soil conse. ed. University of Cape Town, Cape Town.
- Ihinegbu, C., Ogunwumi, T., 2021. Multi-criteria modelling of drought: a study of Brandenburg Federal State, Germany. Model. Earth Syst. Environ. 1, 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40808-021-01197-2
- J. R. Williams, C. A. Jones, J. R. Kiniry, D. A. Spanel, 1989. The EPIC Crop Growth Model. Trans. ASAE 32, 0497–0511. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.31032
- J. R. Williams, C. A. Jones, P. T. Dyke, 1984. A Modeling Approach to Determining the Relationship Between Erosion and Soil Productivity. Trans. ASAE 27, 0129–0144. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.32748
- J. R. Williams, H. D. Berndt, 1977. Sediment Yield Prediction Based on Watershed Hydrology. Trans. ASAE 20, 1100–1104. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.35710
- Jakeman, A.J., Hornberger, G.M., 1993. How much complexity is warranted in a rainfall-runoff model? Water Resour. Res. 29, 2637–2649. https://doi.org/10.1029/93WR00877
- Jebari, S., Berndtsson, R., Bahri, A., Boufaroua, M., 2008. Exceptional Rainfall Characteristics Related to Erosion Risk in Semiarid Tunisia. Open Hydrol. J. 2, 25–33. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874378100802010025
- Jenson, S.K., Domingue,] O, 1998. Extracting Topographic Structure from Digital Elevation Data for Geographic Information System Analysis. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sensing 54, 1593– 1600.
- Jetten, V., De Roo, A., Favis-Mortlock, D., 1999. Evaluation of field-scale and catchment-scale soil erosion models. Catena 37, 521–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(99)00037-5

Jourgholami, M., Karami, S., Tavankar, F., Lo Monaco, A., Picchio, R., 2021. Effects of slope

gradient on runoff and sediment yield on machine-induced compacted soil in temperate forests. Forests 12, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12010049

- Jourgholami, M., Labelle, E.R., 2020. Effects of plot length and soil texture on runoff and sediment yield occurring on machine-trafficked soils in a mixed deciduous forest. Ann. For. Sci. 77, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-020-00938-0
- Kamphorst, A., 1987. A small rainfall simulator for the determination of soil erodibility. Netherlands J. Agric. Sci. 35, 407–415. https://doi.org/10.18174/NJAS.V35I3.16735
- Kandel, D.D., Western, A.W., Grayson, R.B., Turral, H.N., 2004a. Process parameterization and temporal scaling in surface runoff and erosion modelling. Hydrol. Process. 18, 1423–1446. https://doi.org/10.1002/HYP.1421
- Kandel, D.D., Western, A.W., Grayson, R.B., Turral, H.N., 2004b. Process parameterization and temporal scaling in surface runoff and erosion modelling. Hydrol. Process. 18, 1423–1446. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.1421
- Karamage, F., Zhang, C., Liu, T., Maganda, A., Isabwe, A., 2017. Soil erosion risk assessment in Uganda. Forests 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/f8020052
- Karydas, C.G., Panagos, P., 2016. Modelling monthly soil losses and sediment yields in Cyprus. Int. J. Digit. Earth 9, 766–787. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538947.2016.1156776
- Keating, B.A., Carberry, P.S., Hammer, G.L., Probert, M.E., Robertson, M.J., Holzworth, D., Huth, N.I., Hargreaves, J.N.G., Meinke, H., Hochman, Z., McLean, G., Verburg, K., Snow, V., Dimes, J.P., Silburn, M., Wang, E., Brown, S., Bristow, K.L., Asseng, S., Chapman, S., McCown, R.L., Freebairn, D.M., Smith, C.J., 2003a. An overview of APSIM, a model designed for farming systems simulation. Eur. J. Agron. 18, 267–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00108-9
- Keating, B.A., Carberry, P.S., Hammer, G.L., Probert, M.E., Robertson, M.J., Holzworth, D., Huth, N.I., Hargreaves, J.N.G., Meinke, H., Hochman, Z., McLean, G., Verburg, K., Snow, V., Dimes, J.P., Silburn, M., Wang, E., Brown, S., Bristow, K.L., Asseng, S., Chapman, S., McCown, R.L., Freebairn, D.M., Smith, C.J., 2003b. An overview of APSIM, a model

designed for farming systems simulation. Eur. J. Agron. 18, 267–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00108-9

- Keller, B., Centeri, C., Szabó, J.A., Szalai, Z., Jakab, G., 2021. Comparison of the applicability of different soil erosion models to predict soil erodibility factor and event soil losses on loess slopes in hungary. Water (Switzerland). https://doi.org/10.3390/w13243517
- Khaleghpanah, N., Shorafa, M., Asadi, H., Gorji, M., Davari, M., 2016. Modeling soil loss at plot scale with EUROSEM and RUSLE2 at stony soils of Khamesan watershed, Iran. Catena 147, 773–788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2016.08.039
- Kinama, J.M., Stocking, M., Maingi, P.M., 2008. SLEMSA Model Application for Land Use Management in Semi-Arid Kenya.
- King, C., Lecomte, V., Le Bissonnais, Y., Baghdadi, N., Souchère, V., Cerdan, O., 2005a. Remotesensing data as an alternative input for the "STREAM" runoff model. Catena 62, 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2005.05.008
- King, C., Lecomte, V., Le Bissonnais, Y., Baghdadi, N., Souchère, V., Cerdan, O., 2005b. Remotesensing data as an alternative input for the "STREAM" runoff model. Catena 62, 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2005.05.008
- Kinnell, P.I.A., 1999. Discussion on "The European soil erosion model (EUROSEM): A dynamic approach for predicting sediment transport from fields and small catchments." Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 24, 563–565. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9837(199906)24:6<563::AID-ESP989>3.0.CO;2-1
- Kirkby, M., 1998. Modelling Across Scales: The Medalus Family of Models, in: Modelling Soil Erosion by Water. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-58913-3_12

Kirkby, M.J., 1997. TOPMODEL : A PERSONAL VIEW 11, 1087–1097.

Kirkby, M.J., 1975. Hydrograph Modelling Strategies, in: Processes in Physical and Human Geography. pp. 69–90.

- Kirkby, M.J., Abrahart, R., McMahon, M.D., Shao, J., Thornes, J.B., 1998a. MEDALUS soil erosion models for global change. Geomorphology 24, 35–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-555X(97)00099-8
- Kirkby, M.J., Abrahart, R., McMahon, M.D., Shao, J., Thornes, J.B., 1998b. MEDALUS soil erosion models for global change. Geomorphology 24, 35–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-555X(97)00099-8
- Kirkby, M.J., Jones, R., Irvine, B., Gobin, A., Govers, G., Cerdan, O., Rompaey, A.J.J. Van, Le Bissonnais, Y., Daroussin, J., King, D., Montanarella, L., Grimm, M., Vieillefont, V., Puigdefabregas, J., Boer, M., Kosmas, C., Yassoglou, N., Tsara, M., Mantel, S., Lynden, G.J. Van, Huting, J., 2004. Pan-European Soil Erosion Risk Assessment: The PESERA Map, Version 1 October 2003. Explanation of Special Publication Ispra 2004 No.73 (S.P.I.04.73), European Soil Bureau Research Report. Luxembourg.
- Kiyoshi, H., 1993. Evaluation of vegetation change in the Asio copper mine using remote sensing and its application to forest conservation works, in: Workshop on the Application of Remote Sensing Technology to Natural Disaster Reduction. Japan-United States Science and Technology Agreement(JUST), Tsukuba, pp. 147–149. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41438-018-0097-z
- Kleissen, F.M., 1990. Uncertainty and identifiability in conceptual models of surface water acidification. University of London.
- Knadel, M., Masís-Meléndez, F., De Jonge, L.W., Moldrup, P., Arthur, E., Greve, M.H., 2016. Assessing Soil Water Repellency of a Sandy Field with Visible near Infrared Spectroscopy: http://dx.doi.org/10.1255/jnirs.1188 24, 215–224. https://doi.org/10.1255/JNIRS.1188
- Knisel, W.G., 1982. CREAMS a field-scale model for chemicals, runoff, and erosion from agricultural management systems., Model Docu. ed. Dept. of Agriculture, Science and Education Administration.
- Knisel, W.G., Nicks, A.D., 1981. CREAMS: A Field Scale Model for Chemicals, Runoff, and Erosion from Agriculture Management System, 26th ed, United States. Science and Education Administration. Dept. of Agriculture, Science and Education Administration.

- Kort, J., Collins, M., Ditsch, D., 1998. A review of soil erosion potential associated with biomass crops. Biomass and Bioenergy 14, 351–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(97)10071-X
- Kouhpeima, A., Ali, S., Hashemi, A., Feiznia, S., 2011. A study on the efficiency of Erosion Potential Model (EPM) using reservoir sediments 38, 4135–4139.
- Krisnayanti, D.S., Bunganaen, W., Frans, J.H., Seran, Y.A., Legono, D., 2021. Curve number estimation for ungauged watershed in semiarid region. Civ. Eng. J. 7, 1070–1083. https://doi.org/10.28991/CEJ-2021-03091711
- Krysanova, V., Hattermann, F., Wechsung, F., 2007. Implications of complexity and uncertainty for integrated modelling and impact assessment in river basins. Environ. Model. Softw. 22, 701–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2005.12.029
- Krysanova, V., Hattermann, F., Wechsung, F., 2005. Development of the ecohydrological model SWIM for regional impact studies and vulnerability assessment. Hydrol. Process. 19, 763– 783. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.5619
- Krysanova, V., Müller-Wohlfeil, D.I., Becker, A., 1998. Development and test of a spatially distributed hydrological/water quality model for mesoscale watersheds. Ecol. Modell. 106, 261–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3800(97)00204-4
- Kühn, P., 2003. Micromorphology and Late Glacial/Holocene genesis of Luvisols in Mecklenburg–Vorpommern (NE-Germany). CATENA 54, 537–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(03)00129-2
- Laflen, J.M., Lane, L.J., Foster, G.R., 1991. WEPP: A new generation of erosion prediction technology. J. Soil Water Conserv. 46, 34–38.
- Lamqadem, A.A., Pradhan, B., Saber, H., Rahimi, A., 2018. Desertification sensitivity analysis using medalus model and gis: A case study of the oases of middle draa valley, morocco. Sensors (Switzerland) 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/s18072230
- Le Roux, J.J., Morgenthal, T.L., Malherbe, J., Pretorius, D.J., Sumner, P.D., 2008. Water erosion

prediction at a national scale for South Africa.

- Lee, J.J., Phillips, D.L., Liu, R., 1993. The effect of trends in tillage practices on erosion and carbon content of soils in the US corn belt. Water, Air, Soil Pollut. 70, 389–401. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01105010
- Leonard, R.A., Knisel, W.G., Still, D.A., 1987. GLEAMS: GROUNDWATER LOADING EFFECTS OF AGRICULTURAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS. Trans. ASAE 30, 1403– 1418. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.30578
- Li, T., Zhao, L., Duan, H., Yang, Y., Wang, Y., Wu, F., 2020. Exploring the interaction of surface roughness and slope gradient in controlling rates of soil loss from sloping farmland on the Loess Plateau of China. Hydrol. Process. 34, 339–354. https://doi.org/10.1002/HYP.13588
- Li, Z., Yu, X., 2012. Characteristics of surface runoff and its influencing factors on slope scale in rocky mountain area of northern Hebei province. Nongye Gongcheng Xuebao/Transactions Chinese Soc. Agric. Eng. 28, 109–116. https://doi.org/10.3969/J.ISSN.1002-6819.2012.17.016
- Lichtfouse, E., Navarrete, M., Debaeke, P., Souchère, V., Alberola, C., Ménassieu, J., 2009. Agronomy for sustainable agriculture: A review. Sustain. Agric. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2666-8_1/COVER
- Lighthill, M.J., Whitham, G.B., 1955. On kinematic waves I. Flood movement in long rivers, in: Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series a Mathematical and Physical Sciences. The Royal Society, pp. 281–316. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.1955.0088
- Lin, J., Zhu, G., Wei, J., Jiang, F., Wang, M. kuang, Huang, Y., 2018. Mulching effects on erosion from steep slopes and sediment particle size distributions of gully colluvial deposits. CATENA 160, 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2017.09.003
- Littleboy, M., Cogle, A.L., Smith, G.D., Yule, C.D.F., Rao, K.P.C., 1996. Soil management and production of Alfisols in the semi-arid tropics. I. Modelling the effects of soil management on runoff and erosion. Aust. J. Soil Res. 34, 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR9960091

- Littleboy, M., Freebaim, D.M., Hammer, G.L., Silbum, D.M., 1992a. Impact of soil erosion on production in cropping systems. II.* Simulation of production and erosion risks for a wheat cropping system. Aust. J. Soil Res. 30, 775–788. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR9920775
- Littleboy, M., Silburn, D.M., Freebaim, D.M., Woodruf, D.R., Hammer, G.L., Leslie, J.K., 1992b. Impact of soil erosion on production in cropping systems. I. development and validation of a simulation model. Aust. J. Soil Res. 30, 757–774. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR9920757
- Littleboy, M., Silburn, D.M., Freebaim, D.M., Woodruf, D.R., Hammer, G.L., Leslie, J.K., 1992c. Impact of soil erosion on production in cropping systems. I. development and validation of a simulation model. Aust. J. Soil Res. 30, 757–774. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR9920757
- Littleboy, M., Silburn, D.M., Freebairn, D.M., Woodruff, D.R., Hammer, G.L., 1989. PERFECT: A computer simulation model of Productivity, Erosion, Runoff Functions to Evaluate Conservation Techniques. Queensl. Dep. Prim. Ind. Brisbane QLD, Bull. QB 9005, 119.
- Liu, D., She, D., Yu, S., Shao, G., Chen, D., 2015. Rainfall intensity and slope gradient effects on sediment losses and splash from a saline-sodic soil under coastal reclamation. Catena 128, 54–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2015.01.022
- Liu, Y.H., Li, D.H., Chen, W., Lin, B.S., Seeboonruang, U., Tsai, F., 2018. Soil erosion modeling and comparison using slope units and grid cells in Shihmen reservoir watershed in Northern Taiwan. Water (Switzerland) 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/w10101387
- Loch, R.J., 2000. Effects of vegetation cover on runoff and erosion under simulated rain and overland flow on a rehabilitated site on the Meandu Mine, Tarong, Queensland. Soil Res. 38, 299–312. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR99030
- Lopes, L.V., 1987. A numerical model of watershed erosion and sediment yield Item Type Dissertation-Reproduction (electronic); text. University of Arizona.
- Lu, D., Li, G., Valladares, G.S., Batistella, M., 2004. Mapping soil erosion risk in Rondônia, Brazilian Amazonia: Using RUSLE, remote sensing and GIS. L. Degrad. Dev. 15, 499–512. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.634

- Lu, J., Zheng, F., Li, G., Bian, F., An, J., 2016. The effects of raindrop impact and runoff detachment on hillslope soil erosion and soil aggregate loss in the Mollisol region of Northeast China. Soil Tillage Res. 161, 79–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STILL.2016.04.002
- Lucay, F.A., Lopez-Arenas, T., Sales-Cruz, M., Gálvez, E.D., Cisternas, L.A., 2020. Performance profiles for benchmarking of global sensitivity analysis algorithms. Rev. Mex. Ing. Quim. 19, 423–444. https://doi.org/10.24275/rmiq/Sim547
- Luo, W., Duffin, K.L., Peronja, E., Stravers, J.A., Henry, G.M., 2004. A web-based interactive landform simulation model (WILSIM). Comput. Geosci. 30, 215–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cageo.2004.01.001
- Luo, W., Peronja, E., Duffin, K., Stravers, J.A., 2006. Incorporating nonlinear rules in a web-based interactive landform simulation model (WILSIM). Comput. Geosci. 32, 1512–1518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cageo.2005.12.012
- M. A. Nearing, H. Wei, J. J. Stone, F. B. Pierson, K. E. Spaeth, M. A. Weltz, D. C. Flanagan, M. Hernandez, 2011. A Rangeland Hydrology and Erosion Model. Trans. ASABE 54, 901–908. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.37115
- Maftei, C., Buta, C., Chevallier, P., 2019. Application of the TOPOG model on a flash-flood-prone hill catchment in Romania. J. Environ. Prot. Ecol. 1, 123–134.
- Magcale-macandog, D.B., 2002. Soil erosion and sustainability of different land uses of smallholder imperata grasslands in sea, in: 12th ISCO Conference. Beijing.
- Mahmoodabadi, M., Ghadiri, H., Rose, C., Yu, B., Rafahi, H., Rouhipour, H., 2014. Evaluation of GUEST and WEPP with a new approach for the determination of sediment transport capacity.
 J. Hydrol. 513, 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.03.060
- Marques, V.S., Ceddia, M.B., Antunes, M.A.H., Carvalho, D.F., Anache, J.A.A., Rodrigues, D.B.B., Oliveira, P.T.S., 2019. USLE K-Factor Method Selection for a Tropical Catchment. Sustain. 2019, Vol. 11, Page 1840 11, 1840. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU11071840
- Masere, T.P., Worth, S., 2015. Applicability of APSIM in decision-making by small-scale

resource-constrained farmers: A case of lower Gweru communal area, Zimbabwe. J. Int. Agric. Ext. Educ. 22, 20–34. https://doi.org/10.5191/jiaee.2015.22302

- McCown, R.L., Hammer, G.L., Hargreaves, J.N.G., Holzworth, D.P., Freebairn, D.M., 1996. APSIM: a novel software system for model development, model testing and simulation in agricultural systems research. Agric. Syst. 50, 255–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-521X(94)00055-V
- Meena, R.S., Lal, R., Yadav, G.S., 2020. Long-term impacts of topsoil depth and amendments on soil physical and hydrological properties of an Alfisol in central Ohio, USA. Geoderma 363, 114164. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GEODERMA.2019.114164
- Meng, Q., Fu, B., Tang, X., Ren, H., 2007. Effects of land use on phosphorus loss in the hilly area of the Loess Plateau, China. Environ. Monit. Assess. 2007 1391 139, 195–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10661-007-9826-8
- Merritt, W.S., Letcher, R.A., Jakeman, A.J., 2003. A review of erosion and sediment transport models. Environ. Model. Softw. 18, 761–799. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-8152(03)00078-1
- Meyer, L.D., Wischmeier, W.H., 1969. Mathematical Simulation of the Process of Soil Erosion by Water. Am Soc Agric Engrs-Trans 2, 68–732.
- Michel, E., Majdalani, S., Di-Pietro, L., 2014. A novel conceptual framework for long-term leaching of autochthonous soil particles during transient flow. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 65, 336–347. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12135
- Misra, R.K., Rose, C.W., 1996. Application and sensitivity analysis of process-based erosion model GUEST. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 47, 593–604. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.1996.tb01858.x
- Misra, R. K., Rose, C.W., 1996. Application and sensitivity analysis of process-based erosion model GUEST. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 47, 593–604. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.1996.tb01858.x

- Mockus, V., 1972. Sections 4, Deign Hydrographs, in: Mckeever, V., Owen, W., Rallison, R. (Eds.), National Engineering Handbook. U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, Washington, D.C, pp. 1–127.
- Mohamadi, M.A., Kavian, A., 2015. Effects of rainfall patterns on runoff and soil erosion in field plots. Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res. 3, 273–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iswcr.2015.10.001
- Mondal, A., Khare, D., Kundu, S., Mukherjee, S., Mukhopadhyay, A., Mondal, S., 2017. Uncertainty of soil erosion modelling using open source high resolution and aggregated DEMs. Geosci. Front. 8, 425–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gsf.2016.03.004
- Monjezi, A., Masjedi, A., Heidarnejad, M., Pourmohammadi, M.H., 2017. Effects of slot size in the groin body on the riprap stability in a river bend. Fresenius Environ. Bull. 26, 7034–7044.
- montgomery, D.C., 1990. Using fractional factorial designs for robust process development, in: Quality Engineering. pp. 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/08982119008918849
- Morgan, R. P.C., Quinton, J.N., Smith, R.E., Govers, G., Poesen, J.W.A., Auerswald, K., Chisci, G., Torri, D., Styczen, M.E., 1998. The European soil erosion model (EUROSEM): a dynamic approach for predicting sediment transport from fields and small catchments. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 23, 527–544. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9837(199806)23:6<527::AID-ESP868>3.0.CO;2-5
- Morgan, R P C, Quinton, J.N., Smith, R.E., Govers, G., Prosen, J.W.A., Auerswald, K., Chisci, G., Torri, D., Styczen, M.E., Folley, A.J. V, 1998. The European Soil Erosion Model (EUROSEM): documentation and user guide.
- Munna, G.M., Alam, M.J. Bin, Uddin, M.M., Islam, N., Orthee, A.A., Hasan, K., 2021. Runoff prediction of Surma basin by curve number (CN) method using ARC-GIS and HEC-RAS. Environ. Sustain. Indic. 11, 100129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indic.2021.100129
- Murray, A.B., Paola, C., 1994. A cellular model of braided rivers. Nature 371, 54–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/371054a0
- Nassif, S.H., Wilson, E.M., 1975. The influence of slope and rain intensity on runoff and

infiltration. Hydrol. Sci. Bull. 20, 539-553. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667509491586

- Nicks, A.D., Harp, J.F., 1980. Stochastic generation of temperature and solar radiation data. J. Hydrol. 48, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1694(80)90062-1
- Nunes, A.N., de Almeida, A.C., Coelho, C.O.A., 2011. Impacts of land use and cover type on runoff and soil erosion in a marginal area of Portugal. Appl. Geogr. 31, 687–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APGEOG.2010.12.006
- OECD, 2003. Agriculture and biodiversity : developing indicators for policy analysis : proceedings from an OECD Expert Meeting, Zürich, Switzerland, November 2001, Proceedings from an OECD Expert Meeting, Zurich, Switzerland, November 2001. OECD, Zurich.
- Onof, C., Wheater, H.S., 1993. Modelling of British rainfall using a random parameter Bartlett-Lewis Rectangular Pulse Model. J. Hydrol. 149, 67–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1694(93)90100-N
- Onsamrarn, W., Chittamart, N., Tawornpruek, S., 2020. Performances of the WEPP and WaNuLCAS models on soil erosion simulation in a tropical hillslope, Thailand. PLoS One 15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0241689
- Oomen, R.J., Ewert, F., Snyman, H.A., 2016. Modelling rangeland productivity in response to degradation in a semi-arid climate. Ecol. Modell. 322, 54–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2015.11.001
- Oost, K. Van, Govers, G., Desmet, P., 2000. Evaluating the effects of changes in landscape structure on soil erosion by water and tillage, Landscape Ecology.
- Ouyang, W., Wu, Y., Hao, Z., Zhang, Q., Bu, Q., Gao, X., 2018. Combined impacts of land use and soil property changes on soil erosion in a mollisol area under long-term agricultural development. Sci. Total Environ. 613–614, 798–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2017.09.173
- P.U., I., A.A., O., O.C., C., I.I., E., M.M., M., 2017. Soil Erosion: A Review of Models and Applications. Int. J. Adv. Eng. Res. Sci. 4, 138–150. https://doi.org/10.22161/ijaers.4.12.22

- Palosuo, T., Christian Kersebaum, K., Angulo, C., Hlavinka, P., Moriondo, M., Olesen, J.E., Patil, R.H., oise Ruget, F., Rumbaur, C., Takáč, J., Trnka, M., Bindi, M., Ewert, F., Ferrise, R., Mirschel, W., Rötter, R., 2011. Simulation of winter wheat yield and its variability in different climates of Europe: A comparison of eight crop growth models. Eur. J. Agron. 35, 103–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2011.05.001
- Panagos, P., Borrelli, P., Poesen, J., Ballabio, C., Lugato, E., Meusburger, K., Montanarella, L., Alewell, C., 2015. The new assessment of soil loss by water erosion in Europe. Environ. Sci. Policy 54, 438–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVSCI.2015.08.012
- Panagos, P., Katsoyiannis, A., 2019. Soil erosion modelling: The new challenges as the result of policy developments in Europe. Environ. Res. 172, 470–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.02.043
- Pandey, A., Chowdary, V.M., Mal, B.C., 2007. Identification of critical erosion prone areas in the small agricultural watershed using USLE, GIS and remote sensing. Water Resour. Manag. 21, 729–746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11269-006-9061-z
- Pandey, A., Himanshu, S.K., Mishra, S.K., Singh, V.P., 2016. Physically based soil erosion and sediment yield models revisited. CATENA 147, 595–620. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2016.08.002
- Pandey, S., Bhandari, H., Ding, S., Prapertchob, P., Sharan, R., Naik, D., Taunk, S.K., Sastri, A., 2007. Coping with drought in rice farming in Asia: insights from a cross-country comparative study. Agric. Econ. 37, 213–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2007.00246.x
- Parr, W.C., Taguchi, G., 1989. Introduction to Quality Engineering: Designing Quality into Products and Processes. Technometrics 31, 255. https://doi.org/10.2307/1268824
- Parsons, A.J., Wainwright, J., Mark Powell, D., Kaduk, J., Brazier, R.E., 2004. A conceptual model for determining soil erosion by water. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 29, 1293–1302. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.1096
- Parsons, R.L., Pease, J.W., Martens, D.C., 1995. Simulating corn yields over 16 years on three soils under inorganic fertilizer and hog manure fertility regimes1. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant

Anal. 26, 1133–1150. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103629509369360

- Parton, W.J., Ojima, D.S., Cole, C.V., Schimel, D.S., 2015. A General Model for Soil Organic Matter Dynamics: Sensitivity to Litter Chemistry, Texture and Management, in: Quantitative Modeling of Soil Forming Processes. Proc. Symposium, Minneapolis, 1992. SSSA; Special Publication, 39, pp. 147–167. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaspecpub39.c9
- Patil, R.J., Sharma, S.K., Tignath, S., 2015. Remote Sensing and GIS based soil erosion assessment from an agricultural watershed. Arab. J. Geosci. 8, 6967–6984. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12517-014-1718-y
- Pechlivanidis, I.G., Jackson, B.M., Mcintyre, N.R., Wheater, H.S., 2011. Catchment scale hydrological modelling: A review of model types, calibration approaches and uncertainty analysis methods in the context of recent developments in technology and applications. Glob. Int. J. 13, 193–214.
- Peng, T., Wang, S. jie, 2012. Effects of land use, land cover and rainfall regimes on the surface runoff and soil loss on karst slopes in southwest China. CATENA 90, 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2011.11.001
- Peri, P.L., Lasagno, R.G., Chartier, M., Roig, F., Rosas, Y.M., Pastur, G.M., 2022. Soil Erosion Rates and Nutrient Loss in Rangelands of Southern Patagonia. Imperiled Encycl. Conserv. 102–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-821139-7.00183-5
- Phuong, T.T., Shrestha, R.P., Chuong, H. V., 2017. Simulation of Soil Erosion Risk in the Upstream Area of Bo River Watershed, in: Redefining Diversity and Dynamics of Natural Resources Management in Asia. Elsevier Inc., pp. 87–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805452-9.00006-0
- Pimentel, D., 2006. Soil erosion: A food and environmental threat. Environ. Dev. Sustain. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-005-1262-8
- Pimentel, D., Harvey, C., Resosudarmo, P., Sinclair, K., Kurz, D., McNair, M., Crist, S., Shpritz, L., Fitton, L., Saffouri, R., Blair, R., 1995. Environmental and Economic Costs of Soil Erosion and Conservation Benefits. Science (80-.). 267, 1117–1123.

https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.267.5201.1117

- Potter, K.N., Williams, J.R., 1994. Predicting Daily Mean Soil Temperatures in the EPICSimulationModel.Agron.J.86,1006–1011.https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1994.00021962008600060014x
- Presbitero, A.L., Escalante, M.C., Rose, C.W., Coughlan, K.J., Ciesiolka, C.A., 1995. Erodibility evaluation and the effect of land management practices on soil erosion from steep slopes in Leyte, the Philippines. Soil Technol. 8, 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/0933-3630(95)00020-8
- Probert, M.E., Dimes, J.P., Keating, B.A., Dalal, R.C., Strong, W.M., 1998. APSIM's water and nitrogen modules and simulation of the dynamics of water and nitrogen in fallow systems. Agric. Syst. 56, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-521X(97)00028-0
- PSIAC, 1968. Report of the water management subcommittee on factors affecting sediment yield in the Pacific southwest area and selectionand evaluation of measures for reduction of erosion and sediment yield. Pacific Southwest Inter-Agency Committee.
- Pumijumnong, N., Arunrat, N., 2012. Reliability and evaluation of the potential of the i_EPIC model to estimate rice yields in Thailand, Agricultural Science Research Journals.
- Rainfall simulator Field measurement equipment | Eijkelkamp [WWW Document], 2018. URL https://en.eijkelkamp.com/products/field-measurement-equipment/rainfall-simulator.html (accessed 10.20.21).
- Ramezanpour, H., Esmaeilnejad, L., Akbarzadeh, A., 2010. Influence of soil physical and mineralogical properties on erosion variations in Marlylands of Southern Guilan Province, Iran. Int. J. Phys. Sci. 5, 365–378. https://doi.org/10.5897/IJPS.9000311
- Ramos, M.C., Lizaga, I., Gaspar, L., Quijano, L., Navas, A., 2019. Effects of rainfall intensity and slope on sediment, nitrogen and phosphorous losses in soils with different use and soil hydrological properties. Agric. Water Manag. 226, 105789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2019.105789

- Ranzi, R., Bochicchio, M., Bacchi, B., 2002. Effects on floods of recent afforestation and urbanisation in the Mella River (Italian Alps). Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 6, 239–253. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-6-239-2002
- Raza, A., Ahrends, H., Habib-Ur-Rahman, M., Gaiser, T., 2021. Modeling Approaches to Assess Soil Erosion by Water at the Field Scale with Special Emphasis on Heterogeneity of Soils and Crops. L. 2021, Vol. 10, Page 422 10, 422. https://doi.org/10.3390/LAND10040422
- Raza, A., Ahrends, H., Habib-ur-Rahman, M., Hüging, H., Gaiser, T., 2022a. Using the Taguchi experimental design for assessing within-field variability of surface run-off and soil erosion risk. Sci. Total Environ. 828, 154567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154567
- Raza, A., Ahrends, H., Habib-ur-Rahman, M., Hüging, H., Gaiser, T., 2022b. Using the Taguchi experimental design for assessing within-field variability of surface run-off and soil erosion risk. Sci. Total Environ. 828, 154567. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.154567
- Raza, A., Ahrends, H., Habib-ur-Rahman, M., Hüging, H., Gaiser, T., 2022c. Using the Taguchi experimental design for assessing within-field variability of surface run-off and soil erosion risk. Sci. Total Environ. 154567. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.154567
- Rekolainen, S., Posch, M., 1993. Adapting the CREAMS model for Finnish conditions. Nord. Hydrol. 24, 309–322. https://doi.org/10.2166/nh.1993.10
- Renard, K.G., Foster, G.R., Weesies, G.A., Porter, J.P., 1991. RUSLE: revised universal soil loss equation. J. Soil Water Conserv. 46, 30–33.
- Renschler, C.S., Harbor, J., 2002. Soil erosion assessment tools from point to regional scales The role of geomorphologists in land management research and implementation. Geomorphology 47, 189–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-555X(02)00082-X
- Roloff, G., De Jong, R., Nolin, M.C., 1998. Crop yield, soil temperature and sensitivity of EPIC under central-eastern Canadian conditions. Can. J. Soil Sci. 78, 431–439. https://doi.org/10.4141/S97-087
- Rose, C., 2001. Soil erosion models and implications for conservation of sloping tropical lands.

Sustain. Glob. Farm 852-859.

- Rose, C.W., 1985. Developments in soil erosion and deposition models. Adv. soil Sci. 2, 1–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-5088-3_1
- Rose, C.W., Williams, J.R., Sander, G.C., Barry, D.A., 1983. A Mathematical Model of Soil Erosion and Deposition Processes: I. Theory for a Plane Land Element. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 47, 991–995. https://doi.org/10.2136/SSSAJ1983.03615995004700050030X
- Roth, C.H., Vieira, M.J., Derpsch, R., Meyer, B., Frede, H. -G, 1987. Infiltrability of an Oxisol in Paraná, Brazil as Influenced by Different Crop Rotations. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 159, 186–191. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-037X.1987.tb00084.x
- Sadeghi, S.H., Kiani Harchegani, M., Asadi, H., 2017. Variability of particle size distributions of upward/downward splashed materials in different rainfall intensities and slopes. Geoderma 290, 100–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2016.12.007
- Sadeghi, S.H.R., Gholami, L., Khaledi Darvishan, A., Saeidi, P., 2014. A review of the application of the MUSLE model worldwide. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2013.866239 59, 365– 375. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2013.866239
- Sankey, J.B., Sankey, T.T., Li, J., Ravi, S., Wang, G., Caster, J., Kasprak, A., 2021. Quantifying plant-soil-nutrient dynamics in rangelands: Fusion of UAV hyperspectral-LiDAR, UAV multispectral-photogrammetry, and ground-based LiDAR-digital photography in a shrubencroached desert grassland. Remote Sens. Environ. 253, 112223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2020.112223

Schmidt, J., 1991. A mathematical model to simulate rainfall erosion. Catena Suppl. 19, 101–109.

- Schmidt, J., Werner, M. V., Michael, A., 1999. Application of the EROSION 3D model to the CATSOP watershed, the Netherlands. Catena 37, 449–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(99)00032-6
- Schramm, M., 1994. Ein Erosionsmodell mit räumlich und zeitlich veränderlicher Rillenmorphologie. Universität Fridericiana zu Karlsruhe.

- Schulze, R.E., 1995. Hydrology and Agrohydrology A text to accompany the ACRU 3.00 agrohydrological systesm, Technology Transfer Report TT 69/95. Dept. of Agricultural Engineering University of Natal, Pietermaritzburg.
- Schymanski, S.J., Sivapalan, M., Roderick, M.L., Hutley, L.B., Beringer, J., 2009. An optimalitybased model of the dynamic feedbacks between natural vegetation and the water balance. Water Resour. Res. 45, 1412. https://doi.org/10.1029/2008WR006841
- Seidel, S.J., Gaiser, T., Srivastava, A.K., Leitner, D., Schmittmann, O., Athmann, M., Kautz, T., Guigue, J., Ewert, F., Schnepf, A., 2022. Simulating Root Growth as a Function of Soil Strength and Yield With a Field-Scale Crop Model Coupled With a 3D Architectural Root Model. Front. Plant Sci. 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.865188
- Seixas, J., Nuno Vieira, G., Pedro Nunes, J., 2005. Mefidis: A Physically Based, Spatially Distributed Runoff and Erosion Model for Extreme Rainfall Events. Environ. Sci. 291–313. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420037432.ch12
- Sepaskhah, A.R., Bazrafshan-Jahromi, A.R., 2006. Controlling Runoff and Erosion in Sloping Land with Polyacrylamide under a Rainfall Simulator. Biosyst. Eng. 93, 469–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2006.01.003
- Seyfried, M.S., Wilcox, B.P., 1995. Scale and the Nature of Spatial Variability: Field Examples Having Implications for Hydrologic Modeling. Water Resour. Res. 31, 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1029/94WR02025
- Shi, Z.H., Chen, L.D., Fang, N.F., Qin, D.F., Cai, C.F., 2009. Research on the SCS-CN initial abstraction ratio using rainfall-runoff event analysis in the Three Gorges Area, China. Catena 77, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2008.11.006
- Silburn, D.M., 2011. Hillslope runoff and erosion on duplex soils in grazing lands in semi-arid central Queensland. II. Simple models for suspended and bedload sediment. Soil Res. 49, 118–126. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR09069
- Simons, M., Podger, G., Cooke, R., 1996. IQQM A hydrologic modelling tool for water resource and salinity management. Environ. Softw. 11, 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0266-

9838(96)00019-6

- Singh, V.P., Frevert, D.K., 2006. Watershed models [WWW Document]. Taylor Fr. URL https://www.worldcat.org/title/watershed-models/oclc/77007554 (accessed 12.2.20).
- Sivaiah, P., Chakradhar, D., 2019. Modeling and optimization of sustainable manufacturing process in machining of 17-4 PH stainless steel. Meas. J. Int. Meas. Confed. 134, 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.measurement.2018.10.067
- Sivapalan, M., Viney, N.R., Ruprecht, J.K., 1996. Water and salt balance modelling to predict the effects of land-use changes in forested catchments. 2. Coupled model of water and salt balances. Hydrol. Process. 10, 413–428. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1099-1085(199603)10:3<413::aid-hyp308>3.0.co;2-1
- Sivapalan, M., Viney, N.R., Zammit, C., Singh, V.P., Frevert, D.K., 2002. LASCAM: large scale catchment model. Math. Model. large watershed Hydrol. 579–648.
- Smith, S.J., Williams, J.R., Hawkins, R.H., 1985. Prediction of Sediment Yield from Southern Plains Grasslands with the Universal Soil Loss Equation. J. Range Manag. 38, 20. https://doi.org/10.2307/3899325
- Sorooshian, S., 1991. Parameter estimation, model identification, and model validation: conceptual-type models. Recent Adv. Model. Hydrol. Syst. 443–467. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-3480-4 20
- Sosa-Pérez, G., MacDonald, L.H., 2017. Effects of closed roads, traffic, and road decommissioning on infiltration and sediment production: A comparative study using rainfall simulations. CATENA 159, 93–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CATENA.2017.08.004
- Souchere, V., 1995. Mode'lisation spatiale du ruissellement a' des fins d'ame'nagement contre l'e'rosion de thalweg. Application a'des petits bassins versants en Pays de Caux (Haute-Norman- die). Institut National Agronomique Paris-Grignon, France.
- Souchere, V., King, D., Daroussin, J., Papy, F., Capillon, A., 1998. Effects of tillage on runoff directions: Consequences on runoff contributing area within agricultural catchments. J.

Hydrol. 206, 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(98)00103-6

- Srivastava, A.K., Mboh, C.M., Gaiser, T., Webber, H., Ewert, F., 2016. Effect of sowing date distributions on simulation of maize yields at regional scale - A case study in Central Ghana, West Africa. Agric. Syst. 147, 10–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2016.05.012
- Stanchi, S., Falsone, G., Bonifacio, E., 2015. Soil aggregation, erodibility, and erosion rates in mountain soils (NW Alps, Italy). Solid Earth 6, 403–414. https://doi.org/10.5194/se-6-403-2015
- Steinhoff-Knopp, B., Burkhard, B., 2018. Soil erosion by water in Northern Germany: long-term monitoring results from Lower Saxony. Catena 165, 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2018.02.017
- Stolpe, N.B., 2005. A comparison of the RUSLE, EPIC and WEPP erosion models as calibrated to climate and soil of south-central Chile. Acta Agric. Scand. Sect. B Soil Plant Sci. 55, 2–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/09064710510008568
- Sukartaatmadja, S., Sato, Y., Yamaji, E., Ishikawa, M., 2003. The Effect of Rainfall Intensity on Soil Erosion and Runoff for Latosol Soil in Indonesia. Indones. J. Agron. 31. https://doi.org/10.24831/jai.v31i2.1469
- Sun, L., Zhou, J.L., Cai, Q., Liu, S., Xiao, J., 2021. Comparing surface erosion processes in four soils from the Loess Plateau under extreme rainfall events. Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res. 9, 520–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ISWCR.2021.06.008
- Swarnkar, S., Malini, A., Tripathi, S., Sinha, R., 2018. Assessment of uncertainties in soil erosion and sediment yield estimates at ungauged basins: An application to the Garra River basin, India. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 22, 2471–2485. https://doi.org/10.5194/HESS-22-2471-2018
- Taguchi, G., 1987. The System of Experimental Design: Engineering Methods to Optimize Quality and Minimize Costs, 1st ed, Response. Quality Resources.
- Taguchi, G., 1986. Introduction to quality engineering: designing quality into products and processes. Quality Resources.

- Tajbakhsh, S.M., Memarian, H., Sobhani, M., Aghakhani Afshar, A.H., 2018. Kinematic runoffand erosion model efficiency assessment for hydrological simulation of semi-arid watersheds. Glob. J. Environ. Sci. Manag. 4, 127–140. https://doi.org/10.22034/gjesm.2018.04.02.002
- Takken, I., Jetten, V., Govers, G., Nachtergaele, J., Steegen, A., 2001. The effect of tillage-induced roughness on runoff and erosion patterns. Geomorphology 37, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-555X(00)00059-3
- Tavares, A.S., Spalevic, V., Avanzi, J.C., Nogueira, D.A., Silva, M.L.N., Mincato, R.L., 2019.
 Modeling of water erosion by the erosion potential method in a pilot subbasin in southern
 Minas Gerais. Semin. Agrar. 40, 555–572. https://doi.org/10.5433/1679-0359.2019v40n2p555
- Teixeira, E.I., de Ruiter, J., Ausseil, A.G., Daigneault, A., Johnstone, P., Holmes, A., Tait, A., Ewert, F., 2018. Adapting crop rotations to climate change in regional impact modelling assessments. Sci. Total Environ. 616–617, 785–795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.247
- Thaxton, C.S., Mitasova, H., Mitas, L., McLaughlin, R., 2004. Simulations of distributed watershed erosion, deposition, and terrain evolution using a path sampling Monte Carlo method, in: ASAE Annual International Meeting 2004. American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, St. Joseph, MI, pp. 2069–2082. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.16380
- Tong Li, Dong, J., Yuan, W., 2020. Effects of Precipitation and Vegetation Cover on Annual Runoff and Sediment Yield in Northeast China: A Preliminary Analysis. Water Resour. 47, 491–505. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0097807820030173/FIGURES/10
- Van Dijk, P.M., Van Der Zijp, M., Kwaad, F.J.P.M., 1996. Soil erodibility parameters under various cropping systems of maize. Hydrol. Process. 10, 1061–1067. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(199608)10:8<1061::AID-HYP411>3.0.CO;2-V
- Van Mullem, J.A., 1991. Runoff and Peak Discharges Using Green-Ampt Infiltration Model. J. Hydraul. Eng. 117, 354–370. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9429(1991)117:3(354)

Van Noordwijk, M., Lusiana, B., 1998. WaNulCAS, a model of water, nutrient and light capture

in agroforestry systems. Agrofor. Syst. 43, 217–242. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026417120254

- Van Oost, K., Beuselinck, L., Hairsine, P.B., Govers, G., 2004. Spatial evaluation of a multi-class sediment transport and deposition model. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 29, 1027–1044. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.1089
- Vertessy, R.A., Wilson, C.J., 1990. Predicting erosion hazard areas using digital terrain analysis, in: Research Needs and Applications to Reduce Erosion and Sedimentation in Tropical Steeplands. IAHS-AISH Publ. No.192, pp. 298–308.
- Viney, N.R., Sivapalan, M., 1999. A conceptual model of sediment transport: Application to the Avon River Basin in Western Australia. Hydrol. Process. 13, 727–743. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(19990415)13:5<727::AID-HYP776>3.0.CO;2-D
- Walker, J.P., Willgoose, G.R., 1999. On the effect of digital elevation model accuracy on hydrology and geomorphology. Water Resour. Res. 35, 2259–2268. https://doi.org/10.1029/1999WR900034
- Wang, G., Fang, Q., Teng, Y., Yu, J., 2016. Determination of the factors governing soil erodibility using hyperspectral visible and near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf. 53, 48–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAG.2016.08.006
- Wang, Y., Fan, J., Cao, L., Liang, Y., 2016. Infiltration and Runoff Generation Under Various Cropping Patterns in the Red Soil Region of China. L. Degrad. Dev. 27, 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2460
- Watson, D.A., Laflen, J.M., Franti, T.G., 1986. ESTIMATING EPHEMERAL GULLY EROSION., in: Paper American Society of Agricultural Engineers.
- Webb, N.P., Strong, C.L., 2011. Soil erodibility dynamics and its representation for wind erosion and dust emission models. Aeolian Res. 3, 165–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AEOLIA.2011.03.002
- Webber, H., Lischeid, G., Sommer, M., Finger, R., Nendel, C., Gaiser, T., Ewert, F., 2020. No

perfect storm for crop yield failure in Germany. Environ. Res. Lett. 15, 104012. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ABA2A4

- Wei, L., Zhang, B., Wang, M., 2007. Effects of antecedent soil moisture on runoff and soil erosion in alley cropping systems. Agric. Water Manag. 94, 54–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2007.08.007
- Wesseling, C.G., Karssenberg, D.J., Burrough, P.A., Van Deursen, W.P.A., 1996. Integrating dynamic environmental models in GIS: The development of a dynamic modelling language. Trans. GIS 1, 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9671.1996.tb00032.x
- Williams, J.R., 1990. The erosion-productivity impact calculator (EPIC) model: a case history. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London. Ser. B Biol. Sci. 329, 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1990.0184
- Williams, J.R., Nicks, A.D., Arnold, J.G., 1985. Simulator for Water Resources in Rural Basins. J. Hydraul. Eng. 111, 970–986. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)0733-9429(1985)111:6(970)
- Williams, J.R., Renard, K.G., Dyke, P.T., 1983. EPIC: A new method for assessing erosion's effect on soil productivity. J. Soil Water Conserv. 38.
- Woodward, D.E., 1999. Method to predict cropland ephemeral gully erosion. Catena 37, 393–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(99)00028-4
- Woolhiser, D.A., Smith, R.E., Goodrich, D.C., 1990. A Kinematic Runoff and Erosion Model: Documentation and User. Washington, D.C.
- Wu, L., Peng, M., Qiao, S., Ma, X. yi, 2018a. Effects of rainfall intensity and slope gradient on runoff and sediment yield characteristics of bare loess soil. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-0713-8
- Wu, L., Qiao, S., Peng, M., Ma, X., 2018b. Coupling loss characteristics of runoff-sedimentadsorbed and dissolved nitrogen and phosphorus on bare loess slope. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 25, 14018–14031. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1619-9
- Yan, Y., Dai, Q., Yuan, Y., Peng, X., Zhao, L., Yang, J., 2018. Effects of rainfall intensity on runoff

and sediment yields on bare slopes in a karst area, SW China. Geoderma 330, 30-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2018.05.026

- Yang, X., Zheng, L., Yang, Q., Wang, Z., Cui, S., Shen, Y., 2018. Modelling the effects of conservation tillage on crop water productivity, soil water dynamics and evapotranspiration of a maize-winter wheat-soybean rotation system on the Loess Plateau of China using APSIM. Agric. Syst. 166, 111–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGSY.2018.08.005
- Yost, J.L., Hartemink, A.E., 2019. Soil organic carbon in sandy soils: A review. Adv. Agron. 158, 217–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/BS.AGRON.2019.07.004
- Young, R.A., Onstad, C.A., Bosch, D.D., Anderson, W.P., 1989. AGNPS: A nonpoint-source pollution model for evaluating agricultural watersheds. J. Soil Water Conserv. 44.
- Zammit, C., Sivapalan, M., Viney, N.R., Bari, M., 2003. Improvement of physical basis of conceptual model, LASCAM, with explicit inclusion of within catchment heterogeneity of landscape attributes. Int Congr. Model. Simul. 2003 921–926.
- Zapata, N., Salvador, R., Latorre, B., Paniagua, P., Medina, E.T., Playán, E., 2021. Effect of a growing maize canopy on solid-set sprinkler irrigation: kinetic energy dissipation and water partitioning. Irrig. Sci. 39, 329–346. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00271-020-00713-Z/FIGURES/10
- Zhao, Q., Li, D., Zhuo, M., Guo, T., Liao, Y., Xie, Z., 2015. Effects of rainfall intensity and slope gradient on erosion characteristics of the red soil slope. Stoch. Environ. Res. Risk Assess. 29, 609–621. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00477-014-0896-1/FIGURES/6
- Zhong, R.-L., Zhang, P.-C., 2011. Experimental Study on Characteristics of Runoff and Erosional Sediment Yield on Purple Soil Slope. J. yangtze river Sci. Res. Inst. 28, 22–27.
- Ziadat, F.M., Taimeh, A.Y., 2013a. Effect of rainfall intensity, slope, land use and antecedent soil moisture on soil erosion in an arid environment. L. Degrad. Dev. 24, 582–590. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2239
- Ziadat, F.M., Taimeh, A.Y., 2013b. Effect of rainfall intensity, slope, land use and antecedent soil

moisture on soil erosion in an arid environment. L. Degrad. Dev. 24, 582-590. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.2239

- Zobeck, T.M., Onstad, C.A., 1987. Tillage and rainfall effects on random roughness: A review. Soil Tillage Res. 9, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-1987(87)90047-X
- Zuazo, V.H.D., Pleguezuelo, C.R.R., 2008. Soil-erosion and runoff prevention by plant covers. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2007062

Appendix



Fig. 1. Modelled (Line) and observed (Dots) leaf area index for the calibration



Fig. 2. Modelled (Line) and observed (Dots) leaf area index for the validation

Acknowledgments

I give honor and thanks to Almighty Allah, the source of knowledge and wisdom, who endowed me with the abilities for the successful execution of this Ph.D. research.

I have been fortunate to work under the dynamic supervision of Dr. Thomas Gaiser. His intellectual inspiration, valuable guidance, encouragement, and sparing time from his busy schedule for lengthy research discussions have been invaluable to me. I have learned a lot from him professionally as well as personally, which has significantly improved my professional capabilities. I am thankful to him for his tireless efforts, and for all the ways in which he could help me to achieve my goals. I am also extremely grateful to Dr. Hella Ellen Ahrends and Dr. Muhammad Habib-ur-Rahman for their helpful discussions on the research objectives. Thanks for significantly contributing to this research and for consistent encouragement and for pushing me to wrap things up.

I wanted to take a moment to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Hubert Hüging for all the hard work and dedication he has put in to ensure the success of our field campaigns. His unwavering support and guidance have been instrumental in ensuring that I was well-prepared and equipped to tackle any challenges that arose. His efforts to coordinate transportation and logistics were truly impressive and made all the difference in my ability to meet my goals.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Murilo dos Santos Vianna and Mr. Gunther Krauss for all the support and collaboration I have received in the model application and long discussions. Their expertise, innovative ideas, and tireless efforts have been instrumental in pushing the boundaries of what is possible and delivering outstanding results. I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Seyed Hamid Ahmadi for providing me with his expertise in soil sciences and his support in improving my technical knowledge.

I would like to thank my former and present colleagues: Mr. Andreas Enders, Ms. Petra Weber, Ms. Sandra Damm, Mr. Jasper Mohr, Ms. Clara Oliva Gonçalvez Bazzo, Dr. Bahareh Kamali, and Mr. Dominik Behrend for their fruitful help during experiments and academic discussions. I am also thankful to the Internship students for their help in the laboratory and in the field.

I am deeply grateful to the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) through the Digital Agriculture Knowledge and Information System (DAKIS) Project for the funding that I have received for my Ph.D. studies. This support has allowed me to focus solely on my research, without worrying about financial constraints. The resources provided have been instrumental in enabling me to carry out my experiments, attend conferences, and collaborate with other researchers in my field.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my parents for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout my Ph.D. journey. Their love and emotional support have been essential to my academic pursuits and I am forever grateful for the sacrifices they have made to help me reach my goals. Their belief in me and my abilities has given me the confidence to tackle the challenges and pursue my passion for research.